NMDAR Plasticity and Metaplasticity in Early Odor Preference Learning in Rats

By

© Bandhan Mukherjee

A thesis submitted to the school of graduate studies in partial fulfilment of the requirements

for the degree of Ph.D.

Faculty of Medicine

Memorial University of Newfoundland

May 2019

St John's

Newfoundland & Labrador

Canada

Abstract

Early odor preference learning is a classical conditioning behavioral model which can be used to understand the molecular mechanism of learning and memory, and synaptic plasticity. In this thesis the research is focused on the role of N-methyl D-aspartate receptor (NMADR) plasticity and metaplasticity in early odor preference learning.

In Chapter 2, we investigated the differential roles of L-type calcium channel (LTCC) and NMDAR in early odor preference learning. The results suggest that the NMDAR is crucial for creating stimulus-specific memory and LTCC is required for maintenance of the memory. Activation of LTCC without NMDAR can cause loss of input specificity and as a result, generalization of the memory.

Chapter 3 depicts that, the effect of altered number of NMDARs in the anterior piriform cortex (aPC) can significantly modifies future learning and synaptic plasticity. Here we show that NMDARs are down regulated at 3hr following the early odor preference learning. Repeated training at 3hr leads to unlearning and this unlearning is mediated by NMDAR itself. Inhibition of the NMDAR prior to retraining at 3hr, blocks unlearning. In continuation of Chapter 3, we have characterized the molecular mechanism underlying the NMDAR mediated unlearning in Chapter 4. Calcineurine and metabotropic glutamate receptor (mGluR) plays a vital role in NMDAR downregulation at 3hr following early odor preference training.

In Chapter 5, we have investigated whether NMDAR plasticity and its mediated metaplasiticity observed in the early odor preference learning can be induced by stronger

ii

trainings that produce prolonged memories. Previous research has shown that infusing trichostatin A (TSA), a histone deacetylation inhibitor, in the olfactory bulb (OB) extends odor preference memory up to 5 days. Our data suggests that OB TSA infusion preventsNMDAR down-regulation and unlearning. These outcomes argue that it is critical to understand the metaplastic effects of training which have implications for learning optimization.

Acknowledgments

Since my childhood, I was not a good student at all. It would be better to say that I was below average student but somehow I always managed to pass from one class to another. I continued to a new class and also the problem remained the same as usual. I was unable to understand why I was reading physics, chemistry, and mathematics? Why it is necessary to learn those subjects and what are the implications? Unfortunately, no one was able to tell me answers to those questions. As a result, I scored extremely badly in the higher secondary examination and with that score, it was almost impossible to get into college but some internal connection worked out and I got into Panskura Banamali College in the Microbiology Department. Before, I start "the thanks" list from my college I would like to mention some names during school time. I am really thankful to them for increasing my confidence. Sayantan Ghosh, an excellent student who never disrespected any poor student ever. I would like to thank him for his support for four to five years. Same as Sayantan, Arijit Sett (A grade student) your support worked really well and still it's working. But, especially I would like to give a huge thanks to our biology teacher Ashish Bhowmick. Your enthusiasm and teaching style enhanced my interests in the biological world.

After school everything suddenly changed. I had to leave home and I had to stay at the hostel for my B.Sc degree. I still remember the day when I saw my dad standing in the line for depositing my admission fees. My dad didn't notice that I was watching him. His eyes were telling me that he was so tensed and he was thinking in his mind what his son will do because I proved myself as a below average student in my school even though my dad provided everything. A huge thanks to my dad for continuously supporting me and enriching my mind with a great philosophy. There are a few names I would like to mention who helped me in different ways. Aritra da (Aritra Mandal), Rupam da (Rupam Bhunia), Atanu da (Atanu Ghorai) and Partha da (Partha Dey), your support was enormous throughout my bachelors. I took bits and pieces of good quality from each of you. For example, brilliance from Aritra da, hard work, and dedication from Rupam da, deep thinking from Atanu da and organization skill from Partha da. Thanks to all of you for your support. I would like to thank my friend Supiyo Mandal for many things. I would also like to thank Sk. Rajesh Ali, Ananda Sankar Sahu and Dr. Dipankar Ghosh for guiding me during my B.Sc.

After that, I joined Vidyasagar University for my Master's degree in Microbiology. Throughout my Master's, I have got excellent guidance from Dr. Debdulal Banerjee. Again, I met some great seniors and because of them, I chose research as a career. Big thanks to Partha da (Dr. Partha Dey) again, Arghya da (Dr. Arghya Bandyopadhya), Subhadip da (Dr. Subhadip Mahapatra), Ranjan da (Dr. Ranjan Maity), and Chiru da (Dr. Chiranjit) and Subrata da (Dr. Subrata Pandit). All of you taught me many things and special thanks to Subha da and Arghya da for showing me how to do research. During my Master's, I met Sriya Bhattacharya (my wife) and she had some extreme confidence in me, helped me to start believing in myself and I never felt this much confidence. During my Ph.D. your continuous support helped me to build up my career. Some friends were always very supportive and you are on top of the list. I would also like to name some of my friends for supporting me in various ways. Arijit (Dr. Arijit Jana), Shilpee (Dr. Shilpee Pal), Manas (Dr. Manas Guria) thanks for your support for many reasons.

Sukanta da (Dr. Sukanta Jash), I have no words to express my gratitude for your support. Your knowledge and your teaching, your encouragement revolutionized my concepts about research and molecular biology. I am very glad that I got that great opportunity to have you as a teacher in my life, Nilashis sir (Dr. Nilashis Nandi), your encouragement during my Master's dissertation was so pronounced that I started to believe that I can do something. I learned about protein folding from you and Arghya da. Still, I am fascinated by the complicacy of protein folding mechanisms. I would also like to thank Kiran di (Dr. Kiran Pandey) for teaching me many technical skills which were necessary for staying in research. You are a great teacher and your teaching worked really well. Thank you so much for giving me a hard time at National Brain Research Center (NBRC).

vi

Here, at Memorial University I came across some great people. Ali (Dr. Ali Gheildi) and Amin da (Dr. Amin Md Shakhawat), your help and encouragement had a great impact on my research. I loved all the troubleshooting discussions in the lab. I would like to thank all my current and previous lab members especially to Christine Fontaine, Sam Goodman (Sam Carew), and Abhinaba Ghosh. I would also like to thank all the undergraduate students in Qi's lab for believing in me and giving me the respect of a teacher. I enjoyed every bits and piece of teaching when I was working with you guys. That teaching enhanced my presentation skills and I had to understand the concepts fully to teach you guys (Thanks to Samantha Major, Iain McIntyre, Megan McCarthy, Sherri Bowes, Asha Aswathi Asokan, and Nicole Purchase). I would like to thank Melissa (Dr. Melissa Walsh) for correcting my English writing and encouraging me during my research. Only thanks wouldn't be sufficient for my supervisor Qi (Dr. Qi Yuan). From the beginning to the end I have got enough support for the completion of my Ph.D. I have learned so many different techniques, organization skills, presentations and experimental design. Her hardworking mentality gradually matured in my mind as well. I would like to give her a huge thanks for believing in me even when my marks were terrible. I would also like to thank her for giving me the responsibility for training new students on various skills. She kept her faith until the end. Without your help and support, I wouldn't be able reach this stage. I would like to thank John (Dr. John McLean) and Carolyn (Dr. Carolyn W. Harley) for their support and crucial feedbacks on my research and writing. I have learned so many concepts and new ideas from you. Especially, Carolyn's enthusiasm towards research is very inspiring and contagious. I am glad that I got the opportunity to work with you. I would like to thank Matt (Dr. Matthew Parsons) for taking me as a post-

vii

doc in his lab even before my PhD degree completion. I would like to thank faculty of medicine dean's fellowship for supporting me with the finance. I would also like to thank Memorial University crisis management team for supporting during our critical situation. In 2018, Dr. Jules Dore nominated me for CSHRF conference and I am really thankful to him for believing in me. Entire team of RGS especially, Amy Carroll and Rhonda Roebotham for helping me during all paper works for travel application and many more. I would also like to thank our animal care facility for providing required support during my Ph.D. These supports means a lot to me.

It almost came to the end. The following people are named at the end of my acknowledgment section but they have contributed the most in my life and still continue to do so. They are my Mom (Ratna Mukherjee), Dad (Batakrishna Mukherjee) and my wife Sriya (Sriya Bhattacharya). Since my childhood, I have given enough trouble to my mom and dad but they supported me continuously. Thanking them is not sufficient at all. So, I would like to dedicate my Ph.D. thesis to my family (Mom, Dad, and Wife).

Last but not the least I would like to thank "Newfie bys" for providing this great enriched environment where everybodytalks to everybody. This healthy and enriched societal environment is very necessary for the development of society. I would also like to thank all the ducks and birds near Burton's pond, Quidi Vidi Lake, and Long pond areas. During my saddest and toughest moments they were the only support and talking with them helped me a lot.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgment	iv
List of Abbreviations	xxi
Co-authorship Statement	1
Overview	3
Chapter 1: Introduction	7
1.2 Learning and Memory	7
1.2.1 STM and LTM	9
1.2.2 Stimulus Specificity of Memory	11
1.2.3 Spaced vs Massed Learning and Its Effect on Memory	14
1.3 Synaptic Plasticity	15
1.3.1 Receptors Involved in Synaptic Plasticity	16
1.3.1.1 Glutamatergic Receptors	17
1.3.1.1.1 AMPAR	19
1.3.1.1.2 NMDAR	22
1.3.1.1.3 mGluR	25
1.3.1.2 Voltage gated L-type Calcium Channel (LTCC)	27
1.3.2 Molecular Mechanisms of Synaptic Plasticity	29
1.3.2.1 Long-term Potentiation (LTP)	
1.3.2.1.1 Molecular Mechanisms of LTP.	30
1.3.2.2 Long-term Depresssion (LTD)	

1.3.2.2.1 Molecular Mechanisms of LTD.	
1.3.3 Role of Synaptic Plasticity in Learning and Memory	36
1.3.3.1 The Hypothesis of Synaptic Plasticity and Memory	36
1.3.3.1.1 Criteria for Assessing of the SPM Hypothesis	
1.3.3.1.2 Experimental Strategies Used for Asseing the SPM Hypothesis	
1.3.4 Metaplasticity	40
1.3.4.1 NMDAR Mediated Metaplasticity	41
1.3.4.2 Role of Metaplasticity in Learning and Memory	
1.4 Olfactory System and Olfactory Learning	
1.4.1 Olfactory Processing and System Anatomy	47
1.4.1.1 The Olfactory Bulb	
1.4.1.2 The Piriform Cortex	50
1.4.2 Olfactory Learning	52
1.4.2.1 Adult Learning Models	53
1.4.2.2 Early Odor Preference Learning Model	54
1.4.2.2.1 Advantages of the Early Odor Preference Learning Model	
1.4.2.2.1.1 The memory circuitry is well defined	
1.4.2.2.1.2 Memory stages are well-defined	60
1.4.2.1.3 Memory duration can be manipulated	61
1.4.2.2.1.4 Lateralization of Early Odor Preference Learning	62
1.4.2.2.1 The Molecular Mechanisms contributing to Early Odor Preference	
Learning	63
1.4.2.2.1.1 LC–Norepinephrine	63

1.4.2.2.1.2 β –Adrenoceptors	64
1.4.2.2.1.3 α-Adrenoceptors	65
1.4.2.2.1.4 Serotonin	66
1.4.2.2.1.5 Cyclic Adenosine Monophosphate	66
1.4.2.2.1.6 Protein Kinase-A	68
1.4.2.2.1.7 CREB	69
1.4.2.2.1.8 Phosphatase	70
Chapter 2	72
2.1 Abstract.	
2.2 Introduction	74
2.3 Materials and Methods	76
2.3.1 Subjects	76
2.3.2 Fluorescence Immunohistochemistry	76
2.3.3 Calcium Imaging	77
2.3.4 Behavioral Studies	78
2.3.5 Drug Infusion	
2.3.6 Odor preference training	80
2.3.7 Odor preference testing	80
2.3.8 Synaptic AMPAR measurement	81
2.3.9 Synaptic membrane isolation	81
2.3.10 Western blotting	82
2.3.11 Statistical Analyses	83
2.4 Results	

2.4.1 LTCC activation is dependent on NMDAR activation in aPC pyramidal cells.	83
2.4.2 Differential roles of the NMDAR and LTCC in early odor preference learning	86
2.4.3 NMDAR blockade impairs stimulus-specific discrimination of the conditioned	1
odor	87
2.5 Discussion	89
Chapter 3	100
3.1 Abstract.	100
3.2 Introduction.	101
3.3 Materials and Methods	103
3.3.1 Animals and Ethics Statement	104
3.3.2 Behavioral Studies	104
3.3.3 Odor preference training and testing	104
3.3.4 Reversible naris occlusion for ex vivo experiments	106
3.3.5 Intracerebral infusion of SiRNA	106
3.3.6 Western blots of synaptoneurosomes	107
3.3.7 Synaptoneurosome isolation	108
3.3.8 Western Blotting	109
3.3.9 Electrophysiology: Tissue Preparation and Extracellular recording	110
3.3.10 Ex vivo electrophysiology	111
3.4 Results	112
3.4.1 Plasticity of NMDARs in the aPC 3 hr and 24 hr following early odor preferen	nce
learning	113

3.4.2 GluN1 down-regulation at 3 hr coincides with decreased LTP and increased	ased LTD at
the LOT synapse	
3.4.3 GluN1 down-regulation at 3 hr interferes with learning at the same syna	pse117
3.4.4 Metaplasticity at 3 hr following early odor training is NMDAR-depende	ent119
3.5 Discussion	121
3.5.1 Bi-phasic NMDAR Plasticity Following Early Odor Preference Learnin	g in
Rats	121
3.5.2 Down-regulation of NMDAR Leads to Synaptic and Behavioral	
Metaplasticity	124
3.5.3 Functional significance of NMDAR metaplasticity	126
Chapter 4	136
4.1 Abstract.	136
4.2 Introduction.	137
4.3 Materials and Methods	
4.3.1 Animals and Ethics Statement.	139
4.3.2 Behavioral Studies	139
4.3.3 Odor preference training	139
4.3.4 Odor preference testing.	140
4.3.5 Reversible naris occlusion	141
4.3.6 Cannula implantation and intracerebral infusion	141
4.3.7 Immunoblotting	143
4.3.8 Synaptic membrane isolation	143
4.3.9 Tissue isolation for phosphorylated CREB (pCREB) measurement	144

4.3.10 Western Blotting.	144
4.4 Results	146
4.4.1 Synaptic GluN1 down-regulation following early odor preference learning is	
mGluR-dependent	146
4.4.2 Calcineurin signalling is involved in GluN1 plasticity	148
4.4.3 Calcineurin signalling mediates unlearning	149
4.4.4 Unlearning resets AMPARs and NMDARs to the baseline non-learning	
levels	150
4.5 Discussion	150
4.5.1 NMDAR plasticity following early odor preference learning	150
4.5.2Molecular Basis of Early GluN1 Down Regulation with Single Trial	
Training	151
4.5.3 Metaplasticity: Long-term depression or depotentiation?	153
4.5.4 Functional role of synapse-specific GluN1 receptor regulation with associativ	/e
training	155
4.6 Conclusions	156
Chapter 5	168
5.1 Abstract	168
5.2 Introduction	169
5.3 Materials and Methods	171
5.3.1 Animals	171
5.3.2 Cannula implantation and olfactory bulb infusion	172
5.3.3 Drug Preparation	172

5.3.4 Training	173
5.3.5 Testing.	174
5.3.6 Immuno-Blotting	174
5.3.7 Synaptic and Extra-synaptic Protein Extraction Protocol	175
5.3.8 Synaptic and Cytosolic +Nuclear (CY+NU) Protein Extraction Protocol	175
5.3.9 Western-Blotting.	177
5.3.10 Statistical analysis.	178
5.4 Results	179
5.4.1 Calcineurin blockade in the OB prevented GluN1 down-regulation	179
5.4.2 Calcineurin blockade in the OB prevented unlearning	180
5.4.3 Inhibiting OB Histone Deacetylation by TSA Prevented GluN1 Downregulation	n
and Unlearning	181
5.4.4 No Simple Interactions of Calcineurin and Histone Deacetylation Occurred in	
Down-regulating GluN1	181
5.5 Discussion	183
5.5.1 NMDAR Plasticity Following Olfactory Learning and its Metaplastic	
Effect	184
5.5.2 Mechanisms for Calcineurin and Histone Deacetylation in NMDAR Down-	
regulation	185
5.5.3 Functional implications for NMDAR metaplasticity in learning	186
5.6 Conclusion	187
6. Summary	197

6.1 Differential roles of NMDAR and LTCC in Early Odor Preference	
Learning	197
6.2.2 NMDAR Plasticity following Early Odor Preference Learning	200
6.2.3 Metaplasticity and Behavior	.202
6.2.4 Molecular Mechanism of NMDAR Plasticity and Metaplasticity	205
6.2.5 Memory Strength and Metaplasticity	208
6.2.6 The Functionality of NMDAR Metaplasticity	.210
7. References	213

List of Figures

2.6 Figures of Chapter 2	93
Figure 2.1. L-type calcium channels (LTCCs) are expressed in the piriform cortex	
pyramidal cells	93
Figure 2.2. Lateral olfactory tract (LOT) stimulation activates LTCCs	94
Figure 2.3. LTCC activation is subsequent to NMDAR activation	96
Figure 2.4. Differential roles of NMDARs and LTCCs in early odor preference	
learning	98
Figure 2.5. NMDARs but not LTCCs mediates input-specific discrimination of the	
conditioned odor	99
3.6 Figures of Chapter 3	.128
Figure 3.1. NMDA GLUN1 plasticity in the anterior piriform cortex (aPC) at 3 hr and	d 24
hr following early odor preference	
learning128	
Figure 3.2. NMDAR down-regulation at 3 hr and up-regulation at 24 hr occurs at the	
LOT synapse	129
Figure 3.3. NMDAR down-regulation at 3 hr coincides with decreased LTP and	
inducibility of LTD at the LOT synapse	131
Figure 3.4. O/S+ re-training at 3 hr impairs learning at the same synapse	132
Figure 3.5. GLUN1 down-regulation by SiRNA impairs early odor preference	
learning133	

Figure 3.6. Ex vivo NMDAR blockage 3 hr following odor training blocks LTD at the
LOT synapse
Figure 3.7. NMDAR blockage during re-training allows odor preference memory to be
expressed
4.7 Figures of Chapter 4158
Figure 4.1. Early odor preference learning in rat pups down-regulates synaptic GluN1
receptors in the anterior piriform cortex (aPC)158
Figure 4.2. GluN1 down-regulation is not dependent on NMDAR activation during early
odor preference learning
Figure 4.3. GluN1 down-regulation is dependent on mGluR activation160
Figure 4.4. GluN1 down-regulation is dependent on calcineurin signalling161
Figure 4.5. Inhibition of group I mGluR or calcineurin before first O/S+ training rescues
early odor preference memory from re-training induced unlearning162
Figure 4.6. Inhibition of calcineurin before re-training rescues early odor preference
memory
Figure 4.7. Re-training resets AMPAR and NMDAR to the baseline level164
Figure 4.8. Summary of pathways involved in NMDAR plasticity and metaplasticity in
early odor preference learning in rats
5.7 Figures of Chapter 5
Figure 5.1. Early odor preference learning down-regulated GluN1 expression in the
OB189
Figure 5.2. FK-506 increased GluN1 expression in the OB
Figure 5.3. FK-506 prevented unlearning

Figure 5.4. TSA prevented GluN1 down-regulation and unlearning	192
Figure 5.5. No additive effects of TSA and FK-506 on GluN1 levels in the OB	193
Figure 5.6. TSA had no effect on calcineurin expression levels in the OB follow	wing early
odor preference training	194
Figure 5.7. FK-506 had no effect on histone H3 phosphorylation	196
Figure 6.0. Olfactory Circuitry	

List of Abbreviations

- 2-DG 2-Deoxy-D-glucose
- ACh Acetylcholine
- AChE Acetylcholinesterase
- AChR Acetylcholine receptor
- AMPA Alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazole-propionic acid
- AMPAR AMPA receptor
- AON Anterior olfactory neuron
- aPC Anterior piriform cortex
- ATD Extracellular amino-terminal domain
- cAMP Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
- Ca²⁺ Calcium ion
- CaM Calmodulin
- CaMKII Calmodulin kinase II
- CaMKIV Calmodulin kinase IV
- CaN Calcineurin
- CREB Cyclic adenosine monophosphate response element-binding protein
- CS Conditioned stimulus
- CR Conditioned response

CTD	Intracellular carboxyl-terminal domain
D-APV	D-amino-5-phosphonopentanoate
DNQX	6,7-Dinitroquinoxaline-2,3-dione
EPSP	Excitatory post-synaptic potential
EPL	External plexiform layer
fEPSP	Field excitatory post-synaptic potential
GABA	Gamma-aminobutyric acid
GC	Granule cell
GCL	Granule cell layer
GL	Glomerular layer
GPCR	G protein coupled receptor
GR	Glutamate Receptor
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
ISO	Isoproterenol
LBD	Ligand binding domain
LC	Locus coeruleus
LOT	Lateral olfactory tract
LTCC	Voltage gated L-type calcium channel
LTD	Long term depression
LTP	Long term potentiation
MC	Mitral cell
MCL	Mitral cell layer
MG^{2+}	Magnesium ion

- mGluR Metabotropic glutamate receptor
- NE Norepinephrine
- NMDA N-methyl-d-aspartate
- NMDAR NMDA receptor
- NTX Naltrexone
- OB Olfactory bulb
- OD Optic density
- ORN Olfactory receptor neuron
- ON Olfactory nerve
- ONL Olfactory nerve layer
- OP Olfactory peduncle
- OR Odor receptor
- ORN Olfactory receptor neuron
- OS⁺ Odor + stroke training
- OS⁻ Odor only training
- OSN Olfactory sensory neuron
- OT Olfactory tubercle
- PBS Phosphate buffer solution
- pCREB Phosphorylated CREB
- PCX Piriform cortex
- PDZ First three protein identified with this domain (PSD95, Dlz1 and Zo-1)
- PKA Protein kinase A
- pPC Posterior piriform cortex

PD	Postnatal	day
----	-----------	-----

- PG Periglomerular
- PSD-95 Postsynaptic density protein 95
- ROD Relative optic density
- ROI Region of interest
- SEM Standard error of measurement
- SOM Somatostatin
- TBS Theta burst stimulation
- TC Tufted cell
- TMD Transmembrane domain
- TSA Trichostatin A
- UCS Unconditioned stimulus

Co-authorship Statement

I, Bandhan Mukherjee, hold a first author status for all the publications used in this thesis as Chapters (Chapter 2-5). However, each publication is co-authored by my supervisors and colleagues, whose contributions have greatly influenced the generation of my hypotheses, experimentation and the writing of the manuscripts.

Contribution from peers in each manuscript is elaborated below.

Manuscript titled "NMDA receptors in mouse anterior piriform cortex initialize early odor preference learning and L-type calcium channels engage for long-term memory" (Chapter 2) in my thesis is co-authored by Qi Yuan. As the first author, I was partly involved in experimental design, conducted all behavioral, immunohistochemistry and Western blot experiments, and took part in writing the first draft of the paper. Qi Yuan conducted the calcium imaging experiments with a minor contribution from me. Research questions and experimental design were originally developed by Qi Yuan. The subsequent adjustment was done by me with proper guidance from Qi Yuan. The whole manuscript was edited and polished by Qi Yuan.

My second paper titled "Unlearning: NMDA receptor-mediated metaplasticity in the anterior piriform cortex following early odor preference training in rats" (Chapter 3) in this dissertation is co-authored by Gillian Morrison, Christine Fontaine, Qinlong Hou, Carolyn W. Harley, and Qi Yuan. Hypothesis and research involved in this manuscript were developed by Qi Yuan. As the first author of this manuscript, I conducted the majority of the electrophysiological and behavioral experiments in the final figures, data analysis, and first draft writing. Qinlong Hou, Gillian Morrison, and Christine Fontaine contributed to the Western blot and SiRNA experiments. The manuscript was finalzied by Qi Yuan and Carolyn Harley.

My 3rd paper titled "Learning-Induced Metaplasticity? Associative Training for Early Odor Preference Learning Down-Regulates Synapse-Specific NMDA Receptors via mGluR and Calcineurin Activation" (Chapter 4) is co-authored by Carolyn Harley and Qi Yuan. Hypothesis and research design were developed by me and Qi Yuan. As the first author of this manuscript, I performed all experiments and wrote part of the first draft. Final manuscript was written by Qi Yuan and Carolyn Harley.

My 4th paper titled "Revisiting metaplasticity: The roles of calcineurin and histone deacetylation in unlearning odor preference memory in rat pups" (Chapter 5) is co-authored by Sriya Bhattacharya, Jacqueline Blundell, Carolyn Harley, and Qi Yuan. As the co-first author of this article, I and Sriya Bhattacharya equally conducted all the experiments, analyzed data and wrote the method section. Qi Yuan and I designed the research project. Qi Yuan, wrote the manuscript. Carolyn Harley and Jacqueline Blundell edited the manuscript. I helped in the manuscript writing and addressing reviewers' comments.

Overview

Memory is a very important part of our life. Without memory, our existence would be meaningless and we wouldn't be able to become today's human being. But, understanding the mechanisms involved in forming memory is complicated. Different scientists use different memory-related behavioral models to investigate the process of memory. In my research, I have chosen the early odor preference learning paradigm to investigate the molecular mechanisms involved in learning. These experiments are intended to identify the malleable states of synapses, which can be modified, and the modification of which could affect behavior. These studies add to current learning and memory research by providing a stepwise examination of the pathways involved in both synaptic plasticity (Section 1.3) and metaplasticity (Section 1.3.4). Along with identifying plasticity mechanisms and pathways, these experiments also examine the effect of changes in synaptic plasticity and metaplasticity on behavior.

Calcium plays a crucial role in learning and memory, synaptic plasticity and many different signaling pathways. There are various types of calcium channels present in different cells. Among them, L-type calcium channels (LTCCs) and NMDA receptors (NMDAR) are two calcium-permeable channels that plays a crucial role in learning and memory, and synaptic plasticity. The interactions of LTCCs and NMDARs in memories are poorly understood. In Chapter 2, I investigated the specific roles of anterior piriform cortex (aPC) LTCCs and NMDARs in early odor preference memory in mice.

Using calcium imaging in aPC slices, LTCC activation is shown to be dependent on NMDAR activation. Behaviorally, in mice that underwent early odor preference training, blocking NMDARs in the aPC prevented short-term (3 hr) and long-term (24 hr) odor preference memory and both memories were rescued when BayK-8644 (a LTCC agonist) was co-infused. However, activating LTCCs in the absence of NMDARs (Pharmacological blockade) resulted in the loss of discrimination between the conditioned odor and a similar odor mixture at 3 hr. Elevated synaptic AMPA receptor expression at 3 hr was prevented by D-APV (NMDAR inhibitor) infusion prior to training, but was restored when LTCCs were directly activated, mirroring the behavioral outcomes. Blocking LTCCs prevented 24 hr memory, but spared 3 hr memory. These results suggest that NMDARs mediate stimulus-specific encoding of odor memory, while LTCCs mediate intracellular signaling leading to long-term memory.

In Chapter 3, we demonstrate a metaplastic change in NMDAR numbers in the aPC in rat pup induced by a 10 min pairing of peppermint odor+stroking, which significantly modifies later learning and memory. Using isolated synaptoneurosomes, we found GLUN1 subunit of NMDAR (GluN1) receptor down-regulation 3 hr after training and up-regulation at 24 hr. Consistent with the GluN1 pattern, the NMDAR-mediated excitatory post synaptic potentiation (EPSP) was smaller at 3 hr and larger at 24 hr.

Subunit composition was unchanged. While long-term potentiation (LTP) was reduced at both times by training, long-term depression (LTD) was facilitated only at 3 hr.

Behaviorally, pups, given a pairing of peppermint+stroking 3 hr after initial peppermint+stroking training, lose the normally acquired peppermint preference 24 hr later. To probe the pathway specificity of this *unlearning* effect, pups were trained first with peppermint and then, at 3 hr, given a second training with peppermint or vanillin. Pups given peppermint training at both times lost the learned peppermint preference. Pups given vanillin re-training had normal peppermint preference when trained with vanillin 3 hr later. Down-regulating GluN1 with siRNA prevented odor preference learning. Finally, the NMDAR antagonist, MK-801 (NMDAR pore blocker), blocked the LTD facilitation seen 3 hr post-training and giving MK-801 prior to the second peppermint training trial eliminated the loss of peppermint odor preference. A training-associated reduction in NMDARs facilitates LTD 3 hr later; while training at the time of LTD facilitation reverses an LTP-dependent odor preference. Experience-dependent, pathway-specific metaplastic effects in a cortical structure have broad implications for the optimal spacing of learning experiences.

In a continuation of the previous work (Chapter 3), Chapter 4 showed the underlying molecular pathways involved in the unlearning process. Rat pups readily form a 24 h associative odor preference after a single trial of odor paired with intermittent stroking. Our previous work (Chapter 3) shows that this training trial, which normally increases AMPA receptor responses in the anterior piriform cortex both 3 h and 24 h following training, induces a down-regulation of NMDA receptors 3 h later followed by NMDA receptor up-regulation at 24 h.

When retrained with the same odor at 3 h, rat pups unlearn the original odor preference. Unlearning can be prevented by blocking NMDA receptors during retraining. In the fourth Chapter the mechanisms that initiate NMDA receptor down-regulation are assessed. Blocking mGluR receptors or calcineurin during training prevents downregulation of NMDA receptors 3 h following training. Blocking NMDA receptors during training does not affect NMDA receptor down-regulation. Thus down-regulation can be engaged separately from associative learning. When unlearning occurs, AMPA and NMDA receptor levels at 24 h are reset to control levels. Calcineurin blockade during retraining prevents unlearning consistent with the role of NMDA receptor downregulation. The relationship of these events to the metaplasticity and plasticity mechanisms of long-term depression and depotentiation is discussed. We suggest a possible functional role of NMDA receptor down-regulation in the offline stabilization of learned odor representations.

Previous work had shown that 24 h duration odor preference learning, induced by one-trial training, generates a down-regulation of the GluN1 receptor in aPC at 3 h, and results in metaplastic unlearning if a second training trial is given at 3 h. The GluN1 receptor upregulates at 24 h so 24 h spaced training is highly effective in extending

memory duration. Chapter 5 replicates the piriform cortex unlearning result in the olfactory bulb circuit and further studies the relationship between the initial training strength and its associated metaplastic effect. Intrabulbar infusions that block calcineurin or inhibit histone deacetylation normally produce extended days-long memory. If given during training, they are not associated with GluN1 downregulation at 3 h and do not recruit an unlearning process at that time. The two memory strengthening protocols do not appear to interact, but are also not synergistic. These outcomes argue that it is critical to understand the metaplastic effects of training in order to optimize training protocols in the service of either memory strengthening or of memory weakening.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.2 Learning and Memory

Learning and memory are two distinct but interconnected concepts. It is impossible to learn or develop language, relationships, and personal identity without previous memories ¹. Learning and memory are one of the most intensively studied subjects in the field of neuroscience.

Memory is a process by which we gather information from past experiences and use that information in the present ². On the other hand, learning is described as a process of acquiring new, or modifying, existing memories ³. A memory can be achieved by some

series of procedures. The initiation process is called acquisition of memory or learning. The following step is called consolidation of memory. The consolidation process is dependent on the initial learning phase. Depending on the stimulus, memory can be consolidated into short-term memory (STM) or long-term memory (LTM) (LTM will be explained more thoroughly in section 1.2.1). The last and crucial step is called memory retrieval. A memory is meaningless if we cannot retrieve the information for later use. There are two other procedures also involved in learning and memory, which are memory extinction and forgetting. In both operant conditioning and classical conditioning behavior, memory extinction is possible. In the case of operant conditioning, the behaviour gradually stops occurring when the operant behaviour that has been previously reinforced is now unable to produce reinforcing consequences.⁴. In case of classical conditioning, when a conditioned stimulus (CS) is presented alone so that it no longer predicts the coming of the unconditioned stimulus (UCS), the conditioned response gradually diminishes. Memory extinction is a process when an animal learns to uncouple a response from a stimulus. For example in contextual fear memory, a rodent learns to show no freezing when placed repeatedly in the same context without shock, and after multiple trials, the rodent learns that the same context is not associated with shock anymore. Similarly, forgetting is a spontaneous or gradual process in which an individual is unable to recall information already encoded and stored in an individual's LTM⁵.

Broadly, memory can be classified as "declarative memory" which requires the conscious effort of our mind ⁶ and "non-declarative memory" which is not available to our consciousness ⁷. Declarative memory help us to remember about facts and events. In

other words, we can verbally "declare" these type of memories. On the other hand nondeclarative memory is a type of memory that we are unable to "declare" verbally ⁶. This type of memory dosen't need conscious effort to recall the memory for example motor skills, habituation in particular environment, associative (classical and operant conditioning) and non-associative learning (reflex). Clinical observations showed that patients with an impaired declarative memory could have their procedural memory completely spared, which suggests that these two types of memory are independent of each other⁸. Thus, neuroscientists concluded that there must be separate mechanisms involved for each type of memory 8 . These different memories appear to be encoded by distinct brain areas and circuitries ⁹. For example, basal ganglia are involved in procedural learning and memory, such as habit learning 10. On the other hand, the medial temporal lobes are more involved in declarative memory ¹⁰. Scientists have shown that the hippocampus is implicated in both spatial and contextual memory ¹¹ which would fit into the explicit type memory category. The olfactory bulb (OB) and olfactory cortex (OC) are two areas involved in olfactory learning and memory ^{12 13 14} and will be further explored in this thesis.

1.2.1 STM and LTM

Temporally, and mechanistically, memories have been characterized as having multiple phases, typically, STM, intermediate-term memory (ITM) and LTM^{15–17}. By definition STM refers to the capacity for holding a small amount of information in mind in an active, readily available state for a short time period (minutes to hrs depending on

the behavioral models studied). On the contrary, LTM holds the information for the longer time period for later manipulation. ITM is a distinct stage of memory separated from sensory memory, working memory, STM and LTM ^{18,19}. ITM is a simultaneous process, rather than sequential, and requires mRNA translation, but not transcription ¹⁹.

Memories can be divided into STM and LTM based on their duration ²⁰. Studies on patient H.M. suggest that the recall of these two types of memory may be mediated by different areas of the brain ²¹. Henry Molaison (H.M), the patient, was unable to form any new declarative memories whereas he was able to recall LTM that formed well before his surgery. One of the major questions in the field of memory research is whether STM is qualitatively distinct from LTM or whether they can be represented as a single quantitative continuum. Various neuropsychological case studies and their data influenced this debate. In one study, researchers showed that patients with damage to the medial temporal lobe demonstrated deficits in LTM, although their ability to form STM was intact ²². On the other hand, patients with perisylvian cortex damage demonstrated a deficit in maintaining short-term phonological information, even though their LTM

The memory retrieval process generates information on the basis of a retrieval cue, remembered details of a past event, and the strength of the memory ²⁴. The decision process determines how we act on this information ²⁴. The broadly classified memory categories are not only temporally different; there are differences in their dependence on protein synthesis as well. For example, STM does not require protein synthesis, whereas

ITM depends on translation, but does not require mRNA transcription. LTM requires both translation and transcription ^{25–31}.

For both STM and LTM, neuroscientists believe memory is supported by synaptic alterations in the brain. Synapses are where neurons communicate. A change in the transmission efficacy at the synapse (synaptic plasticity) has been considered to be the cellular mechanism of memory. A particular pattern of synaptic usage or stimulation, called the conditioning stimulation, is believed to induce synaptic plasticity (discussed in section 1.3).

1.2.2 Stimulus Specificity of Memory

Another unique property of memory is stimulus-specificity. Generally, memory is specific and retrieved in the presence of specific stimuli. This stimulus-specific nature of memory has been investigated for decades in synaptic plasticity-related studies in which the focus is the strengthening of memory-related connections. Researchers have also hypothesized that weakening specific synapses may prevent recall. Different properties of long-term potentiation (LTP) will be discussed in a later section (Synaptic plasticity section 1.3). One of LTP's properties is input specificity which makes our memory stimulus specific. The input specificity of synaptic plasticity is currently explained by the synaptic tagging hypothesis.

An individual neuron has thousands of synapses, which may process minimally 100s of inputs. Evidence suggests single synapses can be modified in a highly selective and independent manner ³². The highly selective modification of a synapse for LTM requires both transcription and translation ³³. Synaptic modification is also required for STM but it is independent of transcription and translation ³⁴ consistent with its transitory nature. Translation occurs both in local synaptic areas as well as the cell body, while transcription is confined to the nuclear part of a neuron ³³. With respect to synapse specificity, the question arises of how gene products from the nucleus are transported and targeted to only the relatively few activated synapses ³⁵? To address this question, the synaptic tagging hypothesis has been put forward. According to the hypothesis, the products of gene expression are shipped throughout the cell, but they are delivered to specific synapses which have been "tagged" by previous activity ³⁶. In other words, activated synapses create a protein complex (tag setting), which serves as a synaptic tag for delivery of the gene products supporting synaptic strengthening.

Several molecules have been identified which may serve as synaptic tags and, thus, could be responsible for the input specificity of memory, these include: CaMKII, phosphorylation of AMPARs and different protein kinases ^{37 38}. It has been shown that late-phase LTP (L-LTP) in the hippocampus requires both gene expression and protein synthesis ^{39–42}. According to the synaptic tag hypothesis, as noted, gene products can only be captured by a synapse which was previously activated and where a tag setting in the synapse has been created ^{43–45}. CaMKII has been considered as an integral candidate in mediating LTP and memory. Inhibition of CaMKII results in disruption of the LTP

12
generating ability of CaMKII ^{46,47} and impairs hippocampus-dependent spatial learning ^{48,49}. CaMKII remains autophosphorylated for longer than other molecules and thus it could serve as a synaptic tag. Although there is a debate about the time window for the CaMKII autophosphorylation state, some report that it remains autophosphorylated for an hour and while others suggest that it remains phosphorylated for 10-20 min. For example, Modarresi et al showed that CaMKII is rapidly phosphorylated in the OB and remains phosphorylated for 10 min ⁵⁰. In this study, it was shown that blocking CaMKII in presence of PKA activation can produce a long-term memory, but the memory is not specific to the trained odor. This result suggests that CaMKII activation provides the tag that confers stimulus specificity for memory. In my thesis, I introduce the roles of NMDAR and LTCCs in the input specificity of memory (Chapter 2).

Actin is another molecule which might serve as a synaptic tag because it helps in stabilization of cytoskeletal structure for recruiting postsynaptic proteins to the spine ⁵¹. There is evidence that activation of CaMKII controls the status, activation, and content of spine actin filaments, which ultimately controls the structural plasticity of the spine and supports synaptic strengthening ⁵¹.

Other than production of individual protein molecules, degradation of protein molecules is also important for synaptic plasticity. It has been shown that inhibition of the proteasome impairs synaptic plasticity, the formation of LTMs ⁵², and the maintenance of LTP ⁵³. Cai et al. (2010) showed that proteasome activity is required for synaptic tagging

and the capture of plasticity-related proteins at the activated synapse ⁵⁴. However, the specific proteins that are degraded by proteasome tagging were not clear.

1.2.3 Spaced vs Massed Learning and Its Effect on Memory

Different learning paradigms have been used by researchers to investigate the physiological and molecular basis of learning and memory. Scientists are trying to understand learning and memory in order to improve educational training and teaching.

There are multiple reports which suggest that items studied at spaced time intervals are recalled better in the long term than those studied repeatedly with no intervening delay ^{55–59}. Morris and colleagues in studies of late LTP and LTM in various contexts and species ⁶⁰ demonstrate that repeated stimuli given at spaced intervals can create intracellular settings which influence the plasticity and learning. Their work demonstrated that protein synthesis was important for the enhancement of both LTP and LTM in the spaced training paradigm ^{61,62}. Again, the synthesized proteins strengthen activated synapses, triggering LTP ^{36,63,64}. In a behavioral study, Menzel et al., showed that the space between repetitions was critical for LTM encoding ⁶⁵. In their study, they used three different intertrial interval times: 30 sec, 3 min, and 10 min. Their results showed that with 3 min and 10 min intertrial intervals memory lasts for 3 days whereas at 30 sec intervals it lasts only for minutes up to one day ⁶⁵. Spaced training has large and robust positive effects on LTM as has been demonstrated across domains, such as verbal learning ^{66,67}, conditioning (even in animals as simple as Aplysia; see ^{68,69}), the learning

of educational materials ^{69,70} and motor learning ⁷¹. Although, E.Z. Rothkopf cautions that "spacing is the friend of recall, but the enemy of induction" ⁷². According to Rothkopf, massing allows one to notice the similarities between successive events or examples, whereas spacing reduces the ability to detect such similarities.

In my research, I have shown a mechanism that causes memory to be negatively regulated by repeated training with shorter-intervals while being enhanced by repeated training with longer-intervals (Chapters 2 and 3).

1.3 Synaptic Plasticity

Neurons communicate with other neurons, muscle cells and gland cells by synapses. Synapses are the junctions where neurons pass signals to other types of cells. Most of the signaling between neurons rely on chemical synapses which use neurotransmitters for signal transmission. Neurotransmitters which are synthesized in the cytosol or axon terminal, are the key components of chemical synapses. There are several steps involved in neurotransmitter release at the synaptic junction, including the fusion of synaptic vesicles with the membrane and subsequent exocytosis. After the neurotransmitters undergo exocytosis from synaptic vesicles into the synaptic cleft, they bind to specific receptors on the plasma membrane of a postsynaptic cell. The binding of neurotransmitters onto postsynaptic cell membrane-associated receptors typically causes a change in permeability to ions. The change in the membrane ion permeability alters the potential of the postsynaptic plasma membrane. If the postsynaptic potential is sufficiently depolarized, an action potential is then generated in the postsynaptic neuron.

One of the most important and fascinating properties of the mammalian brain is the synaptic plasticity which underlies learning and the formation of memory. Associative memory is formed when synapses get strengthened due to the pairing of presynaptic and postsynaptic activity ⁷³. Synaptic plasticity following coincident activation of pre and postsynaptic neurons is the cellular basis for learning such as Pavlovian classical conditioning ⁷⁴. Bliss and colleagues ^{75,76} first reported that repetitive activation of excitatory synapses in the hippocampus that led to strong post-synaptic depolarization caused a potentiation of synaptic strength that could last for hours or even days. This long-lasting strengthening of the synapse was termed LTP. The opposite of LTP, the weakening of synapse, is called long-term-depression (LTD).

1.3.1 Receptors Involved in Synaptic Plasticity

When neurotransmitters bind to the membrane-bound receptors, receptors change their conformations to allow different ions into the postsynaptic cells, which causes postsynaptic depolarization or hyperpolarization. Besides transmitter binding to receptors, different post-translational modifications of receptors can play a critical role in conformational changes, receptor mobility in the membrane and receptor translocation for subcellular localization ⁷⁷. Of course, synaptic receptors are necessary for normal neuronal function as well as for synaptic plasticity. There are two broad types of glutamatergic receptors implicated in the process of synaptic plasticity: (a) ionotropic receptors and (b) metabotropic receptors or G-protein-coupled receptors. The ionotropic receptors get activated when glutamate binds to the receptors and open up ionic channels in the membrane. On the other hand, the metabotropic receptors can be activated by glutamate as well as a variety of molecules including odors, hormones, small or large peptides, and neurotransmitters. G-protein coupled receptors alter the production of intracellular second messengers.

1.3.1.1 Glutamatergic Receptors

Glutamate is the most abundant neurotransmitter in the nervous system. It is the main excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain. As highlighted, the receptors which get activated due to the binding of glutamate in the ligand binding domain are called glutamatergic receptors. The alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor (AMPAR), N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR) and kainate receptor (KAR) belong to the ionotropic receptor category. The most widely investigated ionotropic receptor proteins in plasticity research are AMPAR and NMDAR. Although, recent evidence is showing that the KAR also has some roles in synaptic plasticity ⁷⁸. These receptors form a pore when glutamate binds to the ligand-binding domain and activates the receptors.

Specifically, the iGluRs consist of four large subunits which create a central ion channel pore. These subunits are formed with more than 900 amino acid residues. All the subunits in different types of iGluRs have some sequence similarities, including AMPAR, NMDAR, and KAR. The subunits of GRs have four semi-autonomous domains, which include the extracellular ligand-binding domain (LBD), the extracellular amino-terminal domain (ATD), the intracellular carboxyl-terminal domain (CTD) and the transmembrane domain (TMD). The ATD plays a crucial role in receptor oligomerization and receptor trafficking in the membrane. Another important domain in iGluR is LBD which is conserved in different iGluR subunits. All agonists and antagonists are designed by being directed at the structures of the LBDs. The binding of an agonist or antagonist makes conformational changes in the iGluR structure. Structural differences in LBD and TMD underlie the three different iGluRs. The ATDs of GRs have sequence homology and are structurally homologous to the LBD of the mGluR ^{79–86}.

Other than iGluRs, the second type of GR, as mentioned, are the mGluR. They are slow acting GR which act indirectly on membrane-bound ion channels upon binding of glutamate. They are G-protein coupled receptors and, as mentioned, the binding of glutamate to these receptors activates second messenger systems for further downstream signaling.

In my research, I identified different molecular pathways involved in olfactory learning and memory, and I have shown how AMPAR, NMDAR, and mGluR play differential roles in synaptic plasticity. In the following sections, I will discuss in more detail the structure, function and pharmacology of AMPAR, NMDAR, and mGluR.

1.3.1.1.1 AMPAR

Among all the other iGluRs, the AMPAR mediates most of the fast excitatory synaptic transmission. Traditionally, APMAR is known as a non-NMDA-type-receptor. Artificially, AMPAR can be activated by the glutamate neurotransmitter analog AMPA and the receptor's name came from the analog. AMPARs are the most commonly found receptors in different brain areas. The subunit composition of AMPARs has been quantitatively evaluated mostly in the hippocampus⁸⁷. The biophysical properties of AMPAR are dependent on the subunit composition of the AMPAR^{88,89}.

The architecture of AMPARs is formed by combinations of four subunits: GluA1, GluA2, GluA3, and GluA4 ^{88,90}. The subunits differ from each other at their CTD, which determines their binding to different scaffolding proteins. All subunits of AMPARs can interacts with PDZ-protein binding domain. Different subunits of AMPARs interact with various other proteins. The major population of AMPARs consists of GluA1-GluA2 combinations ⁸⁷. The other major population of AMPARs is a GluA2-GluA3 combination ⁸⁷ though, this combination is not predominant. One of the striking features of the GluA2 subunit is that it controls Ca²⁺ permeability. The GluR2 lacking AMPARs are permeable to Ca²⁺. Monyer et al. showed that GluA2 expression is very low during early postnatal development period but the expression increases very quickly during the first postnatal week ^{91,92}.

All AMPAR subunits have an extracellular N terminus, an intracellular C terminus, and four membrane-associated hydrophobic domains and, as reviewed earlier, each subunit consists of four separate domains: the extracellular N-terminal domain also known as ATD, LBD, the membrane-embedded TMD, which forms the ion channel, and the CTD ⁹³.

The CTD of AMPARs is important for subunit specific protein interactions and phosphorylation of the C-tail leads to AMPAR trafficking in the membrane, which is important for synaptic plasticity ⁹⁴, although, the precise role of C-tail phosphorylation in AMPAR trafficking needs to be clarified in more detail ^{95–98}. Other than trafficking, phosphorylation at the C-tail can modulate channel conductance ⁹⁹. As already described, functional AMPARs are tetrameric in nature. The formation of a tetrameric complex of AMPARs is highly dependent on the TMD ¹⁰⁰., while the LBD determines the opening and closing of the ion channel. AMPARs cannot interact directly with postsynaptic-density protein 95 (PSD-95). The interaction takes place via another protein called stargazin, a type of transmembrane AMPAR regulatory proteins (TARPs). Different TARPs play vital roles in AMPAR trafficking, maturation, and channel function ^{101–106}.

The trafficking of AMPARs in the membrane is crucial for various types of synaptic plasticity. The membrane trafficking of AMPARs is controlled by different interacting proteins and by post-translational modifications including phosphorylation ¹⁰⁷. Protein-kinase-A (PKA) mediated phosphorylation at the S845 residue of GluA1 and calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII) or protein kinase C (PKC)

mediated phosphorylation at the S831 residue of GluA1 have been extensively studied by Huganir's group ^{108–110}. Phosphorylation at S845 of Glu1 increases ion conductivity and insertion of AMPARs in the synaptic membrane. Similarly, CaMKII mediated phosphorylation at S831 regulates channel conductance and LTP ¹¹¹. S845 and S831 phosphorylation and dephosphorylation are required for several forms of behavior and synaptic plasticity in different brain regions including hippocampal and cortical LTP and LTD ^{111–113}.

Earlier I have discussed about LTP and relation between LTP and AMPAR phosphorylation. But LTD is also one type of synaptic plasticity where weakening of the synapses takes place. This weakening of the synapse requires dephosphorylation of AMPARs. The dephosphorylation of AMPARs is important for LTD like synaptic plasticity. Depending on the site of dephosphorylation, the plasticity of the synapse changes. For example dephosphorylation at the S845 of the PKA induces LTD like changes ¹¹¹. The same study also showed that the phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of different sites of AMPARs during LTP and LTD dependent on history of synaptic plasticity ¹¹¹. For example, the induction of LTP in naïve synapses increases phosphorylation of S831 ^{114 115} whereas, previously depotentiated synapses shows increase of phosphorylation at S845 site after LTP induction ¹¹⁵. Similarly, dephosphorylation of S845 occurs after LTD induction in naïve synapses while, previously potentiated synapses result in dephosphorylation at S831 site ¹¹⁵..

1.3.1.1.2 NMDAR

NMDA receptors (NMDARs) are one of the major glutamate-gated cation channels with high calcium permeability that play crucial roles in many aspects of the cellular biology of higher organisms. The NMDAR plays a central role in the development and function of the nervous system, including a role in synaptic plasticity, and learning and memory. Apart from its positive effect on the nervous system, it has some neurotoxic effects too. Hyperactivation of NMDARs may lead to cell death, while, hypo-activation can cause cognitive deficits. NMDARs are slow acting channels which require both glutamate and glycine binding and post-synaptic depolarization. The opening of the NMDAR channel depends on a series of events, which includes chemical activation of the NMDAR and removal of the Mg^{2+} block which leads to opening of the channel. Activation of NMDAR requires glutamate and glycine binding, which depend on presynaptic activity. At the same time, postsynaptic depolarization is necessary for removal of the Mg^{2+} block. Removal of the Mg^{2+} block leads to Ca^{2+} permeability through the channel when it is chemically activated. These events have to occur in a simultaneous manner, which makes the NMDAR a coincidence detector in the neuron.

NMDARs are a heteromeric complex formed mainly by three different subunits which include GluN1, GluN2, and GluN3. There are eight different splice variants of GluN1 RNA which produces eight different subunits ^{116–118}. GluN2 has four different subunits encoded by four genes (GluN2A-D) and GluN3 subunits are encoded by two (GluN3A and B) genes ¹¹⁹. Functional NMDA receptors consist of two obligatory GluN1

subunits in combination with two GluN2 and/or GluN3 subunits ^{119,120}. All subunits are structurally similar to each other with a conserved domain organization.

GluN1/GluN2 subunit-containing NMDAR's activation requires two molecules of the co-agonist, glycine ^{121,122}, and two molecules of the agonist, glutamate ^{123–125}. Whereas NMDA receptors composed of GluN1/GluN3 require only glycine for activation ^{126,127}. Other than glycine and glutamate, several other molecules can activate NMDA receptors as co-agonists including D-serine, D-alanine, L-alanine, L-serine. Glutamate release from the presynaptic terminal activates synaptic NMDARs by occupying two binding sites localized at the LBD of GluN2 subunits ¹²⁸. At the same time, AMPAR mediated postsynaptic depolarization is required to remove the Mg²⁺ blockage, which will allow Ca²⁺ entry that has the ability to activate downstream signaling molecules required for plasticity processes. Calmodulin (CaM) and CaMKII are the two major downstream molecules which get activated by the Ca²⁺ entry through NMDARs. The regulation of these two molecules will be discussed in the molecular mechanisms of synaptic plasticity section. Calcineurin is another downstream molecule which can be activated by NMDAR mediated Ca²⁺ influx.

The functional regulation of NMDARs is mediated by differential phosphorylation at Serine/Threonine (Ser/Thr) sites in NMDARs. There are many Ser/Thr sites that have been identified in NMDARs. Those sites are phosphorylated by different protein kinases, which regulate both channel properties and the intracellular trafficking of NMDARs, leading to changes in synaptic strength. The protein kinases involved in differential phosphorylation of NMDARs include, CaMKII, PKA, PKC, cyclin-dependent kinase-5 (Cdk5), and protein kinase B (PKB)¹²⁹.

Raman et al. showed that PKA activation and PK- mediated phosphorylation of NMDARs increases the amplitude of NMDA receptor-mediated excitatory postsynaptic currents ¹³⁰. In another study, Crump et al. showed that the synaptic targeting of NMDARs is increased by PKA activation ¹³¹. Current evidence also revealed that PKA inhibitors reduce the relative fraction of Ca²⁺ influx through NMDARs, which suggests that PKA regulates the calcium permeability of NMDARs¹³². A study by Scott et al. showed that phosphorylation at S897 by PKA and S896 by PKC are both required to increase NMDARs surface expression ¹³³. Another study from the same group suggests that S896 and S897 site phosphorylation of GluN1 is an important regulator of intracellular trafficking ¹³⁴. There are other Ser/Thr sites which get phosphorylated by PKC and CaMKII. Recent studies have shown that phosphorylation at S1416 of the GluN2A subunit by PKC, decreases the binding affinity of CaMKII for the NMDAR, which suggests direct crosstalk between PKC and CaMKII¹³⁵ effects. Studies in the hippocampus have shown that CaMKII -mediated phosphorylation of S1303 inhibits receptor-kinase interactions and promotes slow dissociation of preformed CaMKII-GluN2B complexes ¹³⁶. This evidence suggests that protein phosphorylation plays a crucial role in the modulation of the function of NMDARs. Even though there is considerable progress in the understanding of NMDA receptor regulation by phosphorylation, many aspects of NMDA receptor phosphorylation related to behavior still remain unsolved.

It has been reported that NMDARs are stably expressed in the postsynaptic membrane, unlike AMPARs. The internalization and trafficking of AMPARs are dependent on dephosphorylation events occurring at different AMPARs sites. On the other hand, NMDAR internalization is a more complex event that needs to be investigated in more detail. Current evidence suggests that the GluN2 subunits interact directly with PSD-95¹³⁷ which is a modular protein highly enriched in the postsynaptic density. This interaction appears to be a major regulator of the NMDAR internalization process¹³⁸. Data suggest that GluN2B extream C-terminal sequence (YEKL) is sufficient to induce internalization ¹³⁸. The Roche et al., have also shown that GluN2B-mediated internalization is increased after the deletion of the PDZ-binding domain of GluN2B. In this study, they observed that the GluN2B-mediated internalization is inhibited by the synaptic protein PSD-95. Their data suggest that PSD-95 is involved in NMDARs regulation in the postsynaptic membrane.

1.3.1.1.3 mGluR

Metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs) are G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs). Unlike AMPAR and NMDAR, mGluRs are slow acting second messenger systems activated by glutamate. Glutamate binding to mGluRs can modulate excitability and synaptic transmission via second messenger signaling pathways. mGluRs are extensively present in the central nervous system (CNS), which suggests that these receptors participate in numerous functions throughout the CNS. They are present in both pre and postsynaptic neurons in synapses of the hippocampus, cerebellum, and the cerebral cortex, as well as other parts of the brain and in peripheral tissues. mGluRs have the ability to modulate other glutamate receptors such as the NMDAR, AMPAR, and KAR, and are linked with many cognitive functions including learning and memory, the perception of pain, and anxiety. Researchers have shown that mGluRs are also involved in neurodegenerative diseases ¹³⁹, which makes mGluR a potential candidate for therapeutic interventions.

mGluRs are one type of GPCR which has seven transmembrane domains like other GPCRs. The resulting change in the conformation of the mGluR induced by glutamate binding activates the protein, which consists of a heterotrimeric complex of α , β , and γ subunits. The activation of the G protein causes the exchange of guanosine 5/triphosphate (GTP) for guanosine 5/ - diphosphate (GDP) within the α subunit, In the inactive state mGluRs are bound to GDP. mGluRs are class C type GPCRs which are distinguished from class A type GPCRs by their large extracellular N-terminal domain that contains the endogenous ligand-binding site. There are eight subtypes of mGluRs and they are differentially expressed in various cell types. mGluRs are subclassified into three major groups based on sequence homology, ligand selectivity, and G-protein coupling. Group I includes mGluRs 1 and 5, Group II includes mGluRs 2 and 3, and Group III includes mGluRs, 4, 6, 7, and 8. Group II and III are mostly presynaptic while Group I are postsynaptic. In my research, I focused on Group I mGluR because our findings highlighted postsynaptic activity.

Both mGluR1 and mGluR5, are coupled to phospholipase C via Gq proteins and mediate phosphoinositide hydrolysis. Previous studies have shown that an increase in intracellular calcium concentration can be achieved by the activation of mGluR1¹⁴⁰. Primarily, Group-I mGluRs couple to Gq /Gi which activates phospholipase C, resulting in the hydrolysis of phosphoinositides and the generation of diacylglycerol and inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP3). This classical pathway leads to calcium mobilization from internal storages and can activate different molecular cascades than external calcium?. Depending on the cell type or neuronal population, group I mGluRs activate a range of downstream effectors, including: calcineurin, the transient receptor potential channel, NMDARs, phospholipase D, and other protein kinase pathways such as cyclin-dependent protein kinase 5, casein kinase 1, Jun kinase, the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR)/p70 S6 kinase pathway, and components of the mitogen-activated protein kinase/extracellular receptor kinase (MAPK/ERK) pathway¹⁴¹¹⁴²¹⁴³. This broad range of signaling cascade activation capacity has made mGluR a key molecule in learning and memory research.

1.3.1.2 Voltage gated L-type Calcium Channel (LTCC)

Other than the NMDAR, the LTCC is another channel that has the ability to produce calcium influx in neuronal cells. The activation of LTCCs is different than that of

NMDARs. The activation of LTCCs is only voltage dependent. The 'L' stands for the long-lasting activity pattern of LTCCs. They are mostly found in cardiac muscle and in brain cells. Due to the high voltage dependency and its Ca^{2+} permeability, LTCCs are also considered key players in synaptic plasticity and learning and memory research.

LTCCs have four subunits which include Cav 1.1, 1.2, 1.3 and 1.4. Among them, Cav 1.2 and Cav 1.3 are most common in the neuron, although Cav 1.4 has been found in retinal cells as well. These subunits are responsible for pore formation of the LTCCs. The pores are formed by the α 1 subunit and this is considered as the central building block of the LTCCs. The α subunits form hetero-oligomeric complexes in association with other subunits. The drug binding domain is also present in the α 1 subunit of LTCC. Hence, drugs have been designed on the basis of the α 1 subunit structure. The β subunit of the LTCCs is present as the cytosolic intracellular part and this subunit regulates the targeting of LTCCs to the plasma membrane. CaM is a molecule which can regulate the channel complex formation. The C terminal region of LTCC α 1 subunits are involved in many protein-protein interactions that, in consequence, have the ability to increase or decrease the activity of LTCCs.

Intramolecular and intermolecular protein-protein interactions, posttranslational modifications, and phosphorylation within the Cav1.2 α 1 subunits are important for the regulation of the LTCCs. Recent studies have characterized how these modifications and protein-protein interactions change the activity of the LTCCs. A truncated α 1 subunit after proteolysis can serve as a transcriptional modulator after entering the nucleus. PKA

mediated phosphorylation at ser-1700 and thr-1704 of the α 1 subunit increases the inward current of LTCCs. Involvement of PKA suggests that norepinephrine would have the ability to indirectly increase LTCC activity. As mentioned earlier that CaM also interacts with the LTCC α 1 subunit. CaM and calcineurin (CaN) both get activated by Ca²⁺, which suggests that CaM and CaN may both have the ability to regulate the activity of LTCCs. In fact, CaN-mediated dephosphorylation at the PKA sites is necessary to suppress PKA enhancement of the channel in neurons ¹⁴⁴.

1.3.2 Molecular Mechanisms of Synaptic Plasticity

The underlying molecular mechanisms of various forms of synaptic plasticity have been investigated in great detail. Malenka and others have discussed the molecular mechanisms of synaptic plasticity in many reviews ^{145–148}, which provide our current understanding knowledge about the underpinnings of synaptic plasticity. In the following sections, I will discuss LTP, LTD and their molecular mechanisms.

1.3.2.1 Long-term Potentiation (LTP)

LTP refers to the strengthening of a specific synapse. This form of plasticity was most extensively studied in the CA1 region of the hippocampus ¹⁴⁹. Different properties of LTP are similar to those of the memory. Both memory and LTP can be generated rapidly, and strengthened and prolonged by repetition. Other shared properties of memory and LTP are cooperativity, associativity, and input specificity ¹⁵⁰. Cooperativity means

that LTP can be induced by the coincident activation of a critical number of synapses. Associativity is the capacity to potentiate a weak input (activating a small number of synapses) when it is activated in association with a strong input (activating a larger number of synapses). Input specificity indicates that LTP is elicited only at activated synapses and not at adjacent, inactive synapses on the same postsynaptic cell. This feature dramatically increases the storage capacity of individual neurons because different synapses on the same cell can be involved in separate circuits encoding different bits of information.

The bulk of our knowledge about the molecular mechanisms of LTP has been derived from studies of LTP at excitatory synapses on CA1 pyramidal neurons in hippocampal slices. Similar or identical forms of LTP have been observed at excitatory synapses throughout many brain areas. Thus, the conclusions drawn from the study of LTP in the hippocampal CA1 region are often applied to other brain regions.

1.3.2.1.1 Molecular Mechanisms of LTP

The induction of the LTP is mediated by NMDARs and expression of the LTP is mediated by AMPARs¹⁵¹. As previously reviewed in the Section 1.3.1.1, AMPARs and NMDARs are the major types of ionotropic glutamate receptors contributing to the postsynaptic response at glutamatergic synapses. The AMPAR has a channel that is permeable to monovalent cations (Na⁺ and K⁺). Activation of AMPARs provides most of the inward current that generates the excitatory synaptic potential. This is a fast reacting channel protein. In contrast to AMPARs, the NMDAR exhibits a strong voltage dependence because of the magnesium blockage inside the channel ¹⁵². Therefore, there is little or no contribution of NMDARs during basal synaptic activity to the postsynaptic response. However, after depolarization via AMPARs, magnesium dissociates from its binding site within the NMDAR channel. This event allows ions to enter the cell. More importantly, unlike AMPARs, the NMDAR is permeable to divalent (Ca⁺⁺) as well as monovalent cations (Na⁺ and K⁺) ions. The permeability to calcium ions triggers downstream molecules that support various forms of synaptic plasticity. It is well established that the induction of LTP in the CA1 region depends on activation of NMDARs. It has also been shown that the postsynaptic calcium concentration increases during strong postsynaptic depolarization. The coincidence detection property of NMDAR makes it unique and important for LTP. These properties of the NMDARs also explain the basic properties of LTP.

As stated, the calcium signal is essential to activate signal transduction molecules which are necessary to initiate and support LTP ¹⁵³ ¹⁵¹. Researchers have suggested some basic criteria for defining the role of a protein as a mediator of LTP induction. The function of individual molecules can be studied either by blocking the activation of the molecule or by activating it during LTP induction. If blocking the molecule blocks LTP induction, or activation of the molecule induces LTP, which occludes further synaptic induction of LTP, this molecule is then considered critical for LTP. Calcium/calmodulin (CaM)-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII) is a key molecule in the molecular

machinery for LTP, which fulfills those requirements. Previous research suggests that CaMKII undergoes autophosphorylation to support LTP induction ^{114–154}. In another study, LTP induction was prevented in knockout mice lacking a critical CaMKII subunit ⁴⁸. LTP induction was also prevented when a mutation occurred at the autophosphorylation site of CaMKII ¹⁵⁵. Furthermore, inhibition of CaMKII using a peptide blocks LTP ^{149–95}, whereas an increased concentration of active CaMKII increases synaptic strength ^{156–157}. Other than CaMKII, several other kinases have been implicated in the triggering of LTP. It is still a topic of investigation to dissect out the independent molecular pathways involved in triggering LTP.

The expression of LTP is dependent on AMPARs. The increase of AMPARs in the postsynaptic density is a key feature shown in various LTP related studies ¹⁵⁸ ⁹⁹ ¹⁴⁷. This increase of AMPARs is driven by activity-dependent changes in AMPAR trafficking ¹⁵⁹ ¹⁶⁰. Phosphorylation of AMPARs at different sites is crucial for the trafficking of AMPARs but detailed molecular functions of these changes remain to be determined. Recent evidence suggests that CaMKII can phosphorylate Ser831 of the GluA1 subunit, which results in a significant increase in single-channel conductance of homomeric GluA1 receptors ⁹⁹. Roughly, AMPARs are translocated into the PSD via both exocytosis and lateral movement within the plasma membrane. Most investigators believe that the incorporation of AMPARs into the PSD is the most important change because it appears to be accompanied by structural changes in the dendritic spines and synapses themselves, which is an attractive mechanism for maintaining LTP.

For LTP in the CA1 region of hippocampus, it is clear that the NMDAR plays a vital role in the induction of LTP. On the other hand, AMPARs support the expression of LTP. An increase in NMDAR activation increases the calcium concentration in the dendritic spines; the increased calcium ions activate CaM and CaMKII. CaMKII phosphorylates AMPARs leading to the insertion of AMPARs into the PSD as well as AMPAR trafficking from extrasynaptic sites to synaptic sites. In a parallel process, synapses start exhibiting structural changes such as an increase in the size of the PSD and the dendritic spine.

1.3.2.2 Long-term Depression (LTD)

Synaptic plasticity is bidirectional. Synapses will reach maximum efficacy if they continue to increase in strength. This unidirectional progression could make it difficult for synapses to encode new information. Thus, to make LTP useful, there should be the possibility of a weakening process. One process for the weakening of synaptic strength is called LTD. Establishment of LTD provided support for the idea that memories or experiences were encoded critically by the *distribution* of synaptic strength in neural circuits. There are some computational advantages to having both LTP and LTD in the synapse. Linden hypothesized that saturation of LTP is prevented by the active resetting of already potentiated synapses; of course homeostatic rebalancing of inactive synapses would also have to occur ¹⁶¹. The resetting mechanism can make synapses more responsive and preserve the dynamic range of responsiveness needed. Other researchers

suggested that LTD of previously potentiated synapses could also serve as a "forgetting" mechanism ¹⁶².

1.3.2.2.1 Molecular Mechanisms of LTD

A prolonged repetitive low-frequency stimulation is required to obtain LTD. This prolonged low activity partially relieves Mg2+ blockage in NMDAR and leads to reduced calcium entry into the postsynaptic cells. In a model for the induction of LTP and LTD Malenka et. al, proposed that high-frequency stimulation increases the calcium level to concentrations greater than 5 μ M, while, low-frequency stimulation leads to calcium concentration of less than 5 μ M¹⁴⁸. This suggests that calcium concentration plays a role in both LTP and LTD, mediating the bidirectional effects.

A leading hypothesis for the induction of the LTD signal transduction pathway suggests that LTD involves activation of a calcium-dependent protein phosphatase cascade. The proposed molecular cascade consists of the calcium/calmodulin-dependent phosphatase calcineurin (also known as protein phosphatase 2B) and PP1 ¹⁶³. Current evidence supports the hypothesis that postsynaptic inhibition of either PP2B or PP1 prevents LTD induction ¹⁶⁴ ¹⁶⁵ ¹⁶⁶ whereas, direct injection of PP1 into CA1 pyramidal neurons increases LTD ¹⁶⁷.

The notion that the NMDAR and calcium concentrations play critical roles in LTD is widely accepted. Walter and colleague showed that blocking NMDARs using MK-801 prevents LTD induction in both adult and immature mice ¹⁶⁸. In the proposed mechanism, they show that blocking the NMDAR inhibits the activation of p38-MAPK and the dephosphorylation of GluR1 (S831), which prevents LTD. Another proposed mechanism for the support of LTD is dephosphorylation of Ser845 on GluR1 (phosphorylated by PKA). Dephosphorylation of GluR1 at the PKA phosphorylation site leads to LTD ¹⁶⁹. Dephosphorylation of these two sites (S845 and S831) may both contribute to the expression of LTD. Dephosphorylation at the PKA site decreases the AMPAR open-channel probability ¹⁷⁰. Consistent with a critical role for this site, the knock-in alanine substitution of Ser845 on GluR1 prevents NMDAR dependent LTD ¹¹¹. A similar outcome is seen if Ser831 (the CaMKII phosphorylation site) is replaced with alanine.

While dephosphorylation mechanisms can alter AMPA receptor conductance to support LTD, as described, the current leading hypothesis in the field of LTD expression is that the expression of NMDAR-dependent LTD is due to activity-dependent endocytosis of synaptic AMPARs ^{99 145 158 171 160}. The calcium-dependent dephosphorylation of AMPARs leads to their endocytosis and this endocytosis is dependent on phosphatases ^{172–174}. There is direct evidence from immunohistochemical studies, that endocytic machinery co-localizes with AMPARs and subsequent endocytotic events can be visualized. The endocytotic process is also calcium dependent.

The preferential activation of phosphatase proteins in the dendritic spine takes place only in response to a modest increase in calcium. As a result of phosphatase activation, AMPARs dissociate from the PSD and move laterally to the endocytotic zone. Finally, these lateralized AMPARs are endocytosed and degraded. LTD also changes the size of the dendritic spine. It appears shrinkage of the dendritic spine is associated with LTD ^{175,176} and this might relate to the loss of AMPARs from the dendritic spine ¹⁷⁷.

1.3.3 Role of Synaptic Plasticity in Learning and Memory

The relation between synaptic plasticity and memory remains a topic of extensive research and debate. It is still not fully understood whether LTP and LTD naturally occur during learning in live animals. The discovery of LTP significantly boosted the research field of learning and memory and the investigation of their relationship to synaptic plasticity mechanisms. Studies on LTP had characterized different key molecules involved in LTP induction. Several studies showed that LTP could be blocked by inhibiting specific protein molecules, or in specific gene knockout animals. Researchers also confirmed that inhibition of these LTP-related molecules could affect various stages of memory (acquisition, consolidation, and retrieval) as reflected in behavior.

1.3.3.1 The Hypothesis of Synaptic Plasticity and Memory

The synaptic plasticity and memory (SPM) hypothesis was developed by several researchers ¹⁷⁸. The key concept of the SPM hypothesis is that synaptic plasticity is a physiological phenomenon whereby specific patterns of neural activity give rise to changes in synaptic efficacy and neural excitability ¹⁷⁸. These changes in synaptic

efficacy induce neural circuit changes that outlast the events that triggered them. This biophysical and biochemical machinery is not only important for neuronal activity but proposed to be critical for memory. After 40 years of research on the properties of LTP, scientists have discovered that LTP processes are required for (a) the acquisition of a memory and the storage of memory traces ¹⁷⁹ and (b) the initial phases of memory consolidation (or stabilization) over time ¹⁷⁹. Researchers have concluded that LTP does *not* play a role during memory retrieval ¹⁷⁸.

1.3.3.1.1 Criteria for assessing of the SPM Hypothesis

There are four different criteria for assessing the SPM hypothesis ¹⁷⁹. The first criterion is "Detectability" which means that the memories for previous experiences should be associated with changes in synaptic efficacy in the memory circuitry and these changes have to be detectable in the nervous system. The second criterion requires "Mimicry". "Mimicry" refers to the idea that artificial reactivation of the same spatiotemporal pattern of neural circuitry thought to store a particular memory should lead to a display of apparent memory for a previous experience which did not in practice occur. The third concept of SPM hypothesis is identified as "Anterograde Alteration". According to this third criterion, prevention of synaptic plasticity induction during learning events should impair the animal's memory of that experience. The fourth and last criterion for the SPM hypothesis is "Retrograde Alteration". The memory of a previous experience is characterized by changes in specific neural circuitry and altering that circuitry should alter the animal's memory of the experience. Studies providing evidence

that meet the 4 criteria have been conducted in several behavioral models including the olfactory system ¹⁸⁰ ¹⁸¹ ¹⁸².

1.3.3.1.2 Experimental Strategies Used for Assessing the SPM Hypothesis

Scientists have exploited different experimental strategies to assess the SPM hypothesis. Generally, while the criteria listed above are necessary to demonstrate a causal relationship between synaptic plasticity in neural circuits and behavior, to initially be consistent with the SPM hypothesis there has to be some correlation between the behavioral parameters of learning and memory and some of the properties of synaptic plasticity, which we refer to as "Correlation". The induction of measurable changes in synaptic strength at specific synapses should be also associated with learning ("Induction"). Another testing strategy is "Occlusion", which means that saturation of synaptic strength in a specific network should occlude new memory encoding.

A saturation of synaptic strength refers to a neuronal state in which, at least for a period of time, no further LTP or LTD is possible. For example, a true saturation of LTP prior to behavioral training should prevent new learning in that circuit because no further LTP would be possible ¹⁸³. Occlusion has been reported for saturation of LTD as well as LTP ¹⁸⁴ "Intervention" is another strategy that has been used extensively in this field of research. A genetic manipulation, pharmacological blockade or enhancement of synaptic plasticity and other recent advanced manipulations (e.g., optogenetic manipulations) should have predictable effects on learning or memory. For example, Morris et al showed that blocking NMDARs blocks hippocampus-dependent spatial learning ¹⁸⁵. Later on,

many researchers have shown that inhibition of NMDARs inhibits learning in a different behavioral paradigms including certain types of olfactory learning ¹⁸⁶, contextual fear conditioning ^{181,187–189}, other operant tasks ¹⁹⁰. T-maze alternation ^{180,191}, and delayed reinforcement of low rates of response ¹⁸¹. Gene knockout and overexpression of one gene have also linked plasticity mechanisms to the mechanisms underlying learning and memory ⁴⁷.

Izquierdo et al took another approach to investigate the relationship between synaptic plasticity mechanisms and memory. While most of the foregoing strategies focused on memory strengthening and induction protocols, Izquierdo et al have focused on "Erasure". Erasing synaptic plasticity shortly after learning should induce forgetting. Erasure has been achieved by either (a) using the application of drugs or enzyme inhibitors, which prevent the expression of LTP when given shortly after its induction (such as kinase inhibitors,) or (b) using trains that reduced synaptic strength such as those for depotentiation (e.g. low frequency) stimulation ¹⁹². There are various protocols for the induction of LTD, which typically use extended continuous trains of single pulses at 1–5 Hz ^{182,193,194}. A report also suggests that a few minutes of 5-Hz stimulation can depotentiate recently induced LTP at synapses in the hippocampus CA1 area ¹⁸². However, the LTD induction protocol has not yet been tested in freely behaving animals in-vivo and it is not clear whether LTD protocols induce forgetting.

1.3.4 Metaplasticity

Prior synaptic activity, including activity that does not induce LTP, can have a long-lasting influence on subsequent synaptic plasticity. For example, a short burst stimulus (30 Hz, 150 ms) in hippocampal CA1, which generates short-term potentiation, but not LTP, inhibits future LTP and facilitates future LTD ¹⁹⁵. This phenomenon, first discovered by Abraham and Bear in 1996, was termed metaplasticity. By definition, the plasticity of synaptic plasticity is called metaplasticity. The concept of metaplasticity implies that prior activation of a synapse can determine the later fate of the synapse in response to stimulation and, specifically, modify whether it will be strengthened or weakened by a particular input. The term 'meta' reflects the higher-order nature of the plasticity.

Essentially, metaplasticity refers to changes in the physiological or biochemical state of neurons or synapses that alter their ability to generate synaptic plasticity. In the case of conventional plasticity, it has been shown that the modulation and regulation of the plasticity events overlap in time. But in the case of metaplasticity, prior activation of a synapse can prime the synapse by altering their biochemical and physiological properties and these changes persist at least until the second activation. This unique property distinguishes metaplasticity from more conventional forms of plasticity. There is an extensive range of mechanisms involved in metaplasticity, many of which overlap with the mechanisms of conventional plasticity ¹⁹⁵. This overlap in mechanism and simultaneous occurrence pose a considerable challenge for metaplasticity research in terms of experimental design and interpretation. In spite of that, there has been a substantial amount of work related to metaplasticity over the past decade. Since our lifetime of experience is a continually evolving one, it may be hypothesized that metaplastic effects are likely to be of particular importance.

1.3.4.1 NMDAR Mediated Metaplasticity

Besides conventional synaptic plasticity, NMDARs also play a role in metaplasticity. Experimenters have used pharmacological or synaptic activation of NMDARs to induce metaplasticity. While NMDAR activation is a key trigger for LTP induction itself, it also affects subsequent LTP induction, which is due to its triggering of metaplastic effects. More importantly, these effects are restricted to the previously activated synapses only. Prior LTP induction prevents subsequent LTP at the same synapse ¹⁹⁵. The inability to induce LTP in the same synapse can be overcome by increasing the stimulus intensity. This result suggests that the priming stimulation does not completely inhibit LTP but instead elevates the threshold for LTP. The LTP inhibition caused by the priming synaptic activity is dependent on activation of NMDARs, p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (p38 MAPK), adenosine α2 receptors, a calcineurin,

and the protein phosphatases 1A and 2A. While priming stimulation can cause a saturation of the potentiation process, this not the only way of the inhibiting later LTP. Priming inhibition of LTP can be achieved even when the priming stimulation does not cause any detectable change in basal synaptic transmission ¹⁹⁵. The metaplastic effect is not restricted to LTP, it can modulate LTD as well. The activation of NMDAR can also facilitate or depress the subsequent induction of LTD ^{195 196}.

Researchers have shown that prior LTP induction reduces the postsynaptic voltage threshold for subsequent LTD and facilitates LTD. On the other hand, the same prior activation elevates the threshold for future LTP. However, the mechanisms mediating these effects of metaplasticity are not clear. Researchers suggest that activation of the NMDAR results in LTD of NMDAR (NMDAR LTD) currents themselves. Lower activation of NMDARs or NMDAR LTD results in a reduction in Ca²⁺ entry through the receptor channels subsequently. Previous studies have shown that nitric oxide (NO) and PKC have the ability to mediate NMDAR LTD. The same studies have shown that NMDAR activation increases the production of NO which can suppress NMDAR currents ^{196 197}. On the other hand, pharmacological activation of PKC causes trafficking of NMDARs from synaptic sites to extrasynaptic sites ^{198 199}.

There are other mechanisms also involved in this process. For example, the impaired LTP due to the application of a prior LTP induction is, apparently not mediated by NO and PKC ^{201,202}. There are other potential molecules present downstream of NMDAR activation, which could also play a role in metaplastic expression. Different

 Ca^{2+} dependent kinases and phosphatases are examples. The priming stimulation could alter the intracellular free Ca2+ concentration during plasticity induction, which in turn will alter enzyme activity ¹⁹⁵. Just like synaptic plasticity, in metaplasticity CaMKII also plays a crucial role. The earlier priming affects the phosphorylation state of CaMKII ^{203,204} which has a critical role in initiating LTP by regulating AMPARs ²⁰⁵. If the autophosphorylated state of aCaMKII is achieved by mutating Thr286 of aCaMKII to Ala286 (in which its activity becomes Ca2+-independent), this mutation results in the same effects as NMDAR priming stimulation ¹⁵⁴. However, it is not clear, whether a priming stimulation that does not itself cause LTP can be achieved by autophosphorylation of Thr286, which is an important requirement for a purely metaplastic effect. In another study, it was shown that knocking out RC3 (also known as neurogranin) another binding partner of calmodulin, results in a decrease in LTP threshold 206 . Autophosphorylation at Thr305/Thr306 of α CaMKII, might also mediate later inhibition of LTP. Mutation at Thr305/Thr306 to prevent auto-phosphorylation completely abolished the metaplasticity ²⁰⁷.

1.3.4.2 Role of Metaplasticity in Learning and Memory

How metaplasticity is implemented in natural learning has been an active topic for recent neuroscience research. How does learning produce metaplasticity that influences either the current acquisition process or future learning? Enriched environments or stressful stimuli have both been shown to induce metaplasticity and affect synaptic plasticity and learning ²⁰⁸. However, how learning itself affects future plasticity and

learning capacity remains to be investigated. A recent study showed that learning could induce long-term alterations in after hyperpolarizations (AHPs) which in turn directly affect new learning via altered intrinsic excitability. Learning-induced reductions in the slow AHP and increases in cell firing has been observed up to 5 days in CA1 pyramidal cells in a rabbit eye-blink conditioning experiment ²⁰⁹. The same study showed that if the conditioned and unconditioned stimulus were given in random orders then these changes were not observed. A persistent decrease in the apamin-sensitive medium AHP was also observed in rat piriform cortical neurons after operant conditioning and olfactorydiscrimination training ^{210,211} and in CA1 pyramidal cells following spatial water maze training ²¹². The underlying molecular mechanisms behind the persistent decrease in the slow AHP include a prolonged increase in extracellular-signal-regulated kinase 1 (ERK1) and ERK2 activity, as well as PKC²¹¹. At the same time, an increase in the GluN2A/GluN2B ratio for piriform NMDARs has been reported ²¹³. During aging, there is an increase of the slow AH and increased levels of corticosterone,. These changes correlate with impaired learning and memory ²¹⁴. Reduction of the slow AHP might also be important for the learning process because it might metaplastically lower the threshold for LTP²¹⁴. This change in the neuronal state could provide a facilitated environment for new learning. This hypothesis is supported by a study where researchers showed a reduction in the slow AHP in rat CA1 pyramidal neurons and found enhanced olfactory discrimination performance with subsequent training ²¹⁵. Reduced slow AHP also enhances the ability to learn a different task like spatial navigation in the water maze ²¹⁵.

Histone acetylation and DNA methylation could be other possible mechanisms through which metaplasticity would affect learning. Pharmacological inhibition of histone deacetylases (HDACs) promotes the formation of long-term memory ²¹⁶ and the late phase of LTP. Animals that have been trained on memory tasks show increased histone acetylation in the relevant brain regions ²¹⁷. In contrast, but related to these epigenetic effects, inhibition of DNA methylation inhibits late phase LTP and blocks memory consolidation ^{218,219}.

1.4 Olfactory System and Olfactory Learning

Rodents rely critically on their sense of smell to navigate the environment and establish social interactions. My research has used an early odor preference learning model in rodents to explore various properties of learning and synaptic plasticity. I particularly focused on two olfactory structures: the olfactory bulb (OB) and the piriform cortex (PC). In this section, I first introduce the organization of the olfactory system (Figure 6.0), then summarize the research on olfactory learning in rodents.

The OB and the olfactory cortex (OC) including the PC are two main areas that are involved in olfactory information processing. Like other sensory systems, olfactory information must be transmitted from peripheral structures (the olfactory epithelium (OE)) to more central structures (OB and OC) but these two regions directly communicate with each other without a thalamic relay, unlike other sensory systems. The olfactory information is first processed in the OB and OC and then transmitted to other parts of the brain for generating sensory awareness and stimulus-specific behavior.

There is no topographic organization beyond the OB for olfactory stimuli. A topographic organization has been found in the projection from the OE to the OB ²²⁰. But there is no evidence for a topographic organization from the OB to the OC. The spatiotemporal activation patterns to odors occur across large regions of the OC and appear to serve as ensemble representations for odor detection and discrimination.

Olfactory receptor neurons (ORN) have a short lifespan (approximately 30-60 days) and they exhibit significant turnover throughout life. The basal stem cell population in the olfactory epithelium constantly replace ORNs by mitotic division. These are the only neurons that are inserted in the surface epithelium of the body, as a result, they are directly exposed to the environment.

Humans are generally considered as "microsmatic" while rodents belong to "macrosmatic mammals¹⁴. Microsmatic species have a relatively poorly developed olfactory system compared to macrosmatic species²²¹. Certainly, the structural organization of the OB and OC in rodents and carnivores is well defined. However, the human brain also consists of the same olfactory structures which have been shown in rodents and cats. Relatively simple circuitry and direct connections between the OB and

OC have helped scientists to understand the information encoding process in the olfactory pathways.

The OB and piriform cortex (PC) are the two main structures of the olfactory systems which have been most extensively investigated in learning paradigms. Learning studies form our lab have shown molecular and structural changes in these structures following odor experience and/or conditioning. For example, neurotransmitter release patterns are altered in the OB following odor associative learning ²²². A significant enhancement in the activity of PC cells has been observed following odor conditioning ²²³. I will discuss the olfactory learning literature in detail in the later sections. Previous studies support the concept that learning-induced synaptic modification occurs both in the OB and the OC and investigations of olfactory learning have broadened our understanding of learning and memory mechanisms in general.

1.4.1 Olfactory Processing and System Anatomy

Odor detection and perception begin with the binding of an odorant molecule to the olfactory receptor (OR) proteins located on olfactory sensory neuron (OSN) dendrites within the nasal epithelium. The binding of the odorant molecules to the OR initiates chemical cascades within the OSN that generate action potentials, which travel to the OB via OSN axons for further processing. Each odorant activates more than one receptor type present in the OSN and odor receptors respond to overlapping sets of odorants ^{224–228}.

Activation of these unique sets of neurons forms the basis of an odor identity code. Later on the encoded odor information transfer to the OB via the projections of the OSNs present in the olfactory epithelium.

Homologous OR gene expressing OSNs project to specific glomeruli in the OB, and form synapses with dendrites of the bulbar output neurons, mitral/tufted cells, as well as with a heterogeneous population of glomerular layer excitatory and inhibitory interneurons. Due to an architecture in which each glomerulus receives input from OSNs expressing the same ORs, glomeruli serve as independent, functional units. As a result, exposure to specific odorants tend to activate a group of glomeruli forming a specific spatial pattern or odotopic map in the olfactory bulb ^{225,229–233}.

The inhibitory circuit within the OB enhances the spatiotemporal features of the OSN glomerular input, which further helps in signal processing. For example, the GABAergic periglomerular (PG) cells within glomerular layer supply both presynaptic and postsynaptic inhibition of OSN input and both intra- and interglomerular postsynaptic inhibition of mitral/tufted cell responses ^{234–243}. This PG cell population can control lateral inhibition between glomeruli. Interestingly, both PG and granule cell populations are heavily innervated by centrifugal input from several neuromodulatory regions, which in turn play a crucial role in olfactory learning and memory ²⁴⁴.
After initial processing in the OB, the neural code for a given odor is communicated to the

PC via the lateral olfactory tract (LOT) formed by the mitral/tufted cell axons. In the PC, pyramidal neurons form synapses with the mitral/tufted cell axons coming from LOT. Electrophysiological data suggests that individual pyramidal cells at multiple locations are responsive to a given odorant ²⁴⁵. Unlike the OB, there is no odotopic map present in the PC. In the following sections, I will further discuss these two major olfactory structures, the OB and PC, which are central to my research.

1.4.1.1 The Olfactory Bulb

The OB has a laminar structural organization like other cortical areas. Histological studies by Cajal and colleagues showed that the bulb consists of seven layers ^{246–250}. These seven layers include the olfactory nerve layer (ONL), glomerular layer (GL),), the external plexiform layer (EPL), the mitral cell layer (MCL) the internal plexiform layer (IPL), and the granule cell layer (GCL) ^{251–254}. Each OB consists of several thousands of glomeruli. One glomerulus receives thousands of OSN axons and the dendritic branches of approximately 10-70 M/T cells ^{255–257} which form synaptic connections. These excitatory synapses can be modulated by three types of neurons present in the GL: periglomerular cells (PG), short axon cells (SA), and external tufted cells (ET) ^{252,253}. The granule cells are another type of cell present deeper in the OB, which influence the fine-tuning of odor representation in the OB via dendrodendritic GABAergic modulation ^{258–260}. Volumetrically, the GL and GCL account for the highest percentage of the bulb. Reports suggest that approximately 50% of the bulb is composed of GL and GCL (GL: ~26%; GCL: ~29%).

Each bulb contains various cell types that include principle neurons (M/T cells), interneurons (PG, Granule cells, SA, ET, Van Gehuchten cells, and Blanes cells), and glial cells (astrocytes, olfactory ensheathing cells, NG2, oligodendrocytes, and microglia).

After the processing of odor representations by the aforementioned components, M/T cells relay that information for the higher-order information processing ²⁶¹ ^{253, 254} ²⁵⁷.

1.4.1.2 The Piriform Cortex

The PC is a higher order olfactory processing structure required for multiple cognitive functions related to olfaction. The PC also serves to connect other brain areas with olfactory structures. As mentioned earlier, the LOT is a myelinated axon bundle of M/T cell output that relays odor information from the OB to the PC ^{264,265}. Price and colleague suggested that the LOT consists of two types of axon bundles: a thinner bundle and a thicker bundle ^{261,266}. The thinner bundle originates from tufted cells, which projects to the rostral part of the PC and the thicker bundle axons are from the mitral cells and innervate throughout the entire PC ^{247,263}. The PC serves as the largest recipient of bulbar

50

projections and is considered the "primary" olfactory cortex ^{267–270}. Although other primary cortical areas are typically six-layered, the PC reveals a trilaminar organization similar to that of the hippocampus.

The PC is reciprocally and extensively connected to other higher order cortical structures, including the anterior olfactory nucleus, endopiriform nucleus, olfactory tubercle, entorhinal cortex, prefrontal cortex, perirhinal cortex, and cortical amygdala ^{265,266,268,271–278}. Interestingly, the PC feedback connections have the ability to influence bulbar output by modulating granule cell activity in the OB ^{264,279–284}. Its distributed bidirectional nature between the periphery and the higher cortical networks that regulate cognition, emotion, memory, and behavior underscores the importance of the PC in regulating many physiological and behavioral events in mammals.

Anatomically, the PC is commonly divided into two segments: the anterior piriform cortex (aPC) and the posterior piriform cortex (pPC) ^{223,285–295}. Compared to the pPC, the aPC receives relatively more afferent input from the OB and fewer associational inputs from other cortical areas. This suggests that the aPC may encodes odor identity while the pPC is for 'content addressable memory' e.g., odor object identification ^{296,297} ^{298 273 292 291 299 245 300 301 302 303 277 304}. However, studies using the early odor preference learning model show a developmental change in their roles. Week old pups exhibit more 2-deoxyglucose(2-DG) uptake to odors in the aPC whereas two-week-old pups show more 2-DG uptake in the pPC. This may reflect the maturation of other associational area

input and processing. The PC has multiple advantages for the study of learning and memory effects in a cortical structure: specifically (1) a comparatively simple anatomy with a laminar organization; (2) an accessible anatomical location for physiological and behavioral studies ^{305 306}; consistent with (3) a lack of thalamic relays from the periphery; while also having (4) a high-level synthetic role in odor perception; and well-delineated (5) afferent, efferent, and auto-associative connectivities.

1.4.2 Olfactory Learning

Olfactory learning is a commonly used model system for investigating learning and memory mechanisms. Olfactory learning research has involved a variety of species including honey bees ⁶⁵, *Drosophila* ^{307 308}, lobsters ³⁰⁹, moths ³¹⁰, mice ^{311 312}, humans ^{313 314}, rats ^{315 316 317 318}, zebrafish ³¹⁹, rabbits ³²⁰, and sheep ³²¹. Olfactory studies in rodents have provided us with detailed descriptions of the underpinnings of infant-mother attachment, associative learning ^{322 323 324 325 326 327 328}, and learning-related pattern separation and completion ^{329 330}.

In the following section, I will describe different types of animal models in olfactory learning research with a focus on the rodent models used in my investigations.

1.4.2.1 Adult Learning Models

Researchers have used both vertebrates and invertebrates to understand the mechanisms of olfaction. Examples of the different species researchers have been using for olfactory research include lobsters ³⁰⁹, moths ³¹⁰, honey bees ⁶⁵, Drosophila ^{299 300}, mice ³¹², turtles ³³¹, rats ^{307 308 310 320}, rabbits ³²⁰, sheep ³³², zebrafish ³¹⁹, and humans ^{313 314} ³⁰¹. Within these olfactory studies, complex sensory phenomenon like infant-mother attachment learning, associative learning, pattern separation, and pattern completion ²⁷¹ ^{322 324 325 326 327 328} have been investigated.

One of the adult behavioral models used for investigating olfactory learning and memory is the 'Go-No-Go' paradigm. In this learning model rodents learn to discriminate between odors depending on the valence of the odor (rewarded or non-rewarded odor). Computer-controlled olfactometers generate odor pulses and deliver or withhold rewards facilitating evaluation of a rodent's ability to detect and discriminate odors ^{333 334 335 336} ^{337 330}. Typically, during training, water-deprived rodents are allowed to either respond positively to reward-associated odor by entering the odor delivery port for a water reward ("Go") or they must refrain from entering the odor delivery port when a non-rewarded odor is delivered ("No Go").

Other than go/no-go tasks, rodents can be trained to go in a left or right direction for reward. Researchers also use food digging behavioral paradigms where odor and food are associated. The positive odor signals digging and food while in the presence of negative odor, animals should not dig. The digging method requires fewer trials, while the olfactometer odor discrimination paradigms take significantly more trials to reach learning criteria ³³⁸, but are automated, thus limiting experimenter oversight requirements.

1.4.2.2 Early Odor Preference Learning Model

Classical conditioning is one of the most widely used associative behavioral paradigms. A feature of the associative learning of temporally distinct events is to requirement to develop and maintain perceptual and cognitive representations ^{339 340}. In classical conditioning, the presentation of the conditioned stimulus (CS) is taken as a predictor of a subsequent unconditioned stimulus (UCS)³⁴¹. A neutral stimulus like a bell ring or an odor (ie. CS) will not generate a predictable response unless they are associated with either reward or punishment (ie. UCS). A behavioral response to a previously neutral stimulus occurs when that stimulus, a CS, is associated with a reward or punishment, a UCS, through learning. The learned behavioral response is the conditioned response. An unconditioned response occurs, irrespective of learning, when a stimulus reliably evokes a response, such as avoidance responses for painful stimuli or approach responses to rewarding ones. Early odor preference learning is an example of classical conditioning. In my thesis, I characterized the intracellular molecular pathways involved in early odor preference learning and I use postnatal day (PND) 1-11 rat or mice pups, a time period of selective plasticity for this form of learning ³⁴² also referred to as a critical period.

Developmentally, a critical period is defined as a stage of life during which the nervous system is especially sensitive to certain environmental stimuli. During the critical

54

period for early odor preference learning, rat pups cannot see as their eyes open at PND14-15. Hearing thresholds are also higher during this period with responses to loud sounds evident at PND, 8-9 with increasing sensitivity gradually developing from that point³⁴³. But olfaction and somatosensory inputs are present from birth ³⁴⁴. Thus, pups rely particularly on olfactory and somatosensory input to help them maintain proximity to their mothers. As might be predicted bilaterally bulbectomized rat pups (at the age of PND1) weigh significantly less than control pups ³⁴⁵. These data suggest that olfaction plays an important role during the critical period for rat pups. Since neonates use olfaction to locate their mother for food, they can be conditioned to prefer odors with simple experimental manipulations.

The rodent dam provides pups with positive stimuli including licking, access to milk and warmth, but may also provide harsher stimuli such as biting and stepping on pups. In this early period of relative helplessness, it appears that both the positive and even the more negative natural stimuli facilitate neonate-dam attachment. Early odor preference learning, as a type of classical conditioning, consists of a UCS, a stimulus or stimuli associated with maternal care, and a CS, a distinct odor. Early odor preference learning can be supported by multiple UCSs. Rat pups receive a variety of stimuli during maternal care, as mentioned, and, similarly, a range of stimuli can be used as a UCS. Pairing the UCS with a novel odor creates a conditioned approach response to the trained odor. Examples of stimuli used as the UCSs in this paradigm include milk presentation ³⁴⁶ ³⁴⁷ ³⁴⁸, the odor of maternal saliva ³⁴⁹, stroking or tactile stimulation ³⁵⁰ ³⁵¹ ³⁵² ³⁵³ ³⁵⁴ ³⁵⁵,

and mild foot shocks ³⁵⁶ ³⁵⁷ ³⁵⁶ ³⁵⁸ ³⁵⁹, or tail pinches ³⁵² showing that even aversive stimuli can produce odor preferences, rewarding intracranial brain stimulation ³⁶⁰, and the nesting environment ³⁶¹ ³⁶² are also effective UCSs.

The CS odor can create a variety of conditioned responses depending on the UCS ^{363 360 364}. For example, generally, a rodent shows aversion to peppermint odor. However, Leon and colleagues ^{365 366} first showed that rat pups have a behavioral preference for peppermint odor when tested at PND20 if they were exposed to peppermint for the first 19 days of life (3 h/day). Odor preference could be induced with briefer CS-UCS pairings as well. Odor exposure for 10 min/day on PND 1–18, coupled with tactile stimulation, induced an odor preference on PND 19 ³⁵².

The associative nature of early odor preference behavior has been demonstrated by Sullivan and colleagues. Pups trained with CS-only, UCS-only, random CS–UCS presentations, and backward UCS–CS presentations all failed to acquire a preference for the trained odor ^{357 358} whereas, pups with synchronous odor and tactile stimulation developed a conditioned approach to the trained odor ^{357 358}. Some aversive stimuli like tail pinch and mild foot shock (0.5 mA), also induce an odor associated preference behavior during the critical period ^{356 357 352}. On the other hand, the same UCS induces odor aversive responses in pups during the second and third postnatal weeks ^{359 358 323}. Similarly, stroking loses its effectiveness as a UCS in the second and third postnatal weeks 369 . Researchers showed that stroking in the presence of odorant does not induce odor preference after PND 10 369 which suggests a sensitive period for the development of early odor preferences. A single trial 10 min odor+stroking pairing in the sensitive period induces a protein synthesis-dependent odor preference memory which lasts for 24 h 19 .

The molecular characterization of early odor preference learning has helped us to understand the events underlying the CS-UCS pairing effects. Earlier work had shown that norepinephrine (NE) plays an important role as the UCS in early odor preference learning ³⁶⁰ and that the locus coeruleus (LC) is the sole source of NE for the olfactory bulb (OB) and the piriform cortex (PC) ²⁴⁴. Sullivan and colleagues demonstrated that LC-induced NE release is both necessary and sufficient for early olfactory learning ³²³. In early odor preference learning, odorant molecules (CS) bind to the olfactory sensory receptors in the olfactory epithelium. This binding event triggers downstream glutamate signaling to the OB and piriform cortex, but this is not sufficient to induce activation of CREB phosphorylation (a key plasticity or memory event). The odorant (CS) primarily activates AMPARs. The concomitant weak activation of NMDARs and LTCCs is not sufficient to result in the phosphorylation of CREB (the transcription factor). On the other hand, the tactile stimulation delivered via paintbrush stroking (the UCS) releases NE by activation of the LC 370. Pharmacological studies of early odor preference learning suggest β 1-adrenoceptors mediate the UCS effect of tactile stimulation (activating LCmediated NE release in the olfactory bulb) since systemic or intrabulbar β1 antagonists prevent the effect 371 and the UCS itself can be substituted by a β -adrenoceptor agonist.

However, the UCS alone is unable to induce CREB phosphorylation ³⁷¹ and that requires forward pairing of CS and UCS ³⁷¹.

1.4.2.2.1 Advantages of the Early Odor Preference Learning Model

In the following section, I will discuss some of the advantages of the early odor preference learning model for studying the substrates of learning and memory.

1.4.2.2.1.1 The memory circuitry is well defined

In early odor preference memory, the circuitry of the CS and UCS pathways are well characterized ³⁵² ³⁷² ³¹⁶ ³⁷³. The OB, aPC, and LC are the major brain areas involved. Briefly, the CS odor activates AMPARs in the OB (mitral/tufted cells) and aPC (pyramidal neurons). The addition of the UCS recruits NMDAR activation in the same sites. Previous research showed that inhibition of NMDARs in either OB or aPC prevents odor preference memory from forming, but does not hamper odor perception ³¹⁶. Blocking of NMDARs prior to early odor preference testing shows that preference memory, once formed, remains intact even though NMDARs was blocked, which suggests that NMDARs plays a crucial role in memory acquisition without affecting odor

perception or memory retrieval³⁷³. Molecular events critical and necessary for learning have been identified in both the OB and aPC. These include activation of NMDARs ³⁷³ ³¹⁶, adrenergic receptors ³²³ ³⁷⁴ ³¹⁶, L-type calcium channels ³⁷⁵, metabotropic glutamatergic receptors ³⁷⁶, and modulation of inhibition (disinhibition) ³¹⁶. Previous work also suggests that both the OB and aPC play critical roles in early odor preference learning and memory and both are necessary.

NE is released from axons originating from LC neurons, which project to OB and PC, during stroking. Activation of β -adrenoceptors as a UCS in the OB or the aPC paired with odor can generate early odor preference memories ³⁵². On the other hand, inhibition of β -adrenoceptors in both structures independently prevents odor preference memory in neonates ³⁷³. Previously, it was shown that the NE released from the LC and together with activation of olfactory bulb β -adrenoceptors are necessary for acquisition of the conditioned behavioral odor approach response ³⁶⁷ ³⁶⁸. For example, bilateral lesions of the LC ³⁶⁰ or inhibition of β -adrenoceptors in the OB ³⁷⁷ prevent the acquisition of conditioned odor responses. However, the inhibition of β -adrenoceptor after acquisition again does not impair expression of previously learned behaviors ³⁷⁸. These results suggest that activation of the noradrenergic projection from the LC to the OB is necessary for early olfactory learning. Similarly, β -adrenoceptor inhibition in the aPC during odor+stroking conditioning prevents the development of odor preference memory.

In summary, it is clear that the OB, aPC, and LC play interconnected roles in early odor preference learning. Dissecting the representations of the CS and UCS in these olfactory areas is relatively simple compared to identifying the CS and UCS representations in hippocampal-dependent spatial and contextual memories.

1.4.2.2.1.2 Memory stages are well-defined

Temporally, as described earlier , memories have been divided into stages including, STM, ITM and LTM ^{27 17 30 379}. These memory stages are not only temporally different, but there are differences in their dependence on protein synthesis as well. STM does not require protein synthesis, whereas ITM depends on translation, but does not require mRNA transcription. LTM requires both translation and transcription ^{17 26 27 28 6 29} ^{16 31}.

These three memory stages have been characterized in the early odor preference learning model ³⁷⁹. STM lasts up to 3h after training. ITM is currently defined as occurring up to 5h after training and LTM is seen at 24h. ITM can be disrupted by a translational inhibitor (anisomycin) infused into the OB, but not by a transcriptional inhibitor (actinomycin). STM is not affected by translational or transcriptional inhibitors. Since LTM is transcription and translation-dependent, inhibiting either of these processes

prevents LTM ³⁷⁹. A 1h time window after training is critical for the learning-related protein synthesis necessary for 24h memory. The inhibition of the translational process 3h after training has no effect on 24h memory. The identification of proteins underlying the circuit remodeling required for learning and memory is facilitated by these time windows.

1.4.2.1.3 Memory duration can be manipulated

One of the fundamental questions of learning and memory research is how to prolong our memories. For learning and educational purposes, how we can strengthen our memories? With early odor preference memory, duration can be manipulated with multiple spaced training trials or with local pharmacological strategies. By applying multiple spaced training for four days, early odor preference memory can be extended for at least 48h ^{369 380} and early work suggested even lifelong memories could be generated ³⁵⁶. Previous characterization of the molecular pathways of early odor preference learning has facilitated the development of prolonged memory models created by using pharmacological agents. By manipulating the dephosphorylation of CREB using a PP2B inhibitor, one can prolong the duration of associative intracellular events in the one-trial odor preference training model beyond 24 hr ³⁸¹. Other evidence suggests that inhibition of histone deacetylase (HDAC) prior to training extends 24 h odor preference memory up to 5 days and even longer ²¹⁶. Additionally, inhibiting the breakdown of the cyclic AMP by a phosphodiesterase type IV inhibitor extends memory ³⁸².

1.4.2.2.1.4 Lateralization of Early Odor Preference Learning

The left and right hemispheres of the brain generally communicate through a series of commissures. These commissural fibers cross the midline of the brain to form reciprocal connections between two hemispheres. Cutting the major commissural connection between the two sides of the brains causes the animal to behave as if they have two separate brainss. If the inflow of sensory information is restricted to one side of the brain then each side of the brain can exhibit relatively independent perception, learning, and memory. Newly born rats have a "natural-split-brain" advantage for early olfactory learning and memory ³⁸³. Pups younger than PND 12 (lacking the development of the anterior commissure during this time period) showed an increased preference for the conditioned odor in a choice task when tested with the spared side (one nostril open during training) open ³⁸³. The same pups showed no preference for the conditioned odor when tested with the occluded side (the side blocked during training) open 383 . A similar observation was made more recently when lateralized odor preference training in rat pups produced an enhanced network response only in the ipsilateral aPC ³⁸⁰. In contrast, PND 12 pups or older pups showed learned odor preferences with either naris open when they were trained unilaterally. The maturation of specific components of the anterior commissure (the olfactory system's crossed projection pathway) and the bilateral response develops simultaneously ³⁸⁴. Bilateral olfactory learning in older pups can be blocked by cutting the anterior commissure before unilateral training ³⁸⁵. The data suggest that the anterior commissure is crucial for bilateral olfactory learning in older pups. This unique intra-animal control property of neonates reduces the variation seen in betweenanimal designs (thus reducing the required number of animals in experiments) and allows more precise experimental control for clarifying the molecular pathways of learning and memory. I have utilized these developmental commissural advantages in the experiments to be described in my thesis.

1.4.2.2.1 The Molecular Mechanisms contributing to Early Odor Preference Learning

Our understanding of the molecular processes underpinning learning and memory has accelerated over the past decades. These studies have helped us to understand neural circuits and the basis of their adaptive change within both invertebrate and vertebrate species. The following sections will focus on the cellular and molecular components supporting early odor preference learning in rodents.

1.4.2.2.1.1 LC–Norepinephrine

Approximately, 40 % of noradrenergic fibers of the LC project to the OB ³⁸⁶. This results in a heightened sensitivity to sensory input during early developmental stages ³⁷⁰

³⁸⁷. Tactile stimulation at early ages promotes NE release from the LC terminals ³⁸⁷. The release of NE from the LC ³⁸⁸ ³⁸⁹ is required for acquisition of conditioned odor preference. Pharmacological blocking of noradrenergic β -adrenoceptors in both OB and aPC prevents odor learning ³¹⁴ ³⁵⁷ ³⁶⁷. Pharmacological activation of β -adrenoceptors in the OB paired with odor can generate 24 h odor preference memory. Odor preference can also be rapidly acquired by pairing odor with direct stimulation of LC ³²³. With this pairing, odor preference learning can also occur beyond the critical period ³⁹⁰.

Odor plus tactile stimulation induces a striking increase of NE in the OB in pups during the first postnatal week, which is not seen to odor alone and is greater than that seen to tactile stimulation alone ³⁹¹. However, NE levels are lower to combined stimulation by 10 days of age ³⁸⁸. It is likely that release of NE from LC terminals in the OB and aPC supports odor preference conditioning by engaging the protein molecules discussed below.

1.4.2.2.1.2 β -Adrenoceptors

Systemic blocking of β -adrenoceptors with propranolol in the rat pup blocks early odor preference learning ³⁶⁷. Later studies also showed that early odor preference learning was prevented when the β -adrenoceptor blocker is restricted and localized to the OB ³²³. Systemic injection of the non-selective β -1 and β -2-adrenoceptor agonist isoproterenol

(2mg/kg) produces 24h early odor preference memory when paired with odor. A later study using selective systemic β 1 and β 2 agonist administration separately showed that odor preference learning induction is specific to β 1-adrenoceptor activation ³⁷⁴. Odor preference can be induced by a moderate dose of isoproterenol (2 mg/kg) paired with a novel odor. However, odor paired with a lower dose (1 mg/kg) or higher doses (4–6 mg/kg) does not ^{367 392 393} create odor preference in neonate rat pups. A similar effect can also be observed with selective β -1 agonist administration ³⁷⁴. Since isoproterenol infusion directly in the OB paired with a novel odor also produces odor preference learning, it is likely that both LC-mediated NE release and isoproterenol can serve as unconditioned stimuli.

1.4.2.2.1.3 α-Adrenoceptors

The role of β -adrenoreceptors in the early odor preference learning has been the focus in past decades ³⁹² ³⁶⁷ ³⁷⁸ ³²³ ³⁵² ³⁹³. The function of α -adrenoreceptors in this learning paradigm has only recently received attention. Like β 1-adrenoceptor agonists, systemic injection of α 1-adrenoceptor agonists paired with odor can generate odor preference learning ³⁷⁴ and again doses exhibit an inverted U-curve relationship to learning. There were no learning effects with a systemic α -2 agonist for the doses explored. However, recent evidence suggests that infusion of 500mM clonidine (α -2 agonist) directly in the OB can also induce early odor preference learning ³⁹⁴. The likely

mechanism for OB α -2-adrenoceptor action is cAMP independent and appears to be mediated by disinhibition of mitral cells in the OB.

1.4.2.2.1.4 Serotonin

Serotonin is a neurotransmitter widely present in vertebrates, invertebrates, insects, plants, and even in some unicellular organisms. Initially, it was shown that depletion of serotonin locally in the OB on PND 1 ³⁹⁵ prevented the later acquisition of the conditioned odor learning. By increasing the dose of isoproterenol this effect of 5-HT depletion could be rescued ³⁹². It was reported that 5HT-2 receptors mediate the effect of 5-HT depletion as learning can be prevented by systemic injections of the 5HT 2A/2C antagonist ritanserin ³⁷². Learning is inducible by stroking in 5HT-depleted pups if there is a prior subcutaneous injection of a 5HT 2A/2C agonist ³⁷². Unlike α and β -adrenoceptors agonists, it was not possible to induce learning by pairing novel odor and the 5HT 2A/2C agonist alone ³⁹⁶. These results suggested that serotonin acts to support normal β -adrenoceptor mediation of odor preference learning, but it does not act as UCS. Serotonin release from the raphe nuclei, during CS-UCS pairing, facilitates the induction process.

1.4.2.2.1.5 Cyclic Adenosine Monophosphate

A role for cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) as a critical intracellular signal in the initiation of associative learning has been demonstrated in a wide variety of species: Drosophila ^{397 398 399}; Aplysia ^{400 401}; and rodents ^{402 393 403}.

Since the ground-breaking discoveries in *Aplysia and Drosophila*, a growing body of evidence supports the hypothesis that the cAMP/protein kinase A/cAMP response element binding protein (cAMP/PKA/CREB) cascade might be a universal mechanism underlying learning and memory. Depletion of 5-HT in the OB prevented early odor preference learning with a typically effective UCS (2mg/kg isoproterenol) for which pCREB and cAMP increases were normally observed ³⁹³. A causal role for cAMP increases in odor preference learning was demonstrated by manipulating cAMP levels with the phosphodiesterase IV inhibitor, cilomilast. The inhibitor converts a low learningineffective dose of isoproterenol (1 mg/kg) into an effective UCS ⁴⁰⁴. In a follow-up experiment, cilomilast restored learning in pups with 5-HT-depleted bulbs when paired with 2 mg/kg isoproterenol, a condition that had previously been shown to be ineffective in producing learning ⁴⁰⁵. Interestingly, simply increasing cAMP is not sufficient for early odor preference learning. A high dose of isoproterenol of 4 mg/kg increases cAMP but does not support learning. So, it has been proposed that a specific temporal patterning, as well as a sufficient level of cAMP increases, is required for learning. A cAMP peak was observed at 10 min after training with the normally effective dose of isoproterenol, but then cAMP levels decreased. With a high dose of isoproterenol, there was only a sustained rising increase in cAMP over the 20-min period following training.

Interestingly, the effective dose of isoproterenol alone also produced a similar rising pattern, but when combined with novel odor input, the profile was a 10 min peak elevation in cAMP was followed by a decrease ⁴⁰³. The natural odor+stroking procedure also produces a 10-min cAMP peak followed by a decrease pattern. These effects are consistent with other reports of calcium modulation of cAMP patterns ^{406 407}.

1.4.2.2.1.6 Protein Kinase A

The cellular level of cAMP, and likely its pattern, also determines the activity of PKA. PKA is known to play a key role in long-term memory (LTM) formation in both invertebrates ⁴⁰⁸ and vertebrates ⁴⁰⁹. Activation of PKA phosphorylates learning-related downstream substrates such as serine 133 of the transcription factor CREB ^{410 411} and serine 845 of the α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor (AMPAR) GluA1 subunit ^{411 412}. Since cAMP plays a crucial role in odor preference learning ^{404 405}, PKA activation is inevitable. As predicted, PKA activation is maximal 10 min following training during the cAMP peak ⁴¹³. Blocking of PKA effects by Rp-cAMPs prevents normal odor preference learning. This also inhibits CREB phosphorylation, which is again consistent with a causal role for the cAMP/PKA/CREB cascade in learning.

1.4.2.2.1.7 CREB

As reviewed, β 1-Adrenoceptors can mediate the UCS in early odor preference learning. Tactile stimulation (activating LC-mediated NE release) or an agonist of β adrenoceptor, triggers the cAMP cascade. On the other hand, the odor serves as the CS that adds to the depolarization of postsynaptic cells to result in calcium influx through NMDARs and L-type calcium channels. The pairing of the UCS and CS modifies cAMP profiles and recruits PKA to generate the phosphorylation of CREB ³⁷¹.

CREB has been referred to in reviews as "the memory gene" (Yin and Tully, 1996). Using western blot analysis, it was shown that phosphorylated CREB (pCREB) levels significantly increase in the OB 10 min following olfactory conditioning (odor+stroking). This increase of pCREB is correlated with 24 h odor preference memorya ³⁹³. A causal role for OB CREB in early odor learning was demonstrated directly by manipulating the expression of the CREB gene ⁴¹⁴. The literature also suggests that pCREB activation is a temporally focused and restricted event. The effective dose of isoproterenol paired with peppermint increased pCREB expression ³⁷¹ at 10 min, while, a high dose of isoproterenol failed to produce learning and did not lead to an increase in CREB phosphorylation despite the elevated cAMP levels. Taken together, these results argue that an optimal profile of CREB phosphorylation 10 min post-training is necessary for initiating 24-h memory in the early odor preference learning model.

1.4.2.2.1.8 Phosphatase

Phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of different memory-related proteins serve diverse roles in long-term memory and synaptic plasticity. But unlike kinases, phosphatases have not been extensively studied in memory research. In the early odor preference learning model, dephosphorylation of CREB can be mediated by either protein phosphatase 1(PP1) or calcineurin (PP2B) ³⁹³. Hyper-activation of PKA may relate to a longer inhibition of PP1 and PP2B and a longer duration of CREB phosphorylation. This remains to be investigated.

However, PKA and PP2B were found to be co-localized at postsynaptic densities ⁴¹⁵ ⁴¹⁶. Coincidentally, PP2B is also involved in dephosphorylation of CREB, phosphodiesterases and adenylate cyclases ⁴¹⁷ ⁴¹⁸. By manipulating these dephosphorylating actions of PP2B we can alter the duration of associative intracellular events in the one-trial odor preference training model. PP2B inhibition in both OB and aPC using FK506 does not prevent normal 24-h odor preference memory ³⁸¹ but can prolong it.

Unlike isoproterenol, FK506 does not act as a UCS. However, with normal training parameters, blocking the calcium-dependent phosphatase extends odor preference

memory and extends the duration of CREB phosphorylation. This suggests that CREB phosphorylation duration positively modulates memory duration.

Chapter 2

NMDA receptors in mouse anterior piriform cortex initialize early odor preference learning and L-type calcium channels engage for long-term memory (This Chapter is a modified version of Mukherjee and Yuan, Sci Rep. 2016 Oct 14;6:35256. doi: 10.1038/srep35256.)

2.1 Abstract

The interactions of L-type calcium channels (LTCCs) and NMDA receptors (NMDARs) in memories are poorly understood. Here we investigated the specific roles of the anterior piriform cortex (aPC) LTCCs and NMDARs in early odor preference memory in mice.

Using calcium imaging in aPC slices, LTCC activation was shown to be dependent on NMDAR activation. Either D-APV (NMDAR antagonist) or nifedipine (LTCC antagonist) reduced somatic calcium transients in pyramidal cells evoked by lateral olfactory tract stimulation. However, nifedipine did not further reduce calcium in the presence of D-APV. In mice that underwent early odor preference training, blocking NMDARs in the aPC prevented short-term (3 hr) and long-term (24 hr) odor preference memory and both memories were rescued when BayK-8644 (LTCC agonist) was coinfused. However, activating LTCCs in the absence of NMDARs resulted in the loss of discrimination between the conditioned odor and a similar odor mixture at 3 hr. Elevated synaptic AMPAR expression at 3 hr was prevented by D-APV infusion but restored when LTCCs were directly activated, mirroring the behavioral outcomes. Blocking LTCCs prevented 24 hr memory and spared 3 hr memory. These results suggest that NMDARs mediate stimulus-specific encoding of odor memory while LTCCs mediate intracellular signaling leading to long-term memory.

2.2 Introduction

How synaptic signals are transmitted to the nucleus of the neuron to initiate the gene transcription required for long-term memory has been a topic of intense investigations. Calcium as a 2nd messenger initiates cascades of intracellular signaling that are critically involved in synaptic plasticity and learning. Calcium-stimulated activation of cAMP response element binding protein (CREB) and CRE-mediated gene transcription are a universal requirement in memory formation across species⁴¹⁹. Voltage-gated calcium channels such as the L-type calcium channels (LTCCs) and NMDA receptors (NMDARs) serve as the principal sites for calcium entry at the membrane and are responsible for the activation of altered gene expression ^{420 421}. While both channels are involved in synaptic plasticity mechanisms such as long-term potentiation (LTP), a putative cellular mechanism for memory formation, they differ in their roles in LTP induction and intracellular signalling ⁴²²⁻⁴²⁵.

NMDARs have been regarded as co-incident detectors for presynaptic activity and postsynaptic depolarization during LTP induction ⁴²⁶, which permits calcium entry at the synaptic site ⁴²⁷. LTCCs, which are localized in the somatic membrane and proximal dendrites ^{375,427–429}, have an important role in translating cytosolic calcium increases to gene expression changes ^{204,430–432}. In the hippocampus, both NMDAR-dependent and LTCC-dependent LTP has been reported in rodents ^{422–424,433} as well as in humans ⁴²⁵. Depending on the induction protocols, short-duration LTP (lasting less than 1 hr) can be induced by a single high frequency or theta burst stimulation, which is abolished by

NMDAR blockers and does not require CRE-mediated transcription. Longer-duration LTP (lasting hours) requires stronger induction (e.g. multiple theta bursts or high-frequency trains) and is dependent on LTCC and CRE-mediated transcription ^{432,434}. These two calcium channels are also involved in LTP in various other structures including the amygdala ^{435,436}, anterior cingulate gyrus ⁴³⁷, insular cortex ⁴³⁸, superior colliculi ⁴³⁹, and olfactory bulb ⁴⁴⁰. Concurrently, both NMDARs and LTCCs are implicated in various learning models such as spatial memory ^{185,441}, fear conditioning ^{435,} and associative olfactory learning ^{375,440}.

Early odor preference learning can be induced in neonatal rat ^{442,443} or mouse ^{444,445} by pairing a novel odor with a tactile stimulus that signals maternal care (e.g. stroking the body of the pup with a brush). This model has the advantage of being welldefined with respect to the sites of learning and the temporal phases of the memory (short-term memory (STM) vs. long-term memory (LTM)) ³²⁹, therefore it is an ideal model to study memory mechanisms. The piriform cortex is critically involved in odor memory encoding. Blocking NMDARs in the anterior piriform cortex (aPC) prevents odor preference learning in pups and LTP induction in vitro ³⁷³. However, whether LTCCs in the aPC are necessary for early odor learning has not been tested. In this study, we first investigated the relationship of the NMDARs and LTCCs in generating somatic calcium transients in aPC pyramidal neurons, and then we studied the interaction of the NMDARs and LTCCs in odor preference learning in week-old neonatal mice.

75

2.3 Materials and Methods

In the following sections, I will describe my methodology for the study.

2.3.1 Subjects

Postnatal day (PND) 7-9 C57BL/6 mouse pups (Charles River) of both sexes were subjects. Mice were bred on site and housed under a 12 h light/dark cycle with ad libitum dry food and water. Procedures were consistent with the Canadian Council of Animal Care guidelines and approved by the Memorial University Institutional Animal Care Committee.

2.3.2 Fluorescence Immunohistochemistry

PND 8-10 pups were anesthetized with pentobarbital i.p. (150 mg/kg, Rafter 8 Products) and perfused transcardially with saline (0.9%), followed by paraformaldehyde (4%, dissolved in 0.1 M PBS). Brains were collected and placed in 4% paraformaldehyde overnight at 4°C, and then transferred to a sucrose solution (20%) for an additional 24 h before slicing.

For slicing, 25 µm coronal sections were cut using a cryostat (HM550, Thermo Scientific) and mounted on chrome-gelatin coated slides. Slides were kept at 4°C for 10 min before being brought to room temperature to dry. An LTCC anti-Cav1.2 antibody (1:200, Alomone Labs) was applied to the slides. The antibody was dissolved in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) with 2% Triton-X-100, 0.002% sodium azide, and 5% normal goat serum and left on sections overnight at 4°C in a humidified chamber. The following day, the slides were washed with PBS and a goat anti-rabbit Alexa 488 2nd antibody (1:200, Molecular Probe) was applied to the slices for 1 hr. Slides were then washed 3x10 min in PBS and coverslipped with anti-fade mounting medium (Vectashield, Vector). Images were taken with a Fluoview FV1000 confocal microscope (Olympus) and processed in Corel Photo-Paint X4 software.

2.3.3 Calcium Imaging

Pups were decapitated under halothane anesthesia. Sagittal PC slices (300 μ m) were cut in an ice-cold sucrose cutting solution (in mM: 83 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 3.3 MgSO₄, 1 NaH₂PO₄, 26.2 NaHCO₃, 22 glucose, 72 sucrose, 0.5 CaCl₂) equilibrated with 95% O₂/5% CO₂^{36,37}. Slices were then incubated in the same sucrose solution containing Oregon Green BAPTA-1 AM (10-20 μ M, with 0.02% Pluronic F-127, Molecular Probes) at 34°C for 30-60 min, before washed and left in no-dye solution at room temperature. The recording was conducted in an open bath chamber where slices were perfused with artificial cerebrospinal fluid (aCSF in mM: 110 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 1.3 MgSO₄, 1 NaH₂PO₄, 26.2 NaHCO₃, 22 glucose, 2.5 CaCl₂) at 30.0°C. Slices were visualized with an Olympus BX51WI upright microscope. In vitro population, calcium imaging followed established procedures³⁶. Image acquisition (488 nm excitation, 2x2 binning, 15 Hz) was carried out with a cooled-CCD camera system (Andor Clara, T.I.L.L. Photonics). A concentric bipolar stimulating electrode (FHC) was placed in the lateral olfactory tract (LOT) of the aPC. LOT was stimulated (25-30 μ A) by an ISO-Flex stimulator (AMPI) with a 200 μ sec pulse. Sagittal slice cutting and recording configurations are demonstrated in Supplementary Figure 2.1. Drugs used included APV (50 μ M, Sigma Aldrich), nifedipine (10 μ M, Tocris), BayK 8644 (20 μ M, Tocris) and NBQX (40 μ M; Tocris).

Image processing and analysis were performed with ImageJ (NIH) and Excel. Activity maps of cell ensembles were constructed by averaging 4-6 frames of evoked calcium responses from 5 stimulus trials, background subtracted and median filtered for illustration only (examples in Figure 1A1, 1B1, 2A1, 2B1, 3A1 and 3B1). Changes of somatic [Ca²⁺] were expressed as relative fluorescence changes (Δ F/F, where F is the baseline fluorescence before a stimulus and Δ F is the evoked change in fluorescence). Δ F/F was measured in areas of interest in the soma of layer II/III pyramidal cells. The average of the three peak frames immediately following the stimulation was used to indicate the size of the calcium transient. Fifteen to thirty-five cells were randomly selected in each slice image.

2.3.4 Behavioral Studies

Behavioral experiments were carried out in a temperature-controlled room (27°C) and followed previously established protocols^{32,35} as described below.

2.3.5 Drug infusion

Intracerebral drug infusions were carried out on PND7 pups following cannula surgeries. Pups were anesthetized via hypothermia (under ice) and placed skull flat in a stereotaxic apparatus. An incision of the skin was made to expose the skull where two small holes were drilled. Two infusion cannulas (Vita Needle, MA) were inserted into the brain at specific coordinates for aPC (1.8 mm anterior and 2 mm bilateral, 3.5 mm ventral with respect to bregma). The aPC coordinates were verified with 4% methylene blue dye or fluorescence bead (example see Supplementary Figure 2.2) in pilot experiments (n =6). Drugs or vehicle were infused directly via the cannulas. Half μ l of the desired solution was infused bilaterally at a rate of 0.25 μ l/min using a Hamilton syringe operated by a precision pump (Fusion 400, Chemyx Inc). The infusion tubing and cannula was left for another min before being withdrawn gently from the brain and the skin was sutured. The pups were allowed to recover on the warm bedding for 30 min before odor training. Pharmacological agents used included D-APV (500 µM, dissolved in saline), nifedipine $(100 \,\mu\text{M}, \text{dissolved in 1\% ethanol+saline})$, and a cocktail of D-APV (500 μM) and BayK 8644 (200 μ M, dissolved in 1% ethanol+saline). The vehicle used was 1% ethanol+saline.

79

2.3.6 Odor preference training

After drug or vehicle infusion, pups were subjected to an odor plus stroking (O/S⁺) or an odor only (O/S⁻) condition. Pups in the O/S⁺ groups were placed on peppermint-scented bedding (0.3 ml peppermint extract in 500 ml bedding) and stroked with a paintbrush at 30 sec interval for 10 min, thus comprising 10 trials of 30 sec stroking, interleaved by 30 sec rests. Pups in the O/S⁻ groups were placed in peppermint-scented bedding for 10 min without being stroked. All pups were returned to the dam after training.

2.3.7 Odor preference testing

Three or twenty-four hours following the odor training, pups were tested for odor preference memory in a testing apparatus. The apparatus contained a stainless steel box $(30 \times 20 \times 18 \text{ cm})$ placed over two training boxes separated by 2 cm. One box contained peppermint-scented bedding and the other contained unscented bedding, or vanillin-scented bedding (0.3 ml vanillin in 500 ml bedding; dissimilar odor test), or peppermint (70%) + vanillin (30%) mixture bedding (similar odor test). During testing, pups were placed in the 2 cm central zone. Times that pups spent over peppermint-scented versus other bedding were recorded in five one-minute trials. Pups were allowed 1 min rest between the trials in a clean cage. The percentage of the time spent over peppermint bedding over total time spent over either bedding was calculated for each pup. To

evaluate stimulus-specific memory, rats were tested alternately with dissimilar odors or similar odors first, followed with the other odor pairs 10 min later.

2.3.8 Synaptic AMPAR measurement

In separate cohorts, 3 hr following odor training, pups were decapitated, and aPCs were collected and flash frozen on dry ice ⁴⁴⁶. The aPC is located posterior to the olfactory bulbs but anterior to the termination of the LOT. The LOT is visible on the ventral surface of the brain and the aPC lies dorsal and lateral to it. Tissue was collected in a triangular shape from the ventral surface of the brain at and lateral to the LOT, posterior to the olfactory bulbs, and anterior to the termination of the LOT. Samples were stored at -80°C until further processing.

2.3.9 Synaptic membrane isolation

Extraction of synaptic membrane followed previously published procedures ⁴⁴⁶. Tissue samples were homogenized in sucrose buffer (300 μ l) on ice containing (in mM): 320 sucrose, 10 Tris (pH7.4), 1 EDTA, 1 EGTA, 1X complete protease inhibitor mixture and phosphatase inhibitor mixture (Roche). The homogenized tissue was centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 10 min. The supernatant was taken and centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 30 min to obtain a pellet, which was subsequently re-suspended in 120 μ l sucrose buffer using a pestle mixing/grinding rod (Thomas Scientific) directly in the microfuge tube.

Eight volumes of Triton X-100 buffer (in mM: 10 Triton-100, 1 EDTA, 1 EGTA, 1X protease and phosphatase inhibitors pH7.4) were added for detergent extraction (final 0.5% v/v). This suspension was incubated at 4 °C for 35 min with gentle rotation and then centrifuged at 28,000 rpm for 30 min. The pellet containing postsynaptic densities and synaptic junctions that are insoluble in Triton X-100³⁹ was re-suspended in 100 μ l of TE buffer (in mM: 100 Tris, 10 EDTA, 1% SDS, 1X protease and phosphatase inhibitors), sonicated, boiled for 5 min and stored at -80°C until use. Protein concentrations for each sample were determined by a BCA protein assay kit (Pierce). The volume of lysate required to make 35 μ g of protein for each sample was calculated.

2.3.10 Western blotting

A total of 100 µl lysate solution, sample buffer (0.3 M Tris-HCl, 10% SDS, 50% glycerol, 0.25% bromophenol blue, 0.5 M dithiothreitol), and dH2O were prepared and boiled for 2 min at 100°C. Samples and a protein ladder (Thermo Scientific) were loaded into a 7.5% SDS-PAGE gel. Sample separation by SDS-PAGE was followed by transference to a nitrocellulose membrane (Millipore). Membranes were cut horizontally at the 72 kDa level, and the upper portion was probed with a rabbit antibody for GluA1 subunits (1:7000, Cell Signalling) ⁴⁴⁷, and the lower portion was probed for β -actin (1:5000, Cell Signalling). Membranes were incubated in primary antibody overnight at 4°C on a shaker. Next day membranes were washed 3x5 min with 1X TBST. HRP-bounded 2nd antibodies were applied (1:10,000, anti-rabbit; Pierce) for 1 hr. Membranes

82

were then washed 3x10 min in TBST and enhanced chemiluminescence Western blotting substrate (Pierce) was applied. Blots were then developed on x-ray film (AGFA). Films were scanned using an image scanner (CanoScan LiDE 200), and the optical density (OD) of each band was measured using ImageJ software. Each sample was normalized to the corresponding β -actin band that was run on the same gel.

2.3.11 Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using OriginPro software (Originlab, MA). Data were presented as Mean ± S.E.M. One-way ANOVAs were used for behavioral tests with Fischer LSD post-hoc comparisons to evaluate differences between behavioral groups. One-way ANOVAs with Fisher LSD post-hoc tests or paired t-tests were used for Western blotting and calcium imaging data.

2.4 Results

In the following sections, I will describe my results from the first Chapter.

2.4.1 LTCC activation is dependent on NMDAR activation in aPC pyramidal cells

We first looked at the LTCC Cav1.2 expression in the aPC using immunohistochemistry. LTCCs were expressed in the membrane of the soma and the base of the apical dendrites of pyramidal cells in layer II/III (Figure 2.1a, n = 3), similar to the expression pattern in the hippocampus as reported previously ⁴²⁹. In contrast, in neocortex such as the motor cortex, LTCCs were also expressed in the shaft of apical dendrites (Figure 2.1b). In neither area did we observe LTCC expression in distal dendritic arbors as is normally observed for NMDARs ^{448,449}. However, we cannot exclude the possibility that LTCCs are expressed in distal dendrites in low density that is beyond the detection threshold in our method.

We then studied the effects of LTCC or NMDAR blockade on somatic calcium transient evoked by LOT stimulation. Action potentials in dye-loaded cells elicit somatic calcium transients such that cells recruited by LOT stimulation can be identified ^{450,451}. Cells with somatic transients were largely confined to the pyramidal cell layers. Similar to evoked EPSCs, somatic calcium transients correlates positively with LOT stimulation intensities (Supplementary Figure 2.3). The somatic calcium transient was reduced in the presence of APV and abolished when NBQX was added (Figure 2.2a1-2.3), suggesting calcium transients seen here were post-synaptic responses evoked by the LOT stimulation. With the moderate stimulation intensities used (25-30 μ A), single LOT stimulation evoked ~2-10% somatic calcium increase in individual cells (e.g. Figure 2.2a2, 2.2b2, 2.3a2, and 2.3b2). On average, APV reduced single LOT stimulation evoked calcium transient to $54.2 \pm 2.7\%$ of the baseline, while the residual calcium was almost abolished $(4.2 \pm 3.1\%)$ of the baseline) in the presence of NBQX (n = 80 cells from 4 slices, t = 12.38, p < 0.001 compared to APV; Figure 2.2a3). Adding nifedipine to aCSF reduced calcium transients to $86.3 \pm 0.8\%$ of the baseline, which was reversed following

84
30 min wash (101.6 \pm 0.02%, n = 110 cells from 4 slices, t = 10.61, p < 0.001 compared to nifedipine, Figure 2.2b1-3).

We next studied the interaction of the LTCC and NMDAR in eliciting somatic calcium transients. In the presence of APV, nifedipine failed to further reduce the somatic calcium transient ($50.7 \pm 0.02\%$ of the baseline in APV vs. $50.0 \pm 0.02\%$ in APV+nifedipine, t = 0.68, p = 0.49, n = 55 cells from 3 slices; Figure 2.3a1-3). This suggests that LTCC activation was subsequent to the NMDAR activation. We then tested whether a stronger stimulus could recruit LTCCs directly as may happen during theta burst or high-frequency stimulation. When 4 LOT stimulations at 100Hz were used, nifedipine still failed to further reduce calcium transients ($70.8 \pm 0.01\%$ in APV vs. $70.0 \pm 0.01\%$ in APV+nifedipine, t = 1.13, p = 0.26, n = 70 cells from 3 slices; Figure 2.3a4-5). It is noted that the calcium transient evoked with the train stimulation has a smaller NMDAR component (30%) compared to that in the single stimulus (50%), suggesting additional recruitment of other voltage-gated calcium channels or mGluRs under the stronger stimulation.

If LTCCs act downstream of the NMDARs, then direct activation of the LTCCs in the presence of NMDAR blockade should allow additional calcium influx to the cells. This is indeed the case when BayK 8644, an LTCC agonist was added in the presence of APV. Single LOT stimulation was used. BayK 8644 increased the calcium transient to $76.0 \pm 4.4\%$ compared to $46.9 \pm 2.9\%$ in APV only (t = 11.53, p < 0.001, n = 125 cells from 5 slices; Figure 2.3b1-3).

2.4.2 Differential roles of the NMDAR and LTCC in early odor preference learning

We then pursued behavioral experiments to test the roles of the NMDAR and LTCC in early odor preference learning in neonate mice. We tested the effects of NMDAR or LTCC blockade on short-term (3 hr) and long-term (24 hr) memory ⁴⁵² (Figure 2.4a) and tested whether BayK 8644 could rescue the learning from NMDAR blockade at the two-time points.

NMDAR blockade prevented 3 hr memory while blocking LTCC had no effect on this short-term memory. One-way ANOVA shows significant differences in treatment conditions ($F_{4, 20} = 53.66$, p < 0.001; Figure 2.4b). Post-hoc Fisher test shows a significant difference between the O/S⁺+vehicle (65.18 ± 1.78) and the O/S⁻+vehicle (33.09 ± 2.06) groups (n=5, t = 9.70, p < 0.001). D-APV infusion prevented odor preference memory ($36.83 \pm 2.68\%$, n=5, t = 8.57, p < 0.001) while the nifedipine group showed comparable odor preference ($65.11 \pm 1.56\%$) compared to the O/S⁺+vehicle group (t = 0.02, p > 0.05). Activating LTCCs with BayK-8644 rescued the 3 hr odor preference memory from the NMDAR blockade (67.92 ± 3.22 , n=5, t = 9.40, p < 0.01 compared to the D-APV only group).

For the 24 hr memory, both NMDAR and LTCC blockade prevented it. One-way ANOVA shows significant group effects ($F_{4, 30} = 8.69$, p < 0.001; Figure 2.4c). Post-hoc Fischer test shows a significant difference between the O/S⁺+vehicle (62.87 ± 3.92 , n = 7)

and the O/S⁻+vehicle (35.08 ± 2.93) groups (n = 7, t = 4.29, p < 0.01). Both nifedipine (35.61 ± 5.31 , n = 6) and APV (32.56 ± 5.32 , n = 7) prevented 24 hr preference memory compared to the O/S⁺+vehicle pups (p < 0.001). However, adding BayK 8644 to the APV rescued the learning at 24 hr (53.54 ± 4.95 , n = 8, t = 3.34, p < 0.01) compared to the D-APV only group.

2.4.3 NMDAR blockade impairs stimulus-specific discrimination of the conditioned odor

We were intrigued that either isolated NMDAR activation (in the presence of nifedipine) or isolated activation of LTCCs (D-APV+BayK 8644) was able to induce 3 hr memory. AMPAR synaptic insertion is implicated in both short-term and long-term odor preference memory ^{447,453}. We tested the amount of AMPAR synaptic membrane expressions in these conditions (Figure 2.5a&b; Full length blots are presented in Supplementary Figure 2.4). AMPAR synaptic expression at 3 hr in the aPC mirrored the behavioral outputs ($F_{4, 24} = 3.21$, p < 0.05; Figure 2.5b). The nifedipine group showed higher AMPAR expression (1.31 ± 0.10 , n = 6) compared to the O/O+vehicle group (1.04 ± 0.04 , n = 5, t = 2.12, p = 0.04). D-APV only prevented the AMPAR increase (1.00 ± 0.09 , n = 6, t = 0.30, p = 0.77). Co-infusion of BayK-8644 increased AMPAR (1.34 ± 0.10 , n = 6, t = 3.24, p < 0.01 compared to D-APV only group).

To understand whether and how the memories formed through either LTCCs or NMDARs differ, we performed experiments to test stimulus specificity of the 3 hr memory using odor discrimination between the conditioned odor peppermint, and a dissimilar odor vanillin, or an odor mixture (70% peppermint + 30% vanillin) (Figure 2.5a). Dissimilar odor testing yielded peppermint preference patterns similar to that in the 3 hr peppermint vs. normal bedding test ($F_{3, 25} = 47.53$, p < 0.001; Figure 2.5c1). Both nifedipine (70.97 ± 3.83, n = 7) and D-APV+BayK 8644 (74.11 ± 2.45, n = 8) groups showed significantly higher time spent over peppermint bedding compared to the O/S⁻+vehicle group (32.67 ± 2.50, n = 7, p <0.01). It has been reported previously that rat pups form a generalized avoidance or approach to other novel odors when olfactory bulb GABAa receptor ⁴⁵⁴ or CaMKII ⁴⁴⁷ is blocked. To test whether aPC LTCC activation alone without NMDARs results in generalized approach response, we tested vanillin preference in a cohort of mouse pups. D-APV+BayK 8644 pups trained with peppermint did not show any preference to the novel odor vanillin (Supplementary Figure 2.5).

However, when peppermint was tested against a similar odor mixture ($F_{3, 25} = 35.93$, p < 0.001; Figure 2.5c2), the D-APV+BayK 8644 group showed no preference for the peppermint bedding (43.35 ± 2.94 , n = 7) compared to the O/S⁻+vehicle group (38.23 ± 2.99 , n = 7, t = 1.22, p = 0.23), while the nifedipine group still showed a clear preference (67.26 ± 1.69 , n = 7, t = 6.73, p < 0.01). The fact that in the D-APV+BayK 8644 group, the same pups showed preference for peppermint in the dissimilar odor test but no preference for peppermint in the similar odor test suggests that activating LTCCs alone in the absence of NMDAR activation results in loss of stimulus specificity of the odor memory – the memory is extended to other similar stimulus that has a large component overlapping with the conditioned stimulus.

2.5 Discussion

NMDARs and LTCCs demonstrated differential roles in early odor preference learning in mouse pups. Previous work defined three temporal phases for early odor preference memory: a short-term memory (up to 3 hr) which is independent of transcription and translation, an intermediate memory (5 hr) which requires transcription but not a translation, and a long-term memory (24 hr) which is dependent on both transcription and translation ³⁷⁹. Blocking NMDARs during learning prevented both short-term (3 hr) and long-term (24 hr) memories. However, LTCC blockade prevented 24 hr memory but did not interrupt short-term memory. It is striking that LTCC blockade itself did not affect 3 hr memory and associated AMPAR increase, but activating LTCCs when the NMDARs were blocked nevertheless induced 3 hr memory and AMPAR increases. These results suggest that NMDARs, but not LTCCs, are normally required for 3 hr memory. However, when LTCCs are overdriven, it could compensate NMDAR loss to promote the AMPAR insertions needed for short-term memory.

The NMDAR and LTCC are involved in different forms of LTP in hippocampus ^{432,434}, however, whether they engage in different phases of memory has not been tested. In the amygdala, both NMDARs and LTCCs are required in LTPs with distinct induction protocols. Spike-timing-dependent LTP generated by associating pre- and postsynaptic activities requires LTCCs but not NMDARs, while a tetanic stimulation engages NMDARs exclusively ⁴³⁵. Interestingly, similar to what we observed in this study, NMDAR blockade prevents both short and long-term fear memory while blocking LTCCs exclusively affects only long-term memory ⁴³⁵. However, how these two channels are differentially engaged in the signaling pathways that lead to either short-term or long-term memory is not known. Both long-term fear memory ⁴⁵⁵ and odor preference memory ^{373,443,456} require CREB signaling. Short-term memory may only require local AMPAR insertion into the synaptic membrane mediated by calcium-activated CaMKII signalling ⁴⁴⁷.

LTCCs are expressed in the somatic membrane and at the base of the apical dendrites of pyramidal cells in the aPC. This subcellular distribution of LTCCs in pyramidal cells in the aPC is consistent with that in other structures ^{375,427–429} and implies a differential role of LTCCs in intracellular signaling from NMDARs. Early experiments in striatal neurons demonstrated sequential activation of AMPARs, NMDARs, and LTCCs ⁴⁵⁷. A model was put forward to suggest that LTCC activation is dependent on NMDARs due to their longer opening kinetics than those of AMPARs. Once activated, LTCC allows Ca²⁺ influx and activation of a kinase pathway to translocate to the nucleus to phosphorylate CREB at Ser133 ⁴⁵⁷. Our calcium imaging data showing NMDAR-dependent activation of the LTCC is consistent with this model.

Detailed downstream signaling from these calcium channels is best characterized in the hippocampal neurons. In the hippocampus, although both the NMDAR and LTCC are driven by physiologically relevant synaptic inputs to engage CREB signaling ²⁰⁴, the LTCC appears to be particularly important in coupling synaptic signaling to the nucleus ^{204,458,459}. α_{1c} -comprised LTCC contains a calmodulin (CaM) binding domain and calcium influx through LTCC activates CaM, leading to phosphorylation of CREB ⁴⁵⁹. Various routes are suggested to mediate CaM signaling from the cytosol to the nucleus ⁴⁵⁸. Either CaM translocates to the nucleus to activate calmodulin kinase IV (CaMKIV) ^{431,457,460}, or it activates other kinases (e.g. mitogen-activated protein kinase, MAPK), which in turn translocate to the nucleus to phosphorylate CREB ⁴⁵⁹.

Another intriguing finding is that LTCC activation in the absence of NMDAR activation results in impaired discrimination of the conditioned odor from a similar odor mixture. This suggests a critical role of NMDAR in mediating the stimulus specificity in early odor preference learning. NMDAR hypofunction has been linked to impaired pattern separation in the hippocampal dentate gyrus ⁴⁶¹. We propose that synaptic NMDARs associate odor-induced glutamate input with stroking/norepinephrine-induced excitation of pyramidal cells to initiate memory encoding and ensure input-specificity of the learning by activating CaMKII signaling and CaMKII- mediated AMPAR insertion ⁴⁴⁷. Meanwhile, the activation of the NMDAR leads to prolonged depolarization of the pyramidal cells and subsequently engages LTCCs. Calcium influx through LTCCs initiates CaM-mediated protein kinase translocation into the nucleus to activate CREB transcription. Direct activation of LTCCs without NMDARs may lead to AMPA insertion that affects a broader range of synapses.

Interestingly, cognitive decline during aging has been associated with increased LTCC activities in the hippocampus ^{462–464}. There is a shift from NMDAR-dependent LTP to LTCC-dependent LTP in the aging hippocampus ^{465,466}. Abnormal activity of

hippocampal neurons is correlated with impaired pattern separation ability both in aged humans ⁴⁶⁷ and in aged animals ⁴⁶⁸. Olfaction dysfunction is also common in aging populations and is one of the earliest signs indicating Alzheimer's disease (AD) development ^{469,470}. However, it is not known whether altered expressions and functions of LTCCs in the aPC underlie the olfactory deficiency in AD patients.

In summary, our results highlight the importance of balanced NMDAR and LTCC functions in encoding input-specific long-term memory.



Figure 2.1. L-type calcium channels (LTCCs) are expressed in the piriform cortex pyramidal cells

(a) LTCC expression in the anterior piriform cortex layer II/III pyramidal cells using an antibody against Cav1.2 channels. Solid arrows indicate the LTCC staining at the base of the apical dendrites. (b) LTCC expression in the motor cortex layer V pyramidal cells. Note that apical dendritic shafts (arrows) are stained.



Figure 2.2. Lateral olfactory tract (LOT) stimulation activates LTCCs (a1-a3) Somatic calcium transients in the anterior piriform pyramidal cells by LOT stimulations are dependent on postsynaptic AMPARs and NMDARs. (a1) Example images of population calcium imaging evoked by a single LOT stimulation in control, D-

APV and D-APV+NBQX conditions. Images were constructed by averaging 4-6 frames of evoked calcium responses (Δ F/F) from 5 stimulus trials. Example calcium transient traces from 4 cells are shown on the right. (a2) Peak calcium transients (Δ F/F%) averaged from a population of cells (yellow circles, regions of interest) on the same slice. (a3). Normalized calcium changes (to control) during D-APV and D-APV+NBQX applications from 4 slices (n = 80 cells). (b1-b3) Blockade of LTCCs reduces somatic calcium transients in pyramidal cells. (b1) Example images of population calcium imaging in control, nifedipine (Nif) and Nif washout conditions. (b2). Peak calcium transients averaged from a population of cells on the same slice. (b3) Normalized calcium changes during Nif and Nif washout from 4 slices (n = 110 cells). **p < 0.01.



Figure 2.3. LTCC activation is subsequent to NMDAR activation

(a1-a5) Nifedipine does not further reduce calcium transients in the presence of NMDAR blockade by D-APV. (a1) Example images of population calcium imaging in control, D-APV and D-APV+Nif conditions. Example calcium transient traces from 4 cells are shown on the right. (a2) Peak calcium transients (Δ F/F%) to a single LOT stimulation, averaged from a population of cells (yellow circles) on the same slice. (a3) Normalized calcium changes (to control) to a single LOT stimulation during D-APV and D-APV+Nif applications from 3 slices (n = 55 cells). (a4) Peak calcium transients to 4 LOT stimulations at 100 Hz. (a5) Normalized calcium changes to 4 LOT stimulations from 3 slices (n = 70 cells). (b1-b3) Application of BayK-8644 increased somatic calcium transients in the presence of D-APV. (b1) Example images of population calcium imaging in control, D-APV, and D-APV+BayK-8644 conditions. (b2) Peak calcium transients averaged from a population of cells on the same slice. (b3) Normalized calcium changes during D-APV and D-APV+BayK-8644 from 5 slices (n = 125 cells). **p < 0.01.



Figure 2.4. Differential roles of NMDARs and LTCCs in early odor preference learning

(a) Schematics of the odor preference training and testing paradigm. (b) Percentage of time spent over peppermint (PP)-scented bedding at 3 hr testing. (c) Percentage of time spent over PP-scented bedding at 24 hr testing. **p < 0.01.



Figure 2.5. NMDARs but not LTCCs mediates input-specific discrimination of the conditioned odor

(a) Schematics of the odor preference training and testing paradigm. (b) Relative optical densities (ROIs) of AMPAR expression (normalized to beta-actin) in various groups at 3 hr post-training. Full-length blots are presented in Supplementary Figure 2. (c1) Percentage of time spent over peppermint (PP)-scented bedding when tested with two dissimilar odors. (c2) Percentage of time spent over PP-scented bedding when tested with PP *vs.* PP+VA (vanillin) mixture. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01.

Chapter 3

Unlearning: NMDA receptor-mediated metaplasticity in the anterior piriform cortex following early odor preference training in rats. (This Chapter is a modified version of Mukherjee et al. J Neurosci. 2014 Apr 9;34(15):5143-51. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0128-14.2014.)

3.1 Abstract

Here we demonstrate metaplastic change in NMDA receptor (NMDAR) number in the anterior piriform cortex (aPC) in rat induced by, a 10 min pairing of peppermint odor+stroking, which significantly modifies later learning and memory. Using isolated synaptoneurosomes, we found GluN1 receptor down-regulation 3 hr after training and upregulation at 24 hr. Consistent with the GluN1 pattern, the NMDAR-mediated EPSP was smaller at 3 hr and larger at 24 hr. Subunit composition was unchanged. While long-term potentiation (LTP) was reduced at both times by training, long-term depression (LTD) was facilitated only at 3 hr.

Behaviorally, pups, given a pairing of peppermint+stroking 3 hr after an initial peppermint+stroking training, lose the normally acquired peppermint preference 24 hr later. To probe the pathway specificity of this unlearning effect, pups were trained first with peppermint and then, at 3 hr, given a second training with peppermint or vanillin. Pups given peppermint training at both times lost the learned peppermint preference. Pups given vanillin re-training had normal peppermint preference when trained 3 hr later. Down-regulating GluN1 with siRNA prevented odor preference learning. Finally, the NMDAR antagonist, MK-801, blocked the LTD facilitation seen 3 hr post-training and giving MK-801 prior to the second peppermint training trial eliminated the loss of peppermint odor preference. A training-associated reduction in NMDARs facilitates LTD 3 hr later; while training at the time of LTD facilitation reverses an LTP-dependent odor preference. Experience-dependent, pathway-specific metaplastic effects in a cortical structure have broad implications for the optimal spacing of learning experiences.

3.2 Introduction

Early odor preference learning in the week-old rat pup is a well-studied model of Pavlovian associative conditioning ²⁷¹. As rat pups have neither normal visual or auditory

input, they are dependent for survival on the dam; thus orienting to dam-associated odors is essential ⁴⁷¹. Odor associative learning also occurs in newborn human infants ^{472,473}. In the rat pup model, a single 10 min pairing of odor (conditioned stimulus or CS) and maternal care signals such as dorsal whole body stroking (unconditioned stimulus or US) induces a protein-synthesis dependent 24 hr odor preference memory ³⁷⁹.

In addition to neural changes in the olfactory bulb, which have been extensively studied 414,474 , neural changes in the anterior piriform cortex (aPC) are also necessary, and sufficient, for the expression of early odor preference learning 373 . A CS, typically peppermint odor, paired with a β -adrenoceptor agonist infusion in aPC, induces odor preference learning, while either a locally infused β -adrenoceptor antagonist, or a locally infused NMDA receptor (NMDAR) antagonist, prevents odor preference learning.

A strong feature of the rat pup odor-conditioning model is that the anterior commissure is not yet developed ³⁸³ and odor input can be restricted to a single hemisphere using temporary unilateral naris occlusion during training ^{451,475}. The reduction in response variability permitted by this within-subject control revealed, in ex vivo slices, that an increase in the AMPA receptor (AMPAR)-mediated synaptic response to lateral olfactory tract (LOT) input in the aPC parallels odor preference memory ^{373,451,475}. Calcium imaging in the same preparation reveals an increase in the activation of

pyramidal cells in aPC following training ⁴⁵¹, implying a stronger network representation for the trained odor.

The NMDAR plays a critical role as a co-incidence detector for mediating AMPAR plasticity in associative learning (Malenka and Bear, 2004), including early odor preference learning ^{373,476}. Research in the past two decades has provided evidence that the NMDAR itself is dynamic and undergoes plastic changes, including changes in the number of receptors and in subunit composition ⁴⁷⁷. Long-term plasticity of NMDARmediated synaptic transmission such as LTP and LTD has been extensively characterized in vitro, using acute brain slices and neuronal cultures ^{195,478}. Activity-dependent NMDAR plasticity in vivo has been reported in the visual cortex ^{479,480} and the olfactory system ^{213,476,481}. However, its functional significance in learning is not well understood. Here, we examine odor training-induced modulation of the NMDAR and its associated plasticity effects in the aPC. We find metaplastic, pathway–specific changes that modulate the rat pup response to subsequent associative odor training.

3.3 Materials and Methods

In the following sections I will describe all the methods I have used for my experiment in my second project.

3.3.1 Animals and Ethics Statement

All experimental procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care Committee at Memorial University of Newfoundland with adherence to the guidelines set by the Canadian Council on Animal Care. Sprague Dawley rat pups of either sex (Charles River) were used in this study. Animals were bred and pups were born on-site at the research facility. Litters were culled to 12 pups with equal numbers of males and females on postnatal day 1 (PND1; day of birth is designated PND0). Dams were maintained with ad libitum access to food and water.

3.3.2 Behavioral Studies

Behavioral experiments were carried out in a temperature controlled room at approximately 28°C and followed the standard protocol previously established for early odor preference learning ^{443,482} as described below. One-way ANOVAs and post hoc Fisher tests were used to determine statistical significance throughout the experiments.

3.3.3 Odor preference training and testing

On PND 6 or 7, pups were assigned to an odor plus stroking (O/S^+) or an odor only (O/S^-) condition. Pups were removed from the nest and placed on normal bedding for 10 min. After this habituation period, pups receiving conditioning training (O/S^+) were placed on scented bedding (peppermint or vanillin; 0.3 mL odorant extract in 500 mL bedding) and vigorously stroked with a paintbrush for 30 sec, followed by a 30 sec rest, for a total of 10 min. Pups in the non-learning condition (O/S⁻) were placed in peppermint-scented bedding for 10 min without stroking, following the habituation period. Pups were returned to the dam after training.

For O/S⁺ pups that were re-trained at 3 hr or 24 hr following the first training, they were exposed to peppermint or vanillin-scented bedding while being stroked, with the same procedure as in the first training. A control group was initially trained with peppermint+stroking, and then re-trained with peppermint odor only at 24 hr. A subset of peppermint+stroking re-trained pups underwent systemic intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of either MK-801, an NMDAR antagonist (0.1 mg/kg in 50 µl saline, Tocris), or saline, 40 min before the onset of the re-training.

Twenty-four hrs after a given training or retraining episode (e.g. 48 h after initial training for pups receiving a 24 h retraining event), pups were tested for odor preference memory using a two-choice odor preference procedure. The testing apparatus was a stainless steel box (30 x 20 x 18 cm) placed over two training boxes. One box contained peppermint-scented bedding and the other contained normal, unscented bedding. Testing boxes were separated by a 2 cm neutral zone. For testing, pups were removed from the dam and placed in the neutral zone. Times that pups spent over scented versus normal

105

bedding were recorded in five one-minute trials, each separated by a one-min rest in a clean cage. The average time spent over peppermint bedding was calculated for each pup.

3.3.4 Reversible naris occlusion for ex vivo experiments

Nose plugs were constructed using polyethylene 20 (PE 20) tubing and silk surgical thread as per procedures described previously ^{373,483}. A small dab of a sterile jelly of local anesthetic, 2% Xylocaine (AstraZeneca), was applied to the left naris of the pup and let rest for ~3 min before the plug was gently inserted in the left naris. The pup was then placed on unscented bedding to habituate to the nose plug, followed by appropriate odor conditioning training with peppermint-scented bedding. The nose plug was removed immediately following training and pups returned to dams. Some control pups were subjected to naris occlusions only for the same amount of time without undergoing odor training. Pups that underwent lateralized odor training were killed at various time points for tissue collection for either Western blot or electrophysiological recording.

3.3.5 Intracerebral infusion of SiRNA

SiRNA for the NMDA GluN1 receptor was infused into the aPC on PND 3, followed by behavioral training on PND 7. PND 3 pups were anesthetized via hypothermia and placed in a stereotaxic apparatus in a skull flat position. A horizontal incision was made to expose the skull and two small holes were drilled. One µl of 1% GluN1 SiRNA mixed in RNase free vehicle (Dharmacon ACCELL SiRNA delivery media, Thermo Scientific) or 1% control non-targeting SiRNA was injected into the aPC (2 mm anterior to bregma, 3 mm bilateral, 5 mm below the surface) using a Hamilton syringe. In some pups, SiRNA or control was injected into the olfactory bulbs. The injection was carried out over 4 min and the syringe was left in site for another 6 min before being gently withdrawn from the brain. The skin was sutured and the pups recovered in a heated cage. Thirty min following recovery from the surgery, pups were returned to the dam.

On PND 7, pups with bilateral GluN1 SiRNA or non-targeting control infusions underwent behavioral training and on the following day were tested with peppermintscented bedding. Pups with unilateral GluN1 SiRNA infusion and non-targeting control SiRNA injected into the opposite aPC or olfactory bulb were killed for tissue collection for Western blots.

3.3.6 Western blots of synaptoneurosomes

Three or 24 hr following lateralized odor training, or on PND 7 following unilateral GluN1 SiRNA injections (conducted on PND 3), pups were decapitated, and aPCs or olfactory bulbs were collected and flash frozen on dry ice. Samples were stored at -80°C until further processing.

3.3.7 Synaptoneurosome isolation

All samples were kept on ice during the synaptoneurosome extraction in order to minimize proteolysis. Brain samples were homogenized in oxygenated HEPES buffer (in mM: 50 HEPES, 124 NaCl, 26 NaHCO₂, 1.3 MgCl₂, 2.5 CaCl₂, 3.2 KCl, 1.06 KH₂PO₄, 10 glucose, 1 EDTA, 1 PMSF, complete protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche), complete phosphatase inhibitor cocktail (Roche), saturated with 95%O₂/5% CO₂, pH 7.4), using Teflon-glass tissue homogenizers (Thomas Scientific). Lysed samples were kept on ice for 10 min for incubation in the buffer and were then passed through 3 pre-wetted filters using a 13 mm diameter syringe filter holder (Millipore). The first two filters were 100 μ m nylon filters (Small Parts Inc.) and the last filter was a 5 μ m pore hydrophilic filter (Millipore). Filtrates were centrifuged at 1000 x g for 20 min at 4°C, following which the pellets were resuspended in HEPES buffer. These pellets represent the synaptoneurosome fraction. Protein concentrations for each sample were determined using a BCA protein assay kit (Pierce). The volume of lysate required to make 40 µg of protein for each sample was calculated.

3.3.8 Western Blotting

Sixty μ L total volume solutions of lysate (volume required for 40 μ g protein), sample buffer (0.3 M TRIS-HCl, 10% SDS, 50% glycerol, 0.25% bromophenol blue, 0.5 M dithiothreitol) and dH₂O were prepared and boiled for 5 min at 100°C. Samples were then loaded into lanes of a 7.5% SDS-PAGE gel, along with a protein ladder (Thermo Scientific) and loading buffer for empty lanes. Sample separation occurred through SDS-PAGE, followed by transference to a nitrocellulose membrane (Amersham). Membranes were cut horizontally at the 72 kDa level and the upper portion was probed with a rabbit antibody for GluN1 (1:2000, blocked in BSA; Cell Signalling) subunits, and the lower portion was probed for β-actin (1:5000, blocked in 4% m.f. milk; Cedarlane). Membranes were incubated in primary antibody and agitated overnight at 4°C. Secondary antibodies bound to horseradish peroxidase were applied the following day (1:20,000, anti-rabbit; Pierce) and membranes were then washed in Enhanced chemiluminescence Western blotting substrate (Pierce). Finally, blots were developed on X-ray film (AGFA).

Films were scanned onto a computer using an image scanner (CanoScan LiDE 200) and the optic density (OD) of each band was measured using ImageJ software. Each

sample was normalized to the corresponding β -actin band that was run on the same gel. In pups that underwent lateralized odor training, each spared hemisphere was normalized to its naris-occluded counterpart. In pups with SiRNA infusion, the GluN1 SiRNA infused hemisphere was normalized to its non-targeting control counterpart. Experimental values are reported as mean ± SEM of the relative expression of the normalized GluN1 subunit. A one-way ANOVA was used to evaluate differences in the mean OD.

3.3.9 Electrophysiology: Tissue Preparation and Extracellular Recording

Pups were anesthetized by halothane or isoflurane inhalation and quickly decapitated. Brain tissue was extracted and placed in a high glucose artificial cerebral spinal fluid (aCSF; in mM, 83 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 0.5 CaCl₂, 3.3 MgSO₄, 1 NaH₂PO₄, 26.2 NaHCO₃, 22 glucose, & 72 sucrose, equilibrated with 95% O₂ and 5% CO₂) for approximately 10 minutes. Sagittal slices (400µm) of the piriform cortex were cut using a vibrating blade (Vibratome 1000P, Leica Microsystems) and incubated at 34°C in the aforementioned solution for 30 minutes then returned to room temperature. Tissue slices were recorded in aCSF (in mM, 119 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 2.5 CaCl₂, 1.3 MgSO₄, 1 NaH₂PO₄, 26.2 NaHCO₃, 22 glucose, equilibrated with 95% O₂ and 5% CO₂) at 30-32°C and viewed with an upright microscope (Olympus BX51). Extracellular field potentials were recorded with glass pipettes filled with aCSF and placed in layer Ia of the aPC. A concentric bipolar stimulating pipette (FHC) was lowered into the LOT and delivered single test pulses, ranging from 10-60 µA.

Electrophysiological data were recorded with Multiclamp 700B (Molecular Devices), filtered at 2 kHz and digitized at 10 kHz. Data acquisition and analysis were performed with pClamp10 and ClampFit 2.10 (Molecular Devices) and Igor Pro 6.10A (WaveMetrics). Student's t-tests were used to determine statistical significance.

3.3.10 Ex vivo electrophysiology

PND 7-10 pups undergoing ex vivo electrophysiological recording were subjected to odor conditioning with one naris occluded as described earlier. Following a 10 min habituation period, pups underwent O/S^+ or O/S^- training on peppermint-scented bedding. Upon completion, the plugs were removed and pups were returned to the dam. Pups were sacrificed 3 or 24 hr following training and brain slices were prepared. The hemispheres of the brain were kept separately within the incubation chamber in order to achieve intra-animal control.

The NMDAR component of the field EPSP (fEPSP) was isolated using NBQX, an AMPAR antagonist (5 μ M, Tocris) and low Mg²⁺ (100 μ M) aCSF ^{475,481}. The NMDAR input/output (I/O) relationship was measured as the ratio of the size of the presynaptic fiber volley (FV) to the slope of the fEPSP, and compared between the spared and occluded slices. The AMPAR component of the fEPSP was measured as the initial slope of the fEPSP in normal aCSF ^{373,451}. The ratio of AMPAR to NMDAR was measured as

the slope of fEPSP recorded in normal aCSF to that recorded in NBQX and low Mg^{2+} at the same stimulation intensity. Ifenprodil (3 μ M; a GluN2B antagonist, Tocris) was used to isolate the non-GluN2B NMDAR synaptic potential and bath applied to the slice for 30 min. The GluN2B mediated fEPSP was measured as the fraction of NMDAR fEPSP that was blocked by ifenprodil.

For LTP recording, a baseline of fEPSPs evoked by single pulse test stimulation was recorded at 0.05 Hz until the last 10 min were consistent and was then followed by eight theta burst stimulations (TBS; 10 times 5 Hz trains, each train contains 5 pulses at 100 Hz) separated by 30 sec. The stimulation intensity for recording and stimulation was determined as that at which 50% of the maximum response was evoked. For LTD recording, the same procedure was used except the induction was initiated by 900 low frequency stimulations at 1 Hz. The stimulation intensity was set to provoke 60-70% of the maximal fEPSP response. In a subset of LTD experiments, MK-801 (40 µM) was bath applied to the slice for 10 min before induction and washed out after induction. The recordings were analyzed to determine the amount of LTP or LTD (compared to the baseline) at the LOT to aPC synapses. Data were binned to demonstrate the fEPSP value per min.

3.4 Results

112

In following sections I will describe my results from the second Chapter.

3.4.1 Plasticity of NMDARs in the aPC 3 hr and 24 hr following early odor preference learning

Morrison et al (2013) showed that early odor preference training results in increased AMPAR responses at the LOT synapses in the aPC at both 3 hr and 24 hr posttraining. NMDARs in the aPC mediate early odor preference learning and likely mediate the AMPAR LTP observed ex vivo following learning. The present study tests whether the NMDAR itself undergoes plasticity following early odor preference learning.

Rat pups underwent early odor preference learning with single naris occluded during training. Western blot analyses of synaptoneurosome extracts from the aPC of occluded and spared hemispheres were compared at 3 hr or 24 hr time points post training. A one-way ANOVA revealed significant differences among groups ($F_{(5,41)} = 3.17$, p < 0.05; Figure 3.1). At 3 hr following O/S⁺ learning, there was a significant down-regulation in GluN1 (0.67 ± 0.12, n = 9) that was not found 3 hr following O/S⁻ training (1.40 ± 0.19, n = 9). At 24 hr, there was a significant up-regulation in GluN1 in O/S⁺ (1.59 ± 0.15, n = 7) animals, and not O/S⁻ animals (1.02 ± 0.18, n = 8). Animals that did not receive any training and were subjected to naris occlusions only did not show different GluN1 levels from two hemispheres at either time point. Post hoc Fisher LSD tests showed that O/S⁺ 3 hr pups expressed significantly less GluN1 compared to both no odor 3 hr animals (p < 0.05) and O/S⁻ 3 hr animals (p < 0.01). O/S⁺ 24 hr animals yielded

113

significantly higher GluN1 expression compared to O/S⁺ 3 h (p < 0.05) and O/S⁻ 24 h animals (p < 0.05). Together, these results suggest that conditioning leads to NMDAR GluN1 subunit expression down-regulation 3 hr and an up-regulation 24 hr following O/S⁺ training.

Next we examined the expression of NMDAR plasticity in the aPC. We focused on the LOT afferent input synapses where AMPAR LTP was previously observed following early odor preference learning ^{373,451}. Ex vivo electrophysiology was conducted 3 hr or 24 hr following lateralized odor training (O/S⁺). Lateralized training allows a within-animal control at this age ^{373,451,475}. We measured the NMDAR fEPSP I/O relationship in the presence of NBQX. The I/O relationship measuring the ratio of fEPSP slope to the presynaptic FV of the LOT allows us to directly compare the relative number of functional NMDARs at LOT synapses from spared and occluded hemispheres of the same animals ^{475,481}. A paired t-test showed that at 3 hr post training, there was a decrease in the NMDAR I/O in the spared (0.021 ± 0.004, n = 6) hemisphere compared to the occluded hemisphere (0.049 ± 0.007; n = 6, t = 5.75, p < 0.01; Figure 3.2A1), indicating less NMDAR response for a given input. However, at 24 hr post O/S⁺ training, there was an increase in NMDAR I/O in the spared (0.060 ± 0.008, n = 7) versus the occluded hemisphere (0.034 ± 0.004, n = 7, t = 2.71, p < 0.05; Figure 3.2A2). The decrease of NMDAR fEPSPs at 3 hr, and the increase at 24 hr post odor training are consistent with the changes of GluN1 subunit expression levels observed with Western blotting, suggesting plasticity of GluN1 occurs at the LOT synapses. To test whether there is also an NMDAR composition change such as a switch from GluN2B to GluN2A subunits as observed following odor associative learning in adult rats ²¹³, we measured the percentage of the GluN2B response relative to the total NMDAR fEPSP. At both 3 hr (42.4 ± 10.27% occluded, vs. 37.24 ± 8.99 spared, n = 5, t = 0.29, p > 0.05; Figure 3.2B1), and 24 hr (45.92 ± 9.61% occluded, vs. 43.48 ± 12.20 spared, n = 7, t = 0.19, p > 0.05; Figure 3.2B2), there was no difference in the fraction of GluN2B responses. Together, these results suggest NMDAR plasticity at the LOT synapse following early odor preference learning, is due to changes in the numbers of GluN1 essential subunits. The fractions of GluN2B subunits are similar in both hemispheres suggesting that GluN2B levels parallel GluN1 levels and there are no subunit composition changes.

3.4.2 GluN1 down-regulation at 3 hr coincides with decreased LTP and increased LTD at the LOT synapse

What is the consequence of the changes in NMDARs for the synaptic state and plasticity? We first looked at the ratio of AMPAR to NMDAR response at the LOT synapse following learning. We found that there was an increase in the AMPAR/NMDAR ratio at 3 hr (28.17 \pm 3.47 occluded, vs. 66.56 \pm 6.47 spared, n = 6, t =

4.46, p < 0.01; Figure 3.2C1). This is consistent with both an increase in AMPAR response as observed previously (Morrison et al., 2013) and a decrease in the NMDAR response as observed in this study. However, at 24 hr post-training, there was no difference between the occluded hemisphere (37.15 ± 4.03 , n = 7) and the spared hemisphere (40.45 ± 9.62 , n = 7, t = 0.36, p > 0.05; Figure 3.2C2). The finding of no change in the AMPAR/NMDAR ratio at 24 hr is likely due to proportional increases in both AMPAR ³⁷³ and NMDAR responses. Developmentally, an increased AMPAR/NMDAR ratio coincides with decreased AMPAR LTP in the olfactory cortex ⁴⁸¹.

We then explored how changes in NMDAR expression and response following early odor learning shape synaptic plasticity at the LOT synapse. It has been shown that LTP at the LOT synapse is excluded in the trained hemisphere at 24 hr following early odor preference learning ³⁷³. Consistent with this result, we observed a learning-induced LTP exclusion effect also at 3 hr post-training. In the untrained hemispheres, on average the fEPSP slope size increased to $115.5 \pm 2.9\%$ at 30 min following TBS induction (n = 6), whereas in the trained hemisphere, no LTP of the fEPSP was observed (95.9 ± 4.2%, n = 6). Accordingly, there was a significant difference between the two groups at 30 min post-induction (t = 3.80, p < 0.01, Figure 3.3A). We next tested LTD inductions 3 hr following odor training ex vivo in naris occluded versus spared hemispheres. A low frequency induction protocol (900 pulses at 1 Hz) ⁴⁸⁴ resulted in LTD of the fEPSP in the spared hemisphere (80.5 ± 9.4% of the baseline, n = 6, t = 2.08, p < 0.05), but not in the occluded hemisphere (105.7 \pm 18.3% of the baseline, n = 6, t = 0.31, p > 0.05; Figure 3.3B). Interestingly, at 24 hr following odor training, there was no LTD induction and no difference in the two hemisphere groups (96.8 \pm 6.4% occluded, vs. 93.0 \pm 11.9% spared, n = 7, t = 0.29, p > 0.05, Figure 3.3C). Together with the previous report ³⁷³, we show that at 3 hr post-training, there is decreased LTP induction at the LOT synapse, in parallel with an increase in LTD induction. However, at 24 hr post-training, there is only decreased LTP induction, without a parallel and opposite change in LTD induction. While an increased AMPAR response at both 3 hr and 24 hr ³⁷³ may result in a ceiling effect of synaptic LTP and account for LTP exclusion at both time points, a decrease in NMDARs at 3 hr may also account for less LTP and appears to be solely responsible for a lower threshold for LTD induction. Down-regulation of NMDAR induces metaplasticity that alters the plastic state of the previously active synapses.

3.4.3 GluN1 down-regulation at 3 hr interferes with learning at the same synapse

What is the functional significance of NMDAR down-regulation following early odor learning? Particularly, how would down-regulation of NMDARs at 3 hr following the first training influence another episode of learning at the same synapse? To answer this question, we designed experiments in which animals were trained in two trials separated by a 3 hr interval. During the first training session, pups were assigned to one of the two bedding conditions and underwent O/S⁺ training: peppermint bedding, or vanillin bedding. The vanillin bedding group was re-trained with peppermint bedding 3 hr later.

117

Pups in the peppermint bedding group during the first training were divided into five groups: one group was re-trained with peppermint bedding at 3 hr, one group was retrained with vanillin bedding at 3 hr, one group was re-trained with peppermint bedding at 24 hr, one group was exposed to peppermint bedding only at 24 hr, and one group was not re-trained. An O/S⁻ group trained once was also included as a negative control. Odor preference testing showed significant group effects ($F_{(6,56)} = 14.70$, p < 0.01; Figure 3.4). Interestingly, pups trained two times in peppermint bedding with a 3 hr interval showed no preference learning for the peppermint ($42.98 \pm 3.88\%$, n = 10) 24 hr later, compared to the O/S⁺ one-time training group ($61.30 \pm 4.78\%$, n = 10, p < 0.01). The vanillin bedding group showed normal 24 hr learning to peppermint when re-trained with peppermint bedding 3 hr following the first training (66.03 \pm 4.30%, n = 10), compared to the O/S⁻ group ($31.92 \pm 3.62\%$, n = 10, p < 0.01). Re-training with vanillin bedding did not impair the odor preference memory to the first training odor peppermint (71.69 \pm 4.84%, n = 7) compared to the O/S⁻ group (p < 0.01). Pups trained two times in peppermint only bedding but separated by a 24 hr interval did not show any learning deficiency (66.77 \pm 4.41, n = 9), this is in comparison with the group that was re-exposed to peppermint only at 24 hr, which showed no preference memory to peppermint (25.43 \pm 7.45%, n = 7, p < 0.01). This suggests any effect of re-training with peppermint+stroking cannot be explained by peppermint exposure itself and confirms the limited duration of one trial peppermint preference memory.

Our results suggest that re-training at 3 hr interferes with the expression of odor preference induced by initial exposure. This learning interference coincides with NMDAR down-regulation, reduced LTP and increased LTD induction at LOT synapses. To establish the causal relationship between NMDAR down-regulation and learning deficiency, we infused SiRNA that specifically down-regulates the NMDA GluN1 subunit bilaterally into the aPCs. Western blots showed that four days following the initial injection of SiRNA into the brain, the GluN1 subunit was significantly down-regulated compared to the control hemisphere, no matter whether it was in the olfactory bulb (51.4 \pm 12.3% of the control hemisphere, n = 5, t =3.95, p < 0.05; Figure 3.5A) or in the aPC $(33.7 \pm 4.9\%)$ of the control counterpart, n = 6, t = 13.62, p < 0.01; Figure 3.5B). Behavioral experiments ($F_{(3,30)} = 3.66$, p < 0.05; Figure 3.5C) demonstrated that SiRNA bilateral infusion into the aPCs prevented early odor preference learning ($41.8 \pm 6.3\%$, n = 10) compared with the controls (67.0 \pm 6.1%, n= 8, p < 0.01). This result suggests that GluN1 down-regulation globally in the aPC results in odor learning deficiency in rat pups. Therefore it is likely that GluN1 down-regulation 3 hr following the first training accounts for impaired learning during re-training.

3.4.4 Metaplasticity at 3 hr following early odor training is NMDAR-dependent

How could re-training involving the same synapses that supported learning impair subsequent learning or memory expression? NMDAR down-regulation at 3 hr following the first training coincides with enhanced LTD induction at the LOT synapse. NMDAR- dependent Ca²⁺ influx is critical for both LTP and LTD. A high rise of intracellular Ca²⁺ through NMDAR triggers LTP and a slower, lower rise of Ca²⁺ favors LTD induction ^{145,485}. We tested the hypothesis that fewer NMDARs at the same synapse during retraining lowers the amount of Ca²⁺ influx and favors LTD induction. We first asked, by using ex vivo slices 3 hr post O/S⁺ training, whether LTD induction at the LOT synapse is affected by NMDAR blockage. When MK-801, an NMDA open channel blocker was bath applied to the slices, LTD induction was abolished (104.7 ± 10.9% of the baseline at 30 min post-induction, n = 7, t = 0.43, p > 0.05, Figure 3.6). This result suggests that the NMDAR and likely calcium influx through NMDAR, mediates LTD induction 3 hr following O/S⁺ training.

We next examined whether NMDAR blockage during re-training would allow early odor preference memory to be expressed. We compared three groups: 3 hr retraining with saline injection, 3 hr re-training with a prior MK-801 injection, and an MK-801 injection only at 3 hr without re-training. One way ANOVA shows significant group effects ($F_{(2,27)} = 16.67$, p < 0.01; Figure 3.7). Re-training at 3 hr with a saline injection, prevented the expression of odor preference memory tested at 24 hr (29.38 ± 4.32%, n = 10), consistent with the previous result (Figure 3.4). However, when MK-801 was administered to the pups at the time of the 3 hr re-training session, the odor preference memory at 24 hr was intact (71.39 ± 3.51%, n = 10, p < 0.01 compared to the saline retraining group). MK-801 injection itself 3 hr following the O/S⁺ training did not interfere with the expression of the odor preference memory (58.28 ± 7.22%, n = 10, p < 0.01
compared to the saline re-training group). Together, these results suggest NMDAR blockage abolishes metaplasticity occurring at 3 hr following the first O/S⁺ training, but does not affect the expression of already formed memory from the first O/S⁺ training.

The key results in this study are summarized in Table 1.

3.5 Discussion

3.5.1 Bi-phasic NMDAR Plasticity Following Early Odor Preference Learning in Rats

Here we report bi-phasic changes in NMDAR synaptic transmission and in absolute amount of the essential subunit GluN1 in the aPC following early odor preference learning in rats. NMDAR LTD was inducible at the LOT to pyramidal cell synapse 3 hr post odor training. Contrary to what was seen with odor rule learning in adult rats ²¹³, in which a switch from the GluN2B to GluN2A subunit occurred following learning, we observed no change in the GluN2B-mediated synaptic potential relative to the total NMDAR response in the learning hemisphere compared to control. This suggests down-regulation of the GluN1 subunit at the LOT synapse is responsible for the reduced NMDAR synaptic transmission 3 hr post-training. As reported previously in nucleus accumbens ⁴⁸⁶, NMDAR LTD 3 hr posttraining is concurrent with AMPAR LTP ³⁷³. It is likely that both the AMPAR LTP and NMDAR LTD are mediated through Ca²⁺ influx through NMDARs ⁴⁷⁷ and implies that the same postsynaptic Ca²⁺ concentration induces opposite effects on AMPAR- and NMDARmediated synaptic responses ⁴⁸⁶.

At 24 hr post-training we observed LTP of the same NMDAR-mediated synaptic responses, likely due to GluN1 up-regulation at the LOT synapse. This delayed NMDAR LTP accompanies AMPAR LTP at the same synapse ³⁷³, which restores the AMPAR to NMDAR ratio to control levels.

Despite extensive characterization of NMDAR plasticity in vitro ^{195,478}, activitydependent changes of NMDARs following behavioral conditioning have been less commonly reported ⁴⁷⁸. Changes of NMDAR subunit composition such as the switch between GluN2B and GluN2A subunits underlie developmental changes ⁴⁷⁹, sensory deprivation/enrichment effects ⁴⁸⁰, and associative learning ²¹³. The differential activation of NMDAR subunits translates into different dynamics for NMDAR ion conductance and charge transfer, which influence NMDAR-mediated synaptic integration and plasticity ⁴⁷⁷.

Induction mechanisms for the bi-phasic NMDAR changes following early odor preference learning require further investigation. In vitro work shows that, similar to AMPAR plasticity, both LTP and LTD of NMDAR require either NMDAR or mGluR activation, and a postsynaptic Ca²⁺ rise ⁴⁷⁸. Postsynaptic Ca²⁺ influx activates the enzymatic signaling required for plasticity, including protein kinases PKA ⁴⁸⁷, PKC ^{488,489}, and Src ⁴⁸⁹ for LTP induction, and phosphatases such as protein phosphatase 1 (PP1)/PP2A for LTD induction ⁴⁹⁰.

Expression mechanisms involve NMDAR trafficking into, and out of, the synaptic membrane through endo/exocytosis as well as lateral movement (Hunt and Castillo, 2012). NMDAR LTD can be mediated by Ca²⁺-dependent actin depolymerization, which promotes lateral diffusion of NMDARs from synaptic membrane to extrasynaptic sites ^{490,491}, or dynamin-dependent endocytosis ⁴⁹². LTP of the NMDAR can be expressed by exocytosis of NMDARs via SNARE-dependent processes ⁴⁹³ or recruitment of NMDARs from extrasynaptic sites to the synaptic membrane ⁴⁹⁴.

It is unclear how the bi-phasic changes in NMDARs, seen here following a single odor preference training session, occur. The initial depression may involve only transient receptor trafficking out of the synaptic membrane independent of new protein synthesis, or only local synaptic proteins and mRNA may be involved, while the later potentiation may result from homeostatic regulation to match AMPAR number ⁴⁹⁵ and require protein synthesis. If this were true, separate signaling would be involved in the early LTD and late LTP of NMDARs following early odor preference training.

3.5.2 Down-regulation of NMDAR Leads to Synaptic and Behavioral Metaplasticity

Metaplasticity refers to the change of capacity for synaptic plasticity due to prior synaptic activity ¹⁹⁵. Given the role of NMDARs in mediating AMPAR synaptic plasticity, one consequence of NMDAR plasticity is a change in the ability to induce NMDAR-dependent plasticity of AMPAR-mediated synaptic transmission ⁴⁷⁸. Studies in visual cortex demonstrate changes in LTP or LTD capability following periods of altered visual experience ⁴⁸⁰. Our results provide direct evidence in support of NMDAR plasticity as a mechanism for metaplasticity in natural learning.

We show that down-regulation of the GluN1 subunit and LTD of NMDARmediated synaptic responses 3 hr following odor preference learning coincides with decreased AMPAR LTP (de-potentiation) and increased AMPAR LTD. This shift favoring LTD induction is not solely due to synaptic ceiling effects on AMPARs since at 24 hr, LTD of the AMPAR is no longer inducible, while LTP of the AMPAR persists ³⁷³. Together, GluN1 down-regulation and NMDAR LTD are most likely to account for the threshold shifts for AMPAR LTP and LTD induction.

Behavioral metaplasticity has been used to refer to the ability of stress experiences to alter behavioral learning due to system wide changes ⁴⁹⁶. Here behavioral

metaplasticity occurs at specific synapses. A shift in the threshold of AMPAR synaptic plasticity induced by training has consequences for learning using the same synapse. Three hrs following initial training, re-training with the same odor+stroking protocol, not only did not consolidate initial learning, as is seen with repeated training at 24 h, but impaired odor learning. Initial training induced LTD of NMDARs, leading to metaplasticity of AMPAR-mediated synaptic responses. Re-training at the same synapse likely caused de-potentiation of AMPAR LTP, or caused AMPAR LTD, and either way, abolished odor preference learning. The metaplasticity here is pathway-specific as training with two different odors with the same 3 hr interval did not interfere with preference learning for peppermint odor. Input specificity of behavioral metaplasticity is consistent with in vitro work demonstrating synapse-specific metaplasticity in hippocampus ^{497–499}.

Metaplasticity at the LOT synapse following early odor preference learning not only results from changes in NMDAR number, but as seen in vitro ^{497–499}, depends on the NMDAR itself for its expression. NMDAR blockade abolished the AMPAR LTD induced 3 hr following odor training. Furthermore, blocking NMDARs before re-training permitted odor preference memory expression. It requires further investigation to know how re-training at 3 hr impairs odor preference memory. However, one likely explanation is that NMDAR down-regulation at 3 hr results in less Ca²⁺ influx through NMDARs

3.5.3 Functional significance of NMDAR metaplasticity

How metaplasticity occurs in vivo in a way that is relevant to cognitive function is not well understood ⁵⁰⁰. Behavioral metaplasticity is proposed to alter learning and memory, and the likely mechanism is altered capacity for synaptic plasticity ⁴⁹⁶. Studies on stress-induced metaplasticity support this view. Behavioral stress impairs LTP induction and hippocampal-dependent learning and involves NMDAR activation ⁵⁰¹. Stress, or high-levels of corticosterone, may also impair recollection of previously acquired memories.

Behavioral stress appears to retard plasticity at a global level involving multiple brain structures ⁴⁹⁶, but the present study provides some of the first evidence that learning itself affects future learning capacity at the same synapses. A recent study of amygdaladependent fear conditioning showed that a weak training trial that does not produce fear memory, primes future learning such that another trial delivered 60 min to 3 days later results in long-lasting and robust fear memory ⁵⁰². Together, these studies suggest behavioral metaplasticity occurs, and the strength of the priming event may determine the nature and time course of the synaptic changes and the character of the behavioral modulation.

There are two ways to view the present results. Down-regulation of the NMDA receptor is physiologically necessary following activation and the behavioral effect is adventitious. Or down-regulation supports a behaviorally relevant homeostatic regulation of learning. Substantial increases in circuit strength, and consequent dominant sensory control over approach behavior may be limited, particularly in the case of sustained odors, by a waxing and waning mediated by the metaplasticity change described. Odor preference must be sufficiently weak to permit pups to leave the dam as they become more mobile. Consistent with such variation in odor preference learning is evidence that preference for peppermint constantly present in the maternal cage fades rapidly after exposure ends, while peppermint on the dam, providing a more variable stimulus over the same period, produces an enduring preference ⁵⁰³.

Correspondingly, multiple spaced presentations of odor/stroking at 24 h intervals produces an enduring preference compared to a single association, as might be predicted from the present NMDAR changes ^{451,504}. Understanding behavioral metaplasticity, both globally, and through pathway-specific changes, has significant implications for enhancing stimulus-specific adaptive learning and for diminishing, or ameliorating, the behavioral impact of traumatic learning.

3.6 Figures of Chapter 3



Figure 3.1. NMDA GLUN1 plasticity in the anterior piriform cortex (aPC) at 3 hr and 24 hr following early odor preference learning

Western blots of synaptoneurosome extracts of aPCs from occluded and spared

hemispheres of the same animals. Upper panel, example Western blot bands of GLUN1

in different groups. O/S⁺, odor plus stroking; O/S⁻, odor only without stroking; Occ,

occluded; Sp, spared. Lower panel, relative optical density (ROD) of GLUN1 expressions

in various groups. The values are normalized GLUN1 expressions in spared aPCs to the

occluded counterparts. *p < 0.05. **p < 0.01. Error bars, mean \pm SEM.

3 hr post-O/S+



24 hr post-O/S+







Figure 3.2. NMDAR down-regulation at 3 hr and up-regulation at 24 hr occurs at the LOT synapse

A1-A2. NMDAR input/output (I/O) relationship recorded at 3 hr (A1) and 24 hr (A2) *ex vivo* following early odor preference learning. NMDAR fEPSP was isolated by NBQX (5 μ M) in low Mg²⁺ aCSF. FV, fiber volley. **B1-B2.** Fractions of GLUN2B to total NMDAR fEPSPs recorded at 3 hr (B1) and 24 hr (B2) post-training. GLUN2B component was isolated by ifenprodil (3 μ M), an GLUN2B antagonist. **C1-C2.** AMPAR/NMDAR ratio recorded at 3 hr (C1) and 24 hr (C2) post-training. Scale bars, 0.2 mV and 5 msec. *p < 0.05. **p < 0.01. Error bars, mean ± SEM.



Figure 3.3. NMDAR down-regulation at 3 hr coincides with decreased LTP and inducibility of LTD at the LOT synapse

A. *Ex vivo* LTP induction 3 hr post-training in occluded and spared aPCs from the same animals. TBS, theta burst stimulation. **B.** *Ex vivo* LTD induction 3 hr post-training. LFS, low frequency stimulation. **C.** *Ex vivo* LTD induction 24 hr post-training. LFS, low frequency stimulation. Solid circles representing data from occluded aPC. Open circles representing data from spared aPC. Scale bars, 0.2 mV and 5 msec. Error bars, mean \pm SEM.



Figure 3.4. O/S+ re-training at 3 hr impairs learning at the same synapse Percentage of time spent over peppermint-scented bedding in a two choice test. O/S⁺, odor plus stroking. O/S⁻, odor only. PP, peppermint. VA, vanillin. PP-PP, both first and re-training with peppermint-scented bedding. PP-VA, first training with peppermint-scented bedding, re-training with vanillin scented-bedding. VA-PP, first training with vanillin scented-bedding. **p < 0.01. Error bars, mean \pm SEM.



Figure 3.5. GLUN1 down-regulation by SiRNA impairs early odor preference learning **A.** Relative optical density (ROD) of GLUN1 in SiRNA infused olfactory bulb (OB), normalized to vehicle infused counterpart. **B.** ROD of GLUN1 in SiRNA infused anterior piriform cortex (aPC), normalized to vehicle infused counterpart. **C.** Percentage of time spent over peppermint-scented bedding in a two choice test. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01. Error bars, mean \pm SEM.



Figure 3.6. Ex vivo NMDAR blockage 3 hr following odor training blocks LTD at the LOT synapse

Ex vivo LTD induction 3 hr post O/S⁺ training in the presence of NMDAR antagonist MK

801. LFS, low frequency stimulation. Squares representing data from MK 801

experiments. Gray circles are taken from Figure 3B, recording in spared slices following

 O/S^+ training without MK 801. Scale bars, 0.2 mV and 5 msec. Error bars, mean \pm SEM.



Figure 3.7. NMDAR blockage during re-training allows odor preference memory to be expressed

Percentage of time spent over peppermint-scented bedding in a two choice test. Saline or

MK 801 was injected to pups before 3 hr re-training. MK 801 only group refers to MK

801 injection at 3 hr without re-training. **p < 0.01. Error bars, mean \pm SEM.

Chapter 4

Title: Learning-induced metaplasticity? Associative training for early odor preference learning down regulates synapse-specific NMDA receptors via mGluR and calcineurin activation (This Chapter is modified version of Mukherjee el al Cereb Cortex. 2017 Jan 1;27(1):616-624. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhv256.)

4.1 Abstract

Rat pups readily form a 24 h associative odor preference after a single trial of odor paired with intermittent stroking. Recent evidence shows that this training trial, which normally increases AMPA receptor responses in the anterior piriform cortex both 3 h and 24 h following training, induces a down-regulation of NMDA receptors 3 h later followed by NMDA receptor up-regulation at 24 h.

When retrained with the same odor at 3 h, rat pups unlearn the original odor preference. Unlearning can be prevented by blocking NMDA receptors during retraining. Here the mechanisms that initiate NMDA receptor down-regulation are assessed. Blocking mGluR receptors or calcineurin during training prevents down-regulation of NMDA receptors 3 h following training. Blocking NMDA receptors during training does not affect NMDA receptor down-regulation. Thus down-regulation can be engaged separately from associative learning. When unlearning occurs, AMPA and NMDA receptor levels at 24 h are reset to control levels. Calcineurin blockade during retraining prevents unlearning consistent with the role of NMDA receptor down-regulation. The relationship of these events to the metaplasticity and plasticity mechanisms of long-term depression and depotentiation is discussed. We suggest a possible functional role of NMDA receptor down-regulation in offline stabilization of learned odor representations.

4.2 Introduction

In rat pup odor preference learning, a single 10 min exposure to a novel odor paired with intermittent stroking produces a 24 h protein-synthesis dependent odor preference³⁷⁹, which is associated with enhanced AMPA receptor (AMPAR) currents in olfactory inputs to both the olfactory bulb (OB)⁴⁷⁵ and the anterior piriform cortex (aPC)^{373,451}. AMPAR phosphorylation and increased AMPAR membrane insertion occur concomitantly with olfactory learning and memory in this model⁴⁵³, consistent with a prediction of enhanced network representations with training. The neural changes and behavioural memory endure over multiple days with repeated spaced trials⁴⁵¹, while the odor representational network becomes more stable following spaced training in both the OB and aPC³³⁸.

In both OB and aPC, the NMDA GluN1 receptor levels are decreased 3 h following a single training trial ^{476,505} but then increase beyond control levels at 24 h⁵⁰⁵. This contrasts with increases in AMPAR responses (likely due to increased membrane

expression) at both time points³⁷³. In the aPC in vitro, long-term depression (LTD), normally difficult to induce in rat pup slices, is readily induced from slices taken at 3 h post odor preference training when NMDA receptors (NMDARs) are down regulated⁵⁰⁵. Behaviorally, 'unlearning 'occurs when a second odor preference training is given 3 h following the initial training⁵⁰⁵. Unlearning is specific to the trained odor since pairing a different odor with stroking at 3 h does not affect the learning of the new odor assessed 24 h later, and does not disrupt memory for the originally trained preference⁵⁰⁵. The critical role of the reduced NMDAR expression in unlearning is demonstrated by blocking NMDARs 3 h prior to the 2nd training event, while this prevents the original associative odor learning if given before the first training trial³⁷³, NMDAR blockade before the 2nd trial at 3 h permits the original 24 h odor preference to be maintained rather than 'unlearned'⁵⁰⁵.

The present experiments test the potential mechanisms for NMDAR down regulation recruited during the original training and implicated by earlier studies in metaplasticity, a process by which prior events temporally alter subsequent plasticity susceptibility^{208,478}. The outcomes reveal that activation of metabotropic glutamate receptors and calcineurin are required for NMDAR down regulation. A model is presented supporting a functional role for NMDAR down regulation in establishing stable memory networks.

4.3 Materials and Methods

In the following sections I will describe my methodologies for Chapter 3.

4.3.1 Animals and Ethics Statement

Sprague Dawley rat pups of either sex (Charles River) were used in this study. Animals were bred and pups were born on-site at the animal care facility. Litters were culled to 12 pups on postnatal day 1 (PND1; day of birth is designated PND0). Dams were maintained with ad libitum access to food and water. All procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care Committee at Memorial University of Newfoundland adherent to the guidelines by the Canadian Council on Animal Care.

4.3.2 Behavioral Studies

Behavioral experiments were carried out in a temperature controlled room at approximately 27°C and followed the previously established protocols ^{451,505} as described below. One-way ANOVAs and post hoc Fisher tests, or two-sample t-test were used to determine statistical significance throughout the experiments.

4.3.3 Odor preference training

PND6 rat pups were assigned to an odor plus stroking (O/S^+) or an odor only (O/S^-) condition. Pups were removed from the nest and placed on normal bedding for 10 min habituation. Pups receiving conditioning O/S^+ were placed on peppermint-scented bedding (0.3 mL peppermint extract in 500 mL bedding) and vigorously stroked with a paintbrush for 30 sec, followed by a 30 sec rest, repeated for 10 min. Pups in the control condition O/S^- were placed in peppermint-scented bedding for 10 min without being stroked. All pups were returned to the dam after training. A subset of O/S^+ pups were returned at 3 hr after the first training, following the same procedure as in the first training.

Three types of experiments were employed. First, O/S⁺ pups were trained with single naris occluded, followed by brain tissue collection at 3 h for NMDAR GluN1 measurement (Figure 4.1). Another group was re-trained at 3 h and killed at 24 h for both GluN1 and GluA1 measurement (Figure 4.7). Second, pups underwent aPC drug or vehicle infusions right before a single O/S⁺ training. These pups were either killed at 3 h for GluN1 measurement (Figures 4.2, 4.3, 4.4) or tested for odor preference the next day (Figure 4.5). Third, pups underwent aPC drug or vehicle infusions before the re-training at 3 h following the first training. These pups were then tested for odor preference the next day (Figure 4.6).

4.3.4 Odor preference testing

Twenty-four hours following the initial training, pups were tested for odor preference memory using a two-choice odor preference procedure. The testing apparatus was a stainless steel box (30 x 20 x 18 cm) placed over two training boxes. One box contained peppermint-scented bedding and the other contained normal, unscented bedding, separated by a 2 cm neutral zone. During testing, pups were removed from the dam and placed in the neutral zone. Times that pups spent over scented versus normal bedding were recorded in five one-minute trials, each separated by a one-min rest in a clean cage. The percentage of the time spent over peppermint bedding over total time spent over either bedding was calculated for each pup.

4.3.5 Reversible naris occlusion

Nose plugs were constructed using polyethylene 20 (PE 20) tubing and silk surgical thread as described previously^{451,505}. A small dab of 2% Xylocaine gel (AstraZeneca) was applied to the left naris of the pup and the pup was let rest for ~3-5 min before the plug was gently inserted in the left naris. After 10 min habituation, pups were assigned appropriate odor training. The nose plug was removed immediately following training and pups returned to dams.

4.3.6 Cannula implantation and intracerebral infusion

Cannula implantation was carried out on PND5. Pups were anesthetized via hypothermia and placed in a stereotaxic apparatus in a skull flat position. A horizontal incision was made to expose the skull where two small holes were drilled. Two guide cannulas (Vita Needle, MA) with insect pins were inserted into the brain in specific coordinates for aPC (from Bregma: Anterior posterior: +2.5, Mediolateral: +3.5 and Depth: -5.5;³⁷³), and cemented with dental acrylic to the skull. The skin was then sutured around the cannulas. The pups were recovered on warm bedding before returned to the dams.

All drugs were infused into the aPC on PND6 either 20 min before the first training or before re-training. One µl of a drug was injected bilaterally into the aPCs for behavioral experiments using a Hamilton syringe. In pups for quantitative immunoblotting, drugs were infused in one aPC and vehicles were infused in the contralateral hemisphere. The injection was over 4 min, and the syringe was left in site for another min before being gently withdrawn from the brain. The pups were returned to the dams for ~5 min before habituation and training. Pharmacological agents used include a NMDAR antagonist D-AP5 (5 mM and 500 µM, dissolved in saline; Sigma Aldrich), an NMDAR agonist NMDA (5 mM, dissolved in saline; Tocris), an mGluR1 antagonist AIDA (5 mM and 500 µM; dissolved in a small amount of 1 M NaOH and further diluted with saline, the same ratio of NaOH and saline was used as vehicle; Tocris), an mGluR5 antagonist MPEP (5 mM; 10% DMSO in saline; Tocris), an mGluR group I/II blocker MCPG (100 mM, dissolved in saline; Tocris), a calcineurin (phosphatase 2B) inhibitor FK-506 (5 mM, 10% DMSO in saline; Tocris) and a phosphatase 1/2A inhibitor okadaic acid (500 µM, 10% DMSO in saline; Calbiochem). All drug concentrations used are comparable with published results using in vivo brain infusions^{381,476,506,507}. The cannula locations were verified to be within the aPC during brain extractions. The spread of infusion was tested with 4% methylene blue dye in pilot experiments (<2 mm³; n=6). We

have also validated in previous studies ^{373,505} that the drug spread using the same infusion parameters and techniques was confined to the aPC.

4.3.7 Immunoblotting

Three hours following odor training, pups were decapitated, and aPCs were collected and flash frozen on dry ice. For pCREB measurement, brains were taken 10 min following O/S⁺ training. Samples were stored at -80°C until further processing.

4.3.8 Synaptic membrane isolation

Purification of synaptic membrane followed previously published procedures⁵⁰⁸. Tissue samples were homogenized using a Teflon glass tissue homogenizer (Thomas Scientific) in ice-cold sucrose buffer (300 μ l) containing (in mM): 320 sucrose, 10 Tris (pH7.4), 1 EDTA, 1 EGTA, 1X complete protease inhibitor mixture and phosphatase inhibitor mixture (Roche). The homogenized samples were centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 10 min. The supernatant was spun at 10,000 rpm for 25 min to obtain a pallet, which was subsequently re-suspended in 120 μ l sucrose buffer using a pestle mixing/grinding rod (Thomas Scientific) directly in the microfuge tube. Then 8 volumes of a non-ionic detergent Triton X-100 buffer (final 0.5% v/v) were added for detergent extraction. The Triton X-100 buffer contained (in mM) 10 Tris (pH 7.4), 1 EDTA, 1 EGTA, 1X protease and phosphatase inhibitors. This suspension was incubated at 4 °C for 35 min with gentle rotation. The net suspension was centrifuged at 28,000 rpm for 30 min. The pellet

(postsynaptic densities and synaptic junctions that are insoluble in Triton X-100,⁴⁷⁹) was re-suspended in 100 μl of TE buffer containing 100 mM Tris (pH 7.4), 10 mM EDTA, 1% SDS, 1X protease and phosphatase inhibitors, sonicated, boiled for 5 min and stored at -80°C until use. Protein concentrations for each sample were determined by using a BCA protein assay kit (Pierce). The volume of lysate required to make 35 μg of protein for each sample was calculated.

4.3.9 Tissue isolation for phosphorylated CREB (pCREB) measurement

APC tissue was placed in microcentrifuge tubes and homogenized with a manual motor pastel in 100 μ L of lysis buffer containing 0.1% SDS, 1% NP-40, 20 mM PMSF, 10% glycine, and 1.37 mM sodium chloride with 1 μ L/mL leupeptin, 2 mM PMSF, 8.9 U/mL aprotinin, and 1 mM sodium orthovanadate. The homogenate was centrifuged at 13,500 rpm for 15 min at 4°C. After determining the protein concentration, the clear lysate supernatant was stored at -80°C.

4.3.10 Western Blotting

A total of 100 µl lysate solution, sample buffer (0.3 M Tris-HCl, 10% SDS, 50% glycerol, 0.25% bromophenol blue, 0.5 M dithiothreitol), and dH2O were prepared and boiled for 2 min at 100°C. Samples were then loaded into lanes of a 7.5% SDS-PAGE gel, along with a protein ladder (Thermo Scientific) and irrelevant samples in empty lanes. Sample separation occurred through SDS-PAGE, followed by transference to a nitrocellulose membrane (Millipore). Membranes were cut horizontally at the 72 kDa

level, and the upper portion was probed with a rabbit antibody for GluN1 (1:2000, blocked in 5% Milk; Cell Signaling Technology) subunits, and the lower portion was probed for β -actin (1:5000, blocked in 5% skim milk; Cedarlane). A pCREB antibody (1:5000, Cell Signalling) and a control GAPDH antibody (1:7000, Cell Signalling) were used to measure pCREB levels. A GluA1 antibody (1:10000, Cell Signalling) was used to probe AMPAR membrane levels. Membranes were incubated in primary antibody overnight at 4°C in continuous shaking condition. Next day membranes were washed three times for 5 min each with 1X TBST. Secondary antibodies bound to HRP were applied after the wash (1:10,000, anti-rabbit; Pierce) for 1 h, and membranes were then washed again with 1X TBST three times for 10 min each. Then blots are washed in enhanced chemiluminescence Western blotting substrate (Pierce). Finally, blots were developed on x-ray film (AGFA). Films were scanned onto a computer using an image scanner (CanoScan LiDE 200), and the optic density (OD) of each band was measured using ImageJ software.

Each sample was normalized to the corresponding β -actin or GAPDH band that was run on the same gel. In pups that underwent lateralized odor training, each spared hemisphere was compared with its naris-occluded counterpart. In pups with drug infusions, the drug infused hemisphere was compared with its vehicle infused counterpart. Experimental values are reported as mean ± SEM of normalized optical densities. A paired t-test was used to evaluate differences in the mean optical densities between the two groups.

4.4 Results

In the following sections I will describe my results of Chapter 3 project.

4.4.1 Synaptic GluN1 down-regulation following early odor preference learning is mGluR-dependent

Previously, using a synaptoneurosome preparation, we have shown that GluN1 subunits are down regulated 3 h following O/S⁺ training in rat pups⁵⁰⁵. Synaptoneurosomes are composite structures enriched in synaptic proteins ⁵⁰⁹ and have been used to measure activity-dependent changes in AMPARs and NMDARs in the olfactory system^{213,453,476,505}. Here we employed a protocol to further separate synaptic from extrasynaptic membrane compartment ⁵⁰⁸ using a subcellular fraction approach followed by extraction with Triton X-100 as postsynaptic densities and synaptic junctions are shown to be insoluble in Triton X-100⁵¹⁰. We validated this method by showing PSD-95 was particularly abundant in the synaptic fraction compared to either the extrasynaptic or cytosolic fractions (supplementary Figure 4.1). Our analysis revealed that 3 h following O/S⁺ training, the synaptic GluN1 subunit was significantly lower in the spared aPC (normalized OD: 0.69 ± 0.12) than in the occluded counterpart (1.14 ± 0.10 , n = 5, t = 3.13, p = 0.04; Figure 4.1). This confirms that GluN1 down-regulation occurs at synaptic membrane.

We next investigated whether synaptic GluN1 down-regulation is dependent on NMDARs. D-APV was infused in one aPC before the O/S⁺ training, while vehicle was infused into the other aPC. Two concentrations (500 μ M and 5 mM) were tested. Neither 500 μ M (vehicle: 0.87 ± 0.14 vs. D-APV: 1.0 ± 0.13, n = 6, t = 0.97, p = 0.37) nor 5 mM (vehicle: 0.92 ± 0.18 vs. D-APV: 0.81 ± 0.14, n = 6, t = 1.37, p = 0.23; Figure 4.2A&B) dose altered GluN1 expression, suggesting GluN1 down-regulation is not NMDAR dependent. To validate the drug effect in aPC, we measured pCREB expressions following D-APV infusion and O/S⁺ training. The level of pCREB was lower in the D-APV infused aPC (1.08 ± 0.27) than the control vehicle side (2.16 ± 0.53, n = 8, t = 2.61, p = 0.03, Figure 4.2C), consistent with NMDAR-dependent CREB phosphorylation and odor preference learning^{373,476}. This result confirms the effectiveness of the drug infusion protocol.

We then tested the potential involvement of mGluRs. When MCPG, an mGluR group I/II antagonist was infused, the GluN1 levels were significantly higher in the MCPG infused aPC (1.12 ± 0.17) than the control side (0.63 ± 0.18 , n = 8, t = 2.18, p = 0.03; Figure 4.3A&B). This results suggest MCPG prevents GluN1 down-regulation following O/S⁺ training. To test the specific subtype of mGluRs involved, an mGluR5 specific antagonist MPEP (5 mM) was infused into the aPC. MPEP prevented down-regulation of GluN1 (MPEP: 1.59 ± 0.19 vs. vehicle: 1.00 ± 1.82 , n = 8, t = 3.86, p = 0.006; Figure 4.3C). However, an mGluR1 specific antagonist AIDA (500 µM and 5 mM) was ineffective. Neither the 500 µM (vehicle: 0.72 ± 0.16 vs. AIDA: 0.76 ± 0.20 , n = 6, t = 0.48, p = 0.65) nor the 5 mM (vehicle: 0.93 ± 0.17 vs. AIDA: 0.82 ± 0.20 , n = 6, t

= 0.80, p = 0.46; Figure 4.3D) dose altered GluN1 expression, suggesting GluN1 downregulation is mediated by mGluR5, but not mGluR1.

4.4.2 Calcineurin signalling is involved in GluN1 plasticity

Activation of mGluRs during early odor preference learning may trigger intracellular Ca²⁺ release, which would activate phosphatase pathways and lead to NMDAR dephosphorylation and internalization. We infused two phosphatase inhibitors a calcineurin inhibitor, FK-506 (5 mM), and a phosphatase 1/2A inhibitor, okadaic acid (500 μ M). FK-506 infusion prevented GluN1 down-regulation (vehicle: 0.62 \pm 0.16 vs. FK-506: 1.39 \pm 0.39, n = 8, t = 2.58, p = 0.04), while okadaic acid had no effect (vehicle: 0.93 \pm 0.26 vs. FK-506: 0.88 \pm 0.56, n = 6, t = 0.16, p = 0.88; Figure 4.4).

As described GluN1 down-regulation following O/S⁺ training induces unlearning upon re-training at 3 h⁵⁰⁵. If GluN1 down-regulation is blocked, what would happen in the animals that are re-trained at 3 hr following the initial O/S⁺ training? We infused either FK-506 or MCPG bilaterally into aPCs before the first O/S⁺ training and tested the effects on odor preference memory 24 h later, with or without 3 h re-training. When infused without re-training, neither drug affected odor preference learning compared to the O/S⁻ control. A one-way ANOVA revealed significant differences among groups (F _(3, 15) = 11.02, p < 0.001; Figure 4.5A). FK-506 infused group spent significantly more time on peppermint scented bedding (60.80 ± 5.45%, n = 4) than the vehicle infused O/S⁻ control group (37.47 ± 2.88%, n = 6, t = 4.59, p < 0.001), and not different from vehicle infused O/S⁺ learning group (55.58 \pm 2.70%, n = 5, t = 0.99, p = 0.34), suggesting calcineurin inhibition does not interfere with early odor preference learning. Similarly, MCPG infused pups also learned (62.12 \pm 3.87, n = 4, t = 4.85, p < 0.001 compared to the vehicle O/S⁻ group). However, when re-training occurred at 3 h after the first training, either drug abolished unlearning. A one-way ANOVA revealed significant differences among groups (F _(2, 10) = 54.57, p < 0.001; Figure 4.5B). FK-506 infusion prevented unlearning (vehicle O/S⁺-O/S⁺: 33.06 \pm 3.46%, n = 5, vs. FK-506 O/S⁺-O/S⁺: 78.49 \pm 2.77%, n = 4, t = 10.13, p < 0.001). MCPG infusion also prevented unlearning in the re-trained group (MCPG O/S⁺-O/S⁺: 63.61 \pm 3.11%, n = 4, t = 6.81, p < 0.001 compared to the vehicle O/S⁺-O/S⁺ group).

4.4.3 Calcineurin signalling mediates unlearning

We have previously shown that unlearning with 3 h re-training is NMDARdependent⁵⁰⁵. To test whether a phosphatase mediated depotentiation or LTD pathway mediates unlearning, we infused FK-506 into aPCs at 3 h with or without re-training. Without re-training, FK-506 infusion did not affect odor preference learning. One-way ANOVA showed significant group effects (F $_{(2, 11)} = 4.52$, p < 0.05; Figure 4.6A). FK-506 infusion at 3 h without re-training (65.01 ± 7.39, n = 5) induced odor preference learning compared to the vehicle O/S⁻ group (40.2 ± 7.64, n = 4, t = 2.70, p = 0.02). However, FK-506 infusion prevented unlearning when animals were re-trained at 3 h (vehicle O/S⁺-O/S⁺: 43.58 ± 6.38%, n = 6, vs. FK-506 O/S⁺-O/S⁺: 74.18 ± 3.71%, n = 4, t = 4.14, p < 0.01; Figure 4.6B).

4.4.4 Unlearning resets AMPARs and NMDARs to the baseline non-learning levels

AMPARs and NMDARs are both up-regulated at 24 hr following a single O/S⁺ training^{373,505}. Here we measured how AMPARs and NMDARs changed at 24 h following the initial O/S⁺ training, with a 3 h re-training episode. Re-trained pups showed no difference of AMPAR GluA1 subunit expressions in the occluded (1.33 \pm 0.18) and spared aPC (1.33 \pm 0.17, n = 8, t = 0.32, p = 0.76; Figure 4.7A&B). Similarly, NMDAR GluN1 subunits in the spared aPC (1.08 \pm 0.13) were not different from the occluded hemisphere (1.00 \pm 0.21, n = 8, t = 0.49, p = 0.64; Figure 4.7A&C). These results suggest re-training at 3 hr resets the levels of AMPAR and NMDAR to the baseline condition through metaplasticity.

4.5 Discussion

In the following sections I will discuss Chapter 4 in more detail.

4.5.1 NMDAR plasticity following early odor preference learning

In the last decade, studies have begun to examine the activity-dependent regulation of NMDAR trafficking in in vitro preparations^{511,512}. However, the molecular basis of activity-dependent NMDAR plasticity in intact, physiological conditions remains to be determined⁴⁷⁸. Our studies have provided among the first evidence that NMDAR

activity is regulated by learning - early odor preference learning in rat pups induces an early transient and reversible down-regulation of NMDAR and a delayed up-regulation (⁵⁰⁵and present results). Both rapid down-regulation and delayed up-regulation ⁴⁷⁸ of NMDA receptors have been reported in in vitro models.

AMPAR function is up-regulated in aPC at both the 3 h and 24 h time points³⁷³, thus there is a dissociation of GluN1 and GluA1 changes at the 3 h time point. While not typically reported, LTP of AMPAR- and LTD of NMDAR-mediated opposite changes has previously been described in nucleus accumbens neurons⁴⁸⁶.

4.5.2Molecular Basis of Early GluN1 Down Regulation with Single Trial Training

GluN1 down-regulation was not affected by NMDAR blockage through D-APV infusion. MCPG, a general group I and II mGluR antagonist, blocked learning induced GluN1 down-regulation. Further testing with mGluR5 antagonist, MPEP, also blocked GluN1 down-regulation. However, an mGluR1 specific inhibitor, AIDA, was not effective. This suggests that mGluR5 mediates the down-regulation of GluN1s. These receptors are strongly expressed in neocortical pyramidal neurons in rat pups of this age⁵¹³.

GluN1 down-regulation was also prevented by calcineurin inhibitor infusion, but not by inhibition of phosphatase 1/2A. Activation of mGluRs during learning may activate calcineurin, which could dephosphorylate and enhance the activity of the tyrosine

phosphatase STEP, which in turn dephosphorylates NMDAR GluN2B receptors. Dephosphorylation of GluN2B subunit promotes NMDAR internalization via the clathrin-mediated pathway as shown in other systems⁵¹⁴. Our previous result demonstrating GluN1 down-regulation in a synaptoneurosome preparation (including both synaptic and extra-synaptic membranes) ⁵⁰⁵also favors an enhanced NMDAR internalization model, compared to increased lateral diffusion of the receptors. (See ⁴⁹² for a discussion of the generality and power of NMDAR endocytosis as a plasticity mechanism.)

Since early odor preference learning and AMPAR LTP at the synapses are critically dependent on NMDARs³⁷³, it was unexpected that an NMDAR antagonist that prevented pCREB expression after training was unable to prevent GluN1 down-regulation at 3 h. That is to say successful associative plasticity itself was not required to induce GluN1 down-regulation. This demonstrates that the mGluR5 pathway and the NMDAR pathways are engaged in parallel by associative training and can function independently when recruited by such training. The blockade of NMDARs prevents odor preference memory, but does not prevent the 'silent' down-regulation of GluN1 receptors induced by training.

In contrast, blockade of calcineurin, which prevents GluN1 down-regulation driven by mGluR activation in this paradigm, typically enhances learning and memory³⁸¹. In the odor preference model, the calcineurin inhibitor FK506 in the OB before training extends the duration of single trial memory and renders suboptimal unconditioned stimulus optimal. In the present study, rat pups that had received FK506 before the initial training showed a strong odor preference memory following retraining at 3 h, rather than unlearning. It remains to be assessed whether prevention of GluN1 down-regulation contributes to learning enhancement.

Calcineurin also appears to have a role in the NMDAR-mediated unlearning event itself. Blockade of calcineurin immediately before retraining at 3 h, despite normal GluN1 down-regulation at this time, renders the second training trial effective. This is likely due to calcineurin's role as a negative regulator of NMDA plasticity, preventing the depotentiating or depressing NMDAR effect normally recruited by fewer receptors during the retraining.

4.5.3 Metaplasticity: Long-term depression or depotentiation?

Unlearning mediated by changes at the aPC synapse (decreased AMPAR LTP and inducible LTD) following early odor preference learning not only results from changes in NMDAR number, but also depends on the NMDAR itself for its expression⁵⁰⁵. Blocking NMDARs during the retraining abolishes unlearning and permits the expression of odor preference memory⁵⁰⁵.

NMDARs have a role in both depotentiation (returning potentiated synapses to baseline) and long-term depression (reduced NMDAR currents promote LTD). Either of these mechanisms may underlie the unlearning effect observed here. Both are synapsespecific. Consistent with recruitment of LTD by retraining is the ability of a low frequency protocol to recruit LTD in trained slices, but not untrained slices, when examined 3 h, but not 24 h, post training⁵⁰⁵. On the other hand, resetting both NMDAR and AMPAR to control levels at 24 h by the 'unlearning' event, as seen here, is consistent with the reset function of depotentiation. Depotentiation is less likely to occur for strong LTP protocols ⁵¹⁵ and stronger odor preference training paradigms appear not to be associated with GluN1 down regulation ²¹⁶. Single trial odor preference learning is by definition a weak protocol since it only produces 24 h memory, but it is a long-term protein transcription-dependent memory³⁷⁹, so these experiments are exploring the manipulation of mechanisms underlying the durations of long-term memories themselves.

Depotentiation is reported to depend on the GluN2A subunit whereas long-term depression is associated with the GluN2B subunit⁵¹⁶. The known role of calcineurin in promoting endocytosis of the NMDAR through the GluN2B subunit ⁵¹⁷ suggests an LTD mechanism may be more likely here (but see⁵¹⁸).

These distinctions are of interest since metaplasticity is thought to recruit longterm depression, but not depotentiation²⁰⁸. On the other hand since both metaplasticity and plasticity mechanisms are likely to be recruited with natural learning ²⁰⁸ it may not be possible to disentangle their contributions in odor preference learning. Most importantly, the synaptic changes induced by associative training lead to a temporally evolving and complex modulation of plasticity predispositions in the engaged circuitry. Selective

manipulations of GluN2B and GluN2A subunits during the second training event might clarify the nature of the 'unlearning' mechanism.

4.5.4 Functional role of synapse-specific GluN1 receptor regulation with associative training

The up-regulation of GluN1 receptors at 24 h can readily be envisaged to provide a mechanistic basis for the memory strengthening effects of spaced learning (see ⁵¹⁹ for review of spaced learning effects). In the odor preference learning model longer term memories and longer maintenance of AMPAR enhancement are associated with odor preference training spaced at 24 h⁴⁵¹. Imprinting in chicks also induces delayed GluN1 up-regulation in structures specifically associated with memory⁵¹⁹. Interestingly, the strength of the imprinting memory is positively correlated with the degree of delayed NMDAR up-regulation⁵²⁰.

We suggest early down-regulation of the GluN1 receptor may be related to the removal of weak synapses in the learned odor representation during off line reactivation. Such a function has been argued in several models^{521,522}. Spontaneous network activity in conjunction with NMDAR-mediated LTD is thought to eliminate weaker synaptic connections⁵²². In one study⁵²³, mGluR5s, but not NMDARs, were shown to be critically involved in the rewiring of neocortical microcircuitry through the selective elimination of weaker connections.

Recently Arc⁺ cells have also been shown to express LTD mediated by mGluR group I (1/5) activation⁵²⁴. In the rat pup odor learning model, we have shown that odors recruit Arc activation and that the odor representation by Arc⁺ cells following multiple spaced training is altered to have a larger proportion of stable or strong synaptic connections³³⁸. Thus it is possible that one training effect of mGluR5 activation is to help shape important odor representations by reducing unstable connections during subsequent off line activation as described for NMDA circuits in hippocampus^{521,522}. GluN1 down regulation would mediate unstable synapse elimination in odor representations following training.

4.6 Conclusions

In this study we characterize the molecular mechanisms of associative learninginduced NMDAR plasticity. GluN1 down-regulation was initiated by mGluR-mediated calcineurin signalling and inferred dephosphorylation and internalization of NMDARs. Blocking synapse-specific GluN1 down-regulation signalling prevents unlearning induced by a re-training episode. Unlearning during GluN1 down-regulation was shown to be mediated by an NMDAR-dependent calcineurin pathway inducing both AMPAR and NMDAR internalization. Blocking GluN1 down-regulation signalling prevents unlearning induced by the re-training episode (see Figure 8 for an illustration of the molecular mechanisms involved).
We suggest learning-induced GluN1 down-regulation contributes to the increased stability of learned odor representations, while delayed GluN1 up-regulation supports the benefits of spaced training on memory duration.



Figure 4.1. Early odor preference learning in rat pups down-regulates synaptic GluN1 receptors in the anterior piriform cortex (aPC).

- A. Schematics of the odor training and tissue collection paradigm. O/S⁺: odor paired with stroking.
- B. Relative optical density (ROD) of GluN1 expression (normalized to β -actin) in occluded and spared aPCs.



Figure 4.2. GluN1 down-regulation is not dependent on NMDAR activation during early odor preference learning.

A. Schematics of the odor training and tissue collection paradigm. O/S^+ : odor paired with

stroking.

- B. Relative optical density (ROD) of GluN1 expression (normalized to β -actin) in vehicle and D-APV infused aPCs.
- C. ROD of pCREB expression (normalized to GAPDH) in vehicle and D-APV infused aPCs.



Figure 4.3. GluN1 down-regulation is dependent on mGluR activation.

- A. Schematics of the odor training and tissue collection paradigm. O/S⁺: odor paired with stroking.
- B. Relative optical density (ROD) of GluN1 expression (normalized to β-actin) in vehicle and MCPG infused aPCs.
- C. ROD of GluN1 expression in vehicle and MPEP infused aPCs.
- D. ROD of GluN1 expression in vehicle and AIDA infused aPCs.



Figure 4.4. GluN1 down-regulation is dependent on calcineurin signalling. A. Schematics of the odor training and tissue collection paradigm. O/S⁺: odor paired with

stroking.

 B. Relative optical density (ROD) of GluN1 expression in vehicle, FK-506 or okadaic acid infused aPCs.



Figure 4.5. Inhibition of group I mGluR or calcineurin before first O/S+ training rescues early odor preference memory from re-training induced unlearning.

A. Percentage of time spent over peppermint (PP)-scented bedding without re-training.

O/S⁺: odor paired with stroking. O/S⁻: odor only without stroking.

B. Percentage of time spent over PP-scented bedding with re-training.



Figure 4.6. Inhibition of calcineurin before re-training rescues early odor preference memory.

A. Percentage of time spent over peppermint (PP)-scented bedding without re-training.

 O/S^+ : odor paired with stroking. O/S^- : odor only without stroking.

B. Percentage of time spent over PP-scented bedding with re-training.



Figure 4.7. Re-training resets AMPAR and NMDAR to the baseline level. A. Schematics of the odor training and tissue collection paradigm. O/S⁺: odor paired with

stroking.

- B. Relative optical density (ROD) of GluA1 expression (normalized to β -actin) in occluded and spared aPCs.
- C. ROD of GluN1 expression in occluded and spared aPCs.



A Learning and mGluR-mediated NMDAR plasticity

B NMDAR-mediated metaplasticity and unlearning



Figure 4.8. Summary of pathways involved in NMDAR plasticity and metaplasticity in early odor preference learning in rats.

A. Learning and mGluR-mediated NMDAR plasticity. During the 1st training, Ca²⁺

influx through NMDARs activates CaMKII, which phosphorylates AMPARs and facilitates AMPAR insertion into the synaptic membrane. Meanwhile, mGluR activation leads to Ca²⁺ release intracellularly and activates PP2B pathway and dephosphorylates NMDARs. The latter results in NMDAR endocytosis and down-regulation at 3 hr. Glu: glutamate; PP2B: phosphatase 2B (calcineurin).

B. NMDAR-mediated metaplasticity and unlearning. If re-training occurs at 3 hr, reduced Ca²⁺ influx through fewer NMDARs results in PP2B mediated AMPAR dephosphorylation and endocytosis. This re-sets the level of AMPARs to the original state before the 1st training.



Figure S1. Synaptic fraction is rich in PSD-95.

- A. Schematics of the tissue extraction protocol (also see Goebel-Goody et al 2009).
- **B.** Normalized relative optical density (ROD) of PSD-95 (1:8000, Abcam) and β -actin expressions (per µg protein) in cytosolic, extra-synaptic and synaptic membrane fractions. ** p < 0.01

Chapter 5

Revisit metaplasticity: the roles of calcineurin and histone deacetylation in unlearning odor preference memory in rat pups (This Chapter is a modified version of Battacharya, Mukherjee el al. Neurobiol Learn Mem. 2018 Feb 5. pii: S1074-7427(18)30016-9. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2018.02.003.)

5.1 Abstract

Previous work has shown that 24 h duration odor preference learning, induced by one-trial training, generates a down-regulation of the GluN1 receptor in anterior piriform cortex at 3 h, and results in metaplastic unlearning if a second training trial is given at 3 h. The GluN1 receptor upregulates at 24 h so 24 h spaced training is highly effective in extending memory duration. The present study replicates the piriform cortex unlearning result in the olfactory bulb circuit and further studies the relationship between the initial training strength and its associated metaplastic effect. Intrabulbar infusions that block calcineurin or inhibit histone deacetylation normally produce extended days-long memory. If given during training, they are not associated with GluN1 downregulation at 3 h and do not recruit an unlearning process at that time. The two memory strengthening protocols do not appear to interact, but are also not synergistic. These outcomes argue that it is critical to understand the metaplastic effects of training in order to optimize training protocols in the service of either memory strengthening or of memory weakening.

5.2 Introduction

Real life learning is not an isolated, stand-alone experience. Each learning event builds on previous experience and hence is unique in each individual. If learning is an accumulative, built-up process, then our memories cannot be accounted for by a single synaptic plasticity event during one experience. Metaplasticity describes the phenomenon by which the capacity for synaptic plasticity is altered by prior synaptic activity¹⁹⁵. Thus metaplasticity is likely critically involved in complex learning and directly influences behavioral outcomes. However, how metaplasticity occurs in vivo in a way that is relevant to cognitive function is not well understood.

Previously we have demonstrated that metaplasticity occurs in a natural learning model – early odor preference learning in rat pups^{446 505}. Week-old rat pups form a preference to an odor that is paired with a tactile stimulus signaling maternal care (e.g. stroking using a brush)^{329,442}. One trial, 10-min training can lead to a preference memory for the conditioned odor lasting up to 24 hs. Increasing the training strength by multi-trial, 24-h spaced training extends the memory to days⁴⁵¹. However, two trials of training separated by 3 h actually prevent the odor preference memory⁵⁰⁵.

Interestingly, synaptic NMDA receptors (NMDARs) in the anterior piriform cortex (aPC) decrease at 3 h, while they increase at 24 h following one trial training⁵⁰⁵. The altered plasticity at 3 h post the initial training is likely induced by occurring at the time of NMDAR down-regulation. Reduced Ca²⁺ entry via decreased numbers of NMDARs during the 2nd associative training at 3 h results in depotentiation (or LTD) of the aPC synapses and unlearning of the previous experience⁵⁰⁵. Indeed, blocking NMDARs during the 2nd training prevents the unlearning⁵⁰⁵. Further work shows that NMDAR down-regulation is mediated by both mGluR5 and calcineurin signaling⁴⁴⁶. Blocking either aPC mGluR5 or calcineurin during the initial training also prevents the unlearning induced by the 2nd training, 3 h later ⁴⁴⁶. The timing between the prior and subsequent training appears to be critical, as re-training at 24 h, when NMDA receptors are increased ⁵⁰⁵, enhances memory ⁴⁵¹.

Here we study the relationship between the strength of the initial learning and its metaplastic effect on subsequent training. We explore whether a stronger induction that produces "stronger" memory has the same metaplastic effect on 3 h re-training. Two protocols have been established previously that induce stronger odor preference memories (i.e. memories with prolonged durations). Blocking calcineurin with FK-506 ³⁸¹ or blocking histone deacetylation with class I/II histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitor trichostatin A (TSA) ²¹⁶ in the olfactory bulb (OB) extends one-trial odor preference memory for days. We have established that both the OB and aPC are plastic sites that are critical for early odor preference learning. NMDAR blockade in either site prevents odor

preference memory formation^{373,476}. OB NMDARs are also down-regulated at 3 h following training⁴⁷⁶. Since both calcineurin ^{446,514} and histone deacetylation ⁵²⁵ down-regulate NMDAR GluN1 subunit in other brain structures, here we first examine the effects of FK-506 or TSA OB infusion during single trial training on GluN1 expression and subsequent learning at 3 h. After establishing their effects on NMDAR regulation and unlearning, we examined possible cross-talk between calcineurin and histone acetylation in the OB.

5.3 Materials and Methods

In the following sections I will describe the methodologies I have used for my last project.

5.3.1 Animals

Sprague Dawley (Charles River, Canada) rat pups of both sexes were used in this study. The day of birth was considered postnatal day (PND) 0. Litters were culled to 12 rat pups on PND1. Animals were kept in temperature-controlled rooms (20-25°C) on reverse 12 h light/dark cycles. All experimental procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care Committee at Memorial University of Newfoundland following the guidelines set by the Canadian Council on Animal Care.

5.3.2 Cannula implantation and olfactory bulb infusion

On PND 5, rat pups were anaesthetized by hypothermia and placed in a stereotaxic apparatus. The skull was exposed and two small holes were drilled over the central region of each OB. The cannulae were implanted into the OB and cemented to the skull. The skin was sutured together and pups were allowed to recover on warm bedding before being returned to the dam. All drugs were infused into the OB on PND 6 at 20 min before the first training. 1.0 μ l of a drug was injected bilaterally into the OB for behavioral experiments using a 10 μ l micro-syringe. In pups for quantitative immunoblotting, drugs were infused either bilaterally into the OB (Fig. 5.4) or in one side into the OB with vehicle infused into the contralateral bulb (Fig. 5.2,5.3,5.5,5.6 and 5.7).

5.3.3 Drug Preparation

Pharmacological agents used include TSA (working concentration 0.05 μ g/ μ l/OB as described earlier (Bhattacharya et al., 2017) (dissolved in 10% DMSO; Cedarlane, <u>Canada; Cat. No. T-1052</u>), a calcineurin (phosphatase 2B) inhibitor FK-506 (5 mM, dissolved in 10% DMSO; Tocris; Cat. No. 3631) and a phosphatase 1/2A inhibitor okadaic acid (500 μ M, dissolved in 10% DMSO; Calbiochem; Cat. No. 459620). The

working concentrations for FK-506 and okadaic acid used produced the published results in our previous work⁴⁴⁶.

5.3.4 Training

A single 10 min training session was performed on PND 6 rat pups in temperature controlled (28°C) behaviour rooms. After the drug infusion, pups were placed on peppermint-scented bedding for 10 min and stroked with a paint brush for 30 sec every other 30 sec. Pups in the non-learning condition were placed on the peppermint-scented bedding for 10 min without stroking. Peppermint-scented bedding was prepared by adding 0.3 ml of peppermint extract (G.E. Barbour Inc., Canada) to 500 ml of regular unscented woodchip bedding. Pups were returned to the dam immediately after training until re-training, testing or sacrifice. For the re-training behaviour experiment, pups were re-trained at 3 h after the first training. Pups were re-exposed to peppermint-scented bedding while being stroked using the same procedure as in the first training. Pups were returned to the dam after re-training.

For Figure 1 experiment, unilateral naris occlusion was performed before the odor+stroking training as described previously^{446,451,505}. Nose plugs were constructed using polyethylene 20 tubing and silk surgical thread. 2% Xylocaine gel (AstraZeneca) was applied to the left naris of the pup. After 3-5 min rest, the plug was gently inserted in

the left naris of the pup. After 10-min habituation, the pup underwent training. The nose plug was removed immediately following training and the pup returned to dams.

5.3.5 Testing

Twenty- four hours following the initial training, pups were tested for odor preference memory by using a two-choice odor preference test. Testing was carried out in a stainless steel test box placed over two training boxes. For all of the tests, one training box contained peppermint-scented bedding, and the other contained normal, unscented bedding. Training boxes were separated by a 2 cm neutral zone. During testing, each rat pup, one at a time, was separated from the dam and transferred to a no bedding holding cage in the testing room to prevent odor contamination. To start the testing, the pup was placed in the neutral zone of the test box. The percentage of time spent over peppermintscented bedding or normal bedding for each pup was recorded during each of five 1 min trials. Pups were given 30 sec of resting time in a clean holding cage between each of the five 1 min trials.

5.3.6 Immuno-Blotting

After training, pups were decapitated and OBs were quickly removed and flashfrozen on dry ice at one of three different time points (5 min., 10 min. and 3 h). Samples were stored at -80^oC until further processing.

5.3.7 Synaptic and Extra-synaptic Protein Extraction Protocol

Tissues were homogenized in 100 µl sucrose buffer (in (mM): 320 sucrose, 10 Tris (pH 7.4), 1 sodium dodecyl sulfate tris-ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), 1 ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid (EGTA), 1× complete protease inhibitor mixture and phosphatase inhibitor mixture (phosSTOP, Roche) at 5500 xg for 20 sec in a homogenizer (Precellys® 24). The homogenate was centrifuged at 1000 xg at 4^oC for 15 min to remove the nuclear fraction and incompletely homogenized material (P1). The supernatant (S1) was collected and centrifuged at 10,000 xg at 4^oC for 20 min to obtain the membrane fraction (P2) and remove the cytosolic fraction (S2). The pellet (P2) was re-suspended in 80 µl 1X STE (sodium dodecyl sulfate tris-EDTA): 100 mM Tris (pH 7.4), 10 mM EDTA, 1% SDS, 1× protease and phosphatase inhibitors) buffer. P2 samples were sonicated and then heated to 90^oC for 3 min to solubilize the pellet.

5.3.8 Synaptic and Cytosolic +Nuclear (CY+NU) Protein Extraction Protocol

Purification of synaptic membrane followed previously published procedures⁴⁴⁶. Tissue samples were homogenized using a Teflon glass tissue homogenizer (Thomas Scientific) in ice-cold sucrose buffer (300 µL, same composition as aforementioned). Teflon glass tissue homogenizer was wiped with 70% ethanol after each sample preparation. The homogenized samples were centrifuged at 1000 xg for 10 min. The pellet (P1) was collected as the nuclear fraction. The supernatant (S1) was further spun at 10,000 xg for 25 min to obtain a second supernatant (S2, cytosolic fraction) which was then mixed with the nuclear fraction (P1) to get the cyto+nuclear fraction (S2+P1). The pellet (P2) was re-suspended in 120 µL sucrose buffer using a pestle mixing/grinding rod (Thomas Scientific) directly in the microfuge tube. Then, 8 volumes of a non-ionic detergent Triton X-100 buffer (final 0.5% v/v; (in mM) 10 Tris (pH 7.4), 1 EDTA, 1 EGTA, $1 \times$ protease and phosphatase inhibitors) were added for detergent extraction. This suspension was incubated at 4°C for 35 min with gentle rotation. Then, the suspension was centrifuged at 28 000 xg for 30 min. This pellet (P3, postsynaptic densities and synaptic junctions that are insoluble in Triton X-100) was re-suspended in 100 µL of TE buffer and sonicated. Then samples were boiled for 5 min and stored at -80°C until further processing.

Protein concentrations for all those samples (Synaptic + extra-synaptic protein, synaptic and cyto+nuclear protein) were determined by using a bicinchoninic acid (BCA) protein assay kit (Pierce).

5.3.9 Western-Blotting

Samples were mixed with 5x sample buffer (50mM Tris-HCl, pH6.8, 10% glycerol, 5% 2-mercaptoethanol, 2% SDS, 0.125% Bromophenol Blue) and de-ionized water (to adjust total volume to 25 μ l). Samples were heated for 5 min at 100^oC prior to loading onto either 10% or 15% polyacrylamide gel. Samples were then transferred to nitrocellulose membrane (Millipore) at 100 volts for 60 min at 4^o C. Following transfer, nitrocellulose membranes were washed in Tris-buffered saline with 0.1% Tween (TBST) for 3x5 min. Blots were blocked in 5% non-fat dry milk + TBST for 1 h at room temperature. After washing, blots were incubated in primary antibody overnight at 4^{0} C with continuous shaking. For determining NMDA receptor (GluN1), total calcineurin (PP2B), and catalytic calcineurin (cat PP2B) expression, immunoblots were cut horizontally, and the upper portions were probed with a rabbit antibody for GluN1 (1:3000, Cell Signalling; Cat. No. 5704S), total PP2B (1:5000, cell signaling; Cat. No. 2614S), and cat PP2B (1:5000, EMD Millipore; Cat. No. 07-068-I). The lower portions were probed with β -Actin (purified rabbit anti- β -actin, 1:5000, Cell Signaling; Cat. No.4967S) as a loading control.

For determining histone 3 phosphorylation at serine 10 (pH3), immunoblots were probed with a rabbit antibody for PH3 (1:2500, Cell Signaling; Cat. No. 9701S), with total histone3 (tH3, 1/5000, Cell Signaling; Cat. No. 4499S) as a loading control.

Blots were then washed in TBST (3x10 min) and incubated in secondary antibody (goat anti-rabbit conjugated with horseradish peroxide; Thermoscientific, Cat. No. 31460) with 5% non-fat dry milk +TBST, for 1.5 h at room temperature and then washed in TBST (3x10 min). Specific protein bands were visualized using chemiluminescence (Supersignal West Pico; Thermoscientific, <u>USA</u>). Blots were exposed for different times to film (Kodak Clinic Select Green; Eastman Kodak company, USA) and the optical density (OD) of each band were measured using Image J software.

Given that there have been reports questioning the suitability of β -actin as a loading control in certain model system⁵²⁶, we show that in our synaptic fraction preparation, both GluN1 and β -actin show adequate dynamic ranges and the amount of loading we used (30 µg protein) is optimal and within the linear range of concentration detection curves (Supplementary Figure 5.1).

5.3.10 Statistical analysis

Paired t-test were used in Fig. 1, 2, 4, and 5. One-way ANOVA was used in Fig. 3. Two-way ANOVA was used in Fig. 6 and 7. Data were presented as mean ± S.E.M.

5.4 Results

In the following sections I will describe my results from the Chapter 5.

5.4.1 Calcineurin blockade in the OB prevented GluN1 down-regulation

We first replicated our previous data that early odor preference learning downregulates OB GluN1 subunits⁴⁷⁶. Using unilateral naris occlusion, we showed that decreased GluN1 expression in the OB with open naris 3 h following odor training (normalized relative optical density (ROD): 0.91 ± 0.12) compared to the OB with occluded naris (ROD: 1.26 ± 0.12 , n = 9, t = 2.82, p = 0.02; Fig. 5.1). We have shown that early odor learning can be lateralized by unilateral naris occlusion⁴⁵¹. Our result also shows that GluN1 down-regulation induced by learning occurs at synaptic membrane.

We infused FK-506 (a calcineurin antagonist) into one OB and vehicle into the other OB 20 min before the odor conditioning and measured NMDAR GluN1 subunit levels 3 h following the training (Fig. 5.2A). We observed an increased level of synaptic GluN1 expression in the FK-506 infused OB (ROD: 1.16 ± 0.22 , n = 8) compared to the vehicle infused OB (ROD: 0.57 ± 0.07 , n = 8; t = 2.56, p = 0.04; Fig. 5.2B). FK-506 infusion did not change basal level of GluN1 in naïve pups (O/S(-); ROD saline: 1.33 ± 0.30 , n = 5; ROD FK-506: 1.30 ± 0.08 ; t = 0.12, p = 0.91; Fig. 5.2C). Unilateral infusion

of a PP1 inhibitor Okadaic acid, on the other hand, did not change the level of OB GluN1 (Okadaic acid: 0.90 ± 0.13 ; vehicle: 0.92 ± 0.09 ; n = 10; t = 0.14, p = 0.89; Fig. 5.2D). These results suggest that calcineurin mediates the early down-regulation of GluN1 in the OB following early odor preference training. Interestingly, calcineurin blockade also prevents GluN1 down-regulation in the aPC at 3 h⁴⁴⁶.

5.4.2 Calcineurin blockade in the OB prevented unlearning

Calcineurin inhibition during one-trial training maintained the odor preference memory up to 96 hs from the normal 24 hs³⁸¹. Calcineurin blockade prolongs NMDAR opening ⁵²⁷ and enhances NMDAR current⁵²⁸, which could account for its effect in promoting learning. Interestingly, at the same time, calcineurin inhibition prevents NMDAR internalization ⁵¹⁴ and down-regulation ⁴⁴⁶ (see also Fig. 5.2B). We next tested whether FK-506 OB infusion had any effect on unlearning at 3 h (Fig. 5.3A). One-way ANOVA revealed a significant group effect ($F_{4,21} = 57.4$; p < 0.001; Fig. 5.3B). Single odor+stroking (O/S) training led to successful preference learning (63.0 ± 1.11% over peppermint) compared to the odor only (O/O) control group (29.20 ± 1.69%; t = 8.08; p < 0.001). Two trials of O/S training separated by 3 h abolished the odor preference memory (34.56 ± 3.38%; t = 7.45; p < 0.001 compared to the one trial O/S training). However, OB infusion of FK-506 prevented the unlearning induced by two trials of training in vehicle infused pups. Pups in the FK-506 group spent significantly more time over peppermint during testing (68.1 ± 2.09%) compared to the vehicle infused pups (t = 9.80, p < 0.001).

5.4.3 Inhibiting OB Histone Deacetylation by TSA Prevented GluN1 Downregulation and Unlearning

Similar to the calcineurin effect, histone deacetylation blockade by TSA extends odor preference memory up to 9 days²¹⁶. Here we studied whether TSA infusion affected GluN1 expression at 3 h, and unlearning induced by re-training at 3 h (Fig. 5.4A). TSA bilateral OB infusions prevented unlearning. The TSA infused group given two trials of training separated by 3 hs spent significantly more time over peppermint during testing (TSA: $62.30 \pm 7.98\%$, vehicle: $26.24 \pm 3.80\%$; n = 7; t = 4.08, p < 0.01; Fig. 5.4B). In parallel, the TSA infused OB group (ROD: 1.62 ± 0.23) showed significantly higher levels of GluN1 than the vehicle infused OB (0.68 ± 0.02 ; n = 8; t = 4.08, p < 0.01; Fig. 5.4C). Thus both FK-506 and TSA, which normally produce prolonged odor preference memory, prevented unlearning induced by a 2nd training trial.

5.4.4 No Simple Interactions of Calcineurin and Histone Deacetylation Occurred in Down-regulating GluN1

Do calcineurin and histone deacetylation act independently or synergistically in regulating GluN1 levels at 3 h following associative learning? To study whether there is an interaction between the effects of calcineurin and histone deacetylation, we first tested if there was any additional effect on GluN1 expression when TSA was added to FK-506

(Fig. 5.5A). FK-506 and TSA co-infused OBs showed no difference in GluN1 level (ROD: 0.64 ± 0.13) compared to the FK-506 only OBs (ROD: 0.64 ± 0.05 ; n = 8; t = 0.02, p = 0.98; Fig. 5.5B). This result implies one of two possibilities: 1) FK-506 and TSA work synergistically through the same pathway to influence GluN1 expressions; or (2) they do not interact synergistically. However, GluN1 down-regulation is saturated by either calcineurin or histone deacetylation signaling, thus no additional effect was observed by combining the two.

HDAC inhibition alters hippocampal calmodulin kinase II (CaMKII) activity^{529,530}, which is the upstream substrate of calcineurin^{531,532}. We next explored whether TSA had any effect on the total level of calcineurin in the OB following odor preference learning (Fig. 5.6A). We measured total calcineurin levels in the nuclear/cytoplasmic fractions (Fig. 5.6B) and synaptic fractions (Fig. 5.6C), as well as the synaptically activated calcineurin levels (Fig. 5.6D). A 2 x 3 Group x Time repeated ANOVA was carried out in each case. For nuclear/cytoplasmic total calcineurin, there was no significant effect of group ($F_{1,28} = 0.03$; p = 0.87), but there was a significant effect of time ($F_{2,28} = 5.22$; p = 0.01) with no group x time interaction ($F_{2,28} = 0.18$; p =0.84) (Fig. 5.6B). For total synaptic calcineurin, there was no significant effect of group $(F_{1,28} = 0.02; p = 0.90)$, time $(F_{2,28} = 1.81; p = 0.18)$, or group x time interaction $(F_{2,28} = 0.02; p = 0.90)$ 0.18; p = 0.84) (Fig. 5.6C). The same results occurred for activated synaptic calcineurin found by measuring catalytic subunits. There was no significant effect of group ($F_{1,28}$ = 0.43; p = 0.52), time (F_{2,28} = 1.33; p = 0.28), or group x time interaction (F_{2,28} = 0.09; p =0.91) (Fig. 5.6D). Overall, there is no effect of TSA on calcineurin levels at various times

following early odor preference learning. Thus, TSA infusion does not alter calcineurin or activated calcineurin.

We then investigated the possibility that calcineurin could potentially alter histone acetylation through an effect on histone phosphorylation. In the hippocampus, histone H3 phosphorylation and acetylation co-occur with contextual learning via extracellular signal-regulated kinase/mitogen-activated protein kinase (ERK/MAPK) pathways^{533,534}. Dephosphorylation of ERK pathway by calcineurin ⁵³⁵ therefore likely alters histone signaling. We tested the effect of FK-506 on H3 phosphorylation following early odor preference learning (Fig. 5.7A). A 2 x 3 Group x Time repeated ANOVA was carried out. There was no significant effect of group ($F_{1,30} = 0.18$; p = 0.67), but there was a significant effect of time ($F_{2,30} = 8.48$; p < 0.01), with no group x time interaction ($F_{2,30} = 0.62$; p = 0.54) (Fig. 5.7B).

5.5 Discussion

In this study, we discovered that manipulations that were previously established to produce stronger memory (memory lasting longer than 24 h that is normally provided by one-trial training), such as those induced in the presence of the calcineurin inhibitor FK-506 ³⁸¹ or the histone deacetylation inhibitor TSA²¹⁶, do not exhibit a metaplastic behavioral unlearning phase at 3 h post-training. Such pharmacological manipulations also prevent NMDA GluN1 down-regulation at 3 h. There was no direct interaction of the

calcineurin and histone deacetylation substrates during or following odor preference learning, even though nuclear/cytoplasmic calcineurin level decreased at 3 h, while phosphorylated H3 increased at the same time.

5.5.1 NMDAR Plasticity Following Olfactory Learning and its Metaplastic Effect

NMDAR plasticity has been well characterized in the olfactory system. NMDAR subunit composition in the piriform cortex is altered following both development ⁴⁸¹ and associative learning in adult animals^{213,536}, indexed by increased ratio of NMDAR GluN2A/2B in both scenario. The amount of NMDARs, indexed by the essential unit GluN1, and NMDAR current, are altered following neonatal odor learning in both the OB ^{475,476} and aPC⁵⁰⁵. However, the impact of NMDAR plasticity on future learning capacity has been understudied.

Previously we have shown that one-trial training, which normally induces a 24 h preference memory, undergoes a metaplastic unlearning-promoting phase in the aPC during memory consolidation at 3 h. This metaplastic phase was induced by aPC NMDAR down-regulation⁵⁰⁵. While odor preference learning is mediated by NMDARs, NMDAR plasticity and metaplastic unlearning are independent of NMDARs since NMDAR blockade prevents odor learning, but does not affect unlearning⁵⁰⁵. This implies that the lack of unlearning metaplasticity we observe here with odor training is an independent process from the original learning itself. Here we show that GluN1 down-

regulation occurs in the OB as well and that preventing OB GluN1 down-regulation also abolishes unlearning. Both OB and aPC are implicated in the encoding of the early odor preference memory^{329,373,476}. Our data reveal the same dual circuitries (in the OB and in the aPC) for metaplastic unlearning.

5.5.2 Mechanisms for Calcineurin and Histone Deacetylation in NMDAR Downregulation

Acetylation of histone H3 can loosen DNA-histone interactions to enhance the transcription of target genes⁵³⁷. Suppressing HDAC activity has been correlated with enhanced histone acetylation at the NMDAR subunit promoters in primary neocortical cell culture⁵³⁸, hippocampal CA1 neurons⁵³⁹, frontal cortex⁵⁴⁰, and striatum⁵²⁵. On the other hand, calcineurin may promote NMDAR down-regulation via dephosphorylation of GluN2B at Tyr1472 and triggering clathrin-mediated endocytosis of NMDARS⁵¹⁴.

Do calcineurin and histone deacetylation act independently or synergistically in down-regulating NMDAR GluN1? We first tested what effect enhanced histone acetylation had (by TSA administration) on calcineurin expression or activity during odor preference learning. Possible interaction could occur through CaMKII activation by HDAC inhibitor ^{529,530} and CaMKII activation of calcineurin⁵³². We showed no change in the levels of nuclear and synaptic calcineurin, and synaptically activated calcineurin production in the TSA group compared to the control at multiple times following learning. We then investigated whether calcineurin promoted histone deacetylation

through its potential influence on H3 phosphorylation. H3 and H4 are major forms of histone that are critically involved in learning. In an olfactory aversive learning model, both H3 and H4 acetylation are increased in the OB following conditioning⁴⁵⁴. Contextual fear conditioning increases H3 phosphorylation at Ser10⁵³⁴ and acetylation at Lys14⁵³³ 1 h post-training. The proximity between Ser10 and Lys14 sites implies a possible interaction between H3 phosphorylation and acetylation⁵⁴¹. Indeed, studies have suggested that H3 phosphorylation may be a prerequisite for H3 acetylation in certain scenarios^{542,543}. Both H3 phosphorylation and acetylation are regulated by ERK/MAPK pathways (Chwang et al., 2006). ERK/MAPK is a target of calcineurin mediated dephosphorylation⁵³⁵. Calcineurin could reduce H3 phosphorylation via decreasing ERK/MAPK signaling. However, our results showed no difference in H3 levels in FK-506 treated OBs compared to the vehicle infused ones. Interestingly, H3 phosphorylation significantly increased 3 h following odor preference conditioning, suggesting histone activation was enhanced by natural associative learning, consistent with other models⁵³⁴.

5.5.3 Functional implications for NMDAR metaplasticity in learning

Metaplasticity permits dynamic regulation of synaptic changes (threshold and direction) ⁴⁹⁶ during complex learning and is likely critical for long-term memory formation. Metaplasticity can be manifested in different forms in behavior. Stress, and associated high levels of corticosterone, induces acute or chronic synaptic changes that can alter learning capacity. Behavioral stress impairs NMDAR-dependent LTP and hippocampal-dependent learning⁵⁰¹. In both visual ⁴⁸⁰ and olfactory ⁴⁸¹ cortices, changes

in LTP or LTD capability are observed following periods of sensory deprivation or enrichment. Metaplastic manipulations can be used for therapeutic purposes. A recent study shows that metaplastic activation of ryanodine receptors restores long term LTP and its associated synaptic properties in an APP/PS1 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease⁵⁴⁴.

Our studies in early odor preference learning provide direct evidence in support of NMDAR plasticity as a mechanism for metaplasticity in natural learning^{446,505}. We have provided some of the first evidence that learning itself affects future learning capacity at the very same synapses. Previously we have shown that metaplasticty is critically dependent on timing (i.e. intervals between training trials). Here we demonstrate that the metaplastic effect is influenced by the strength of the initial learning, such that only weak learning down-regulates NMDARs but strong learning prevents NMDAR down-regulation and its associated metaplastic effect. In an amygdala-dependent fear conditioning paradigm, a weak training trial, which does not produce fear memory, can prime future learning. Another weak trial delivered hours later results in long-lasting and robust fear memory⁵⁰². Together, these studies suggest that the strength of the priming event may determine the nature of the synaptic changes and the behavioral output.

5.6 Conclusion

We show that the metaplastic effects of initial learning are dependent on learning strength. A weak learning that only produces a 24 h duration memory results in NMDAR

down-regulation and primes unlearning by the same training at 3 h. NMDAR upregulation at 24 h following the initial learning, on the other hand, is associated with effective re-training at the 24 h interval enhancing and prolonging learning. Here a calcineurin inhibitor, as well as a histone deacetylation inhibitor given during training and producing strong learning, prevents the 3 h NMDAR down-regulation event, abolishing synaptic weakening and preventing unlearning. Understanding behavioral metaplasticity, and its associated properties, has significant therapeutic implications for enhancing training and improving adaptive learning and for diminishing maladaptive behaviors following traumatic experience.



Figure 5.1. Early odor preference learning down-regulated GluN1 expression in the OB

A. Schematic of training and tissue collection. O/S(+): Odor+Stroke training. B. GluN1 expression is reduced in the OB of open naris 3 h following odor preference learning.

*p<0.05







Figure 5.3. FK-506 prevented unlearning

A. Schematic of training and testing. B. FK-506 prevents unlearning induced by a 2nd

training at 3 h. O/S: odor+stroking; O/O: odor only; **p<0.01



Figure 5.4. TSA prevented GluN1 down-regulation and unlearning

A. Schematic of training, testing and tissue collection. B. TSA prevents unlearning induced by a 2^{nd} training at 3 h. C. TSA increases the GluN1 level in OB. *p<0.05; **p<0.01


Figure 5.5. No additive effects of TSA and FK-506 on GluN1 levels in the OB A. Schematic of training and tissue collection. B. FK-506+TSA OBs show similar levels

of GluN1 as that of FK-506 only OBs.



Figure 5.6. TSA had no effect on calcineurin expression levels in the OB following early odor preference training

A. Schematic of training and tissue collection. B. Expression levels of calcineurin (PP2B)

in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fraction (CY+NU) of the OB. C. Expression levels of

PP2B in the synaptic extract of the OB. D. Expression levels of activated PP2B in the

synaptic extract of the OB; Veh, vehicle.



Figure 5.7. FK-506 had no effect on histone H3 phosphorylation

A. Schematic of training and tissue collection. B. Expression levels of phosphorylated H3

(pH3) in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fraction (CY+NU) of the OB.

6. Summary

In my thesis, I have investigated the role of NMDARs in early odor preference learning and how NMDARs mediate synaptic plasticity and metaplasticity. During my thesis, I have delineated molecular pathways underlying synaptic plasticity and metaplasticity in early odor preference learning, and these findings may have implications for general learning and learning optimization. In the following sections, I will summarize and discuss the findings from Chapter 2 to Chapter 5.

6.1 Differential roles of NMDAR and LTCC in Early Odor Preference Learning

Previously, researchers have characterized the functions of LTCCs and NMDARs separately by focusing on their independent contributions. The channel properties of NMDARs and LTCCs have been well-characterized ^{545 546}. It had been shown that NMDARs plays a crucial role in LTP ¹⁷¹ and in the initiation of learning ¹⁸⁵ whereas LTCCs helps in the maintenance of LTP ⁵⁴⁷and LTM even though both allow Ca2+ into the cell ⁵⁴⁸. Ca2+ entry through NMDARs and LTCCs can trigger different signaling cascades which are important for different aspects of learning ^{549,550}. There have also been detailed characterizations of the signaling pathways affected by Ca2+ entry through NMDARs and LTCCs, but evidence for the distinct yet complementary roles of these two channel proteins in learning are sparse.

Previously it had been shown that both long-term fear memory ⁴⁵⁵ and odor preference memory required CREB signaling ⁴⁴³ ³⁹³ ³⁷³. In a recent study, our group also

reported that local AMPAR insertion into the synaptic membrane accompanies STM and this AMPAR insertion is mediated by CaMKII signaling ⁵⁰. An NMDAR-mediated CaMKII activation leading to AMPAR insertion mechanism for LTP effects has previously been described by R.C. Malenka in 2012 ⁴⁸⁵. In my work (Chapter 2), I investigated the differential roles of NMDAR and LTCC in early odor preference learning.

My new research extends these findings and clearly shows that NMDARs and LTCCs are important for different phases of memory. The three temporal phases of early odor preference memory have been well characterized by Grimes et al. in 2011. Short-term memory (up to 3 hr) is independent of transcription and translation, intermediate memory (5 hr) requires transcription but not the translation, and long-term memory (24 hr) is dependent on both transcription and translation. I have shown that blocking NMDARs prevents both STM and LTM in early odor preference memory.

Blocking NMDARs decreased AMPAR expression relative to learning controls at synaptic sites at 3 h and at 24 h. In contrast, inhibition of LTCCs prevented LTM without affecting STM. However, the loss of NMDAR function, which prevents STM, can be compensated for by overdriving LTCCs and, again, increased synaptic AMPAR changes correlate with renewed STM memory expression.

These results suggest calcium changes can transiently enhance AMPAR expression at synaptic sites without requiring a change in protein synthesis. Further investigation of the mechanism of increased synaptic expression will be of interest. Both insertion from the mobile cytoplasmic pool and lateral movement from extrasynaptic sites are candidate mediators ⁴¹⁶, but the translocation must be transient without protein synthesis changes. These data also suggest that NMDARs play a crucial role in both STM and LTM whereas LTCCs normally exclusively support LTM. However, it remains to be clarified how these two calcium entry channels are differentially engaged with the downstream signalling pathways that lead to either STM or LTM.

Subcellular localization of NMDARs and LTCC s are likely critical for their roles in learning and memory. Researchers have shown that NMDARs are localized in the synaptic membrane ⁵⁵¹ whereas LTCCs are abundant mainly in somatic areas ^{375 429}. These different subcellular localizations imply differential roles for NMDARs and LTCCs in intracellular signaling. Specifically, we have shown that the activation of somatic LTCCs is dependent on the initial activation of more distant NMDARs, which is consistent with early research on striatal neurons ⁵⁵². Somatic LTCC activation allows Ca2+ influx and leads to different protein kinase activation than that seen for NMDA receptors, for example, CaMKIV ^{553 554} and PKA ⁵⁵⁴. The Ca²⁺ dependent kinase activation phosphorylates CREB for transcription of plasticity-related mRNAs.

Another intriguing finding from my research is that LTCC activation in the absence of NMDAR activation results in impaired discrimination of the conditioned odor from a similar odor mixture. AMPAR expression was increased in the group with LTCC activation alone in the absence of NMDAR activation. We hypothesize that increased AMPARs in absence of NMDAR activation occurs in a more diffuse pattern due to missing synaptic tags. Diffuse insertion of AMPARs would explain the loss of input specificity, which further leads to impairment in pattern separation. Identifying spatial differences in AMPA-receptor insertion in these experiments remains a topic for further study. The present data suggest that NMDARs play a critical role in mediating stimulus specificity in early odor preference learning. There is compelling evindence that memory allocation to specific neurons and synapses is not a random process ⁵⁵⁵. This requires specific mechanisms like, neuronal excitability, synaptic tagging and capture that determines where the specific memory will be allocated ⁵⁵⁵. Similar odor mixture can activate different neurons and synapses in the neuronal circuitry ⁵⁵⁶. Also, neurons get activated other than conditioned stimulus. This activation of neuron can reduce the distinctiveness of the encoding ensemble. During this activation NMDAR determines which synapse needs to be strenghtned and after that incorporation of AMPAR takes place in the specific synapses which could serve as a synaptic tag for maintainance of the memory or memory consolidation. On the other hand activation of LTCCs in absence of NMDARs leads to random incorporation of AMPAR and synaptic strengthening takes place in other synapses. This random incorporation leads to generalization of memory and complicay in pattern separation at the circuitry level.

6.2.2 NMDAR Plasticity following Early Odor Preference Learning

NMDARs play a crucial role as coincidence detectors for mediating synapse specific AMPAR plasticity in associative learning ¹⁴⁵, including early odor preference learning ³¹⁶ ³⁷³. Recent evidence has shown that NMDARs themselves undergo plastic changes, particularly, during development ⁴⁷⁷. The data suggest that during development NMDAR subunit composition changes from mainly GluN2A to GluN2B subunits. In the piriform cortex, a reverse switch from GluN2B to GluN2A occurs in adult rats following olfactory rule learning ²¹³. In my research, I have shown a biphasic change in the obligatory NMDAR subunit GluN1 at the synaptic site following early odor preference training. We observed a downregulation of GluN1 at the synaptic site at 3 hr and an increase of GluN1 expression at 24 hr after training. We have also reported that LTD is inducible at 3 hr but LTP was impaired at the same time point. Unlike the adult rat rule learning model, we did not observe any reductions in GluN2B expression at the LOTaPC pyramidal cell synapses following early odor preference training. This may relate to the already high levels of GluN2A expression at this developmental stage. These data suggest that GluN1 downregulation at LOT synapses is responsible for the reduced NMDAR synaptic transmission at 3 hr after training, which is associated with inducible LTD.

Interestingly, the NMDAR LTD at 3 hr post-training, co-exists with AMPAR LTP at the same LOT-aPC synapses ³⁷³. A similar observation was reported in a study on nucleus accumbens ⁴⁸⁶. In that report, simultaneous LTP of non-NMDA receptors and LTD of NMDAR in the nucleus accumbens was also described. With respect to other literature, it is very likely that AMPAR LTP and NMDAR LTD are both mediated by

Ca2+ concentration ⁴⁷⁷. Kombian and Malenka showed that the same postsynaptic Ca2+ concentration might have an opposite effect on AMPAR and NMDAR mediated synaptic responses ⁴⁸⁶. Interestingly, 24 hr following early odor preference training, there is an increase in GluN1 expression at the synaptic site in aPC which coincides with both enhanced LTP ³⁷³ and impaired LTD. We hypothesize that increased AMPARs and NMDARs 24 hr following training may have saturated the synapse with respect to AMPAR insertion, which leads to impaired LTP, while the high Ca²⁺ concentration occurring through the increased NMDARs might be responsible for the impairment in LTD.

6.2.3 Metaplasticity and Behavior

It has been shown that learning can result in increased neuronal excitability in different learning tasks and in different brain areas ^{214 557 212 558 559}. This intrinsic excitability change has been recognized as a metaplastic mechanism, which facilitates future learning through priming ^{560 561}. Priming itself does not induce behavioral changes but it changes neuronal intrinsic excitability which influences subsequent plasticity events and, thus, behavior. Also, it appears priming effects (changes in intrinsic excitability) do not last for long periods; eventually intrinsic excitability goes back to its baseline level even though learning persists ^{562 209 210}.

Zelcer et al. (2006) first showed a priming effect on behavior. In this study, they reported that well-trained rats that had learned the rule for an odor discrimination paradigm,

performed more rapidly on subsequent discriminations between new odors ⁵⁶³. They showed that an increase in intrinsic excitability followed rule learning and accompanied the more rapid performance. The intrinsic neuronal excitability lasts for approximately 24 hr after training. Surprisingly, in a hippocampus-dependent Morris water maze experiment, the odor rule learning rats exhibit superior performance compared to control rats that have never received prior odor discrimination training. They also reported that if the water maze training is delayed for 3 days after the odor discrimination training, there are no differences between the groups. At the same time, increased intrinsic excitability also goes back to baseline. This study suggests time windows for metaplastic changes, which is consistent with our own finding.

In another study, Clem et al. showed sensory experience can also regulate both future plasticity and learning ⁵⁶⁴. After removing a single vibrissa, whisker experience resulted in synaptic strengthening in the spared barrel cortical neurons. This effect depended on glutamate signaling through NMDARs. *In vitro* studies showed that the spared barrel cortical neurons exhibited impaired or partially occluded LTP. The same study revealed that blocking NMDARs in the spared barrel cortical neurons leads to a form of synaptic strengthening which is dependent on mGluR. The single whisker removal not only altesr the synaptic state but also affect subsequent learning. Overall, the study indicates that behavioral experience alters synaptic state which further alters the mechanisms of later synaptic plasticity and learning.

In a Pavlovian classical conditioning study, Parsons and Davis (2012) ⁵⁰² described the effect of metaplasticity on learning ⁵⁰². The behavioral paradigm was fear conditioning where a presentation of light was paired with shock for two trials, which generates a fear memory to the light. If the rat is given only one trial they do not form a memory as revealed by <u>behavioral</u> tests, but surprisingly this weaker stimulus primes the rats for subsequent learning. The same rat displays robust fear memory if a second identical trial is delivered within one hour following the first trial. This priming effect is dependent on PKA signaling. Blocking of PKA in the amygdala shortly before the first trial blocked fear memory formation after the second trial.

These studies and others have shown some forms of metaplasticity can lead to facilitation of memory and to associated synaptic strengthening. My research has shown a metaplastic effect which negatively regulates synaptic plasticity and memory. Attenuation of a cue-specific memory occurred via a metaplastic mechanism. In my study, I have shown that identical retraining at 3 hr after initial training leads to unlearning. This effect is time-dependent such that if the second training is given 24 hr later then the memory remains intact. I have shown that this attenuation of NMDARs at aPC synapses. I have also shown that activating different synapses by using a new odor 3 hr after the first training does not affect the original cue-specific memory. Only activation of the same synapses via the same conditioned odor cue affects the odor preference memory and leads to unlearning. Blocking NMDARs before retraining blocks unlearning, which suggests again that attenuation of the memory after retraining is mediated by the NMDAR. I

subsequently characterized the molecular mechanisms of the NMDAR plasticity and metaplasticity in this model.

6.2.4 Molecular Mechanism of NMDAR Plasticity and Metaplasticity

In continuation of my previous project, I decided to further decipher the molecular mechanisms of NMDAR plasticity and metaplasticity (Chapter 4). Identifying molecular mechanisms will eventually be crucial for building models of learning and memory substrates and for manipulating learning and memory in clinical settings.

Previously, as reviewed, I had shown that 3 hr after the training there is a downregulation of the NMDAR-GluN1 subunit at the aPC-LOT synapse. Unlike learning itself, blocking NMDARs prior to the first training does not inhibit this downregulation of NMDARs. I then asked whether the physical NMDAR down-regulation is mediated by mGluR activation during training. There are two main types of mGluRs present in these postsynaptic cells specifically mGluR1 and 5⁵⁶⁵. Both of them have the ability to activate TRP type channels which trigger calcium release inside cells ^{566 567}. I have shown that inhibiting mGluR5 prior to first training inhibits the downregulation of NMDAR at 3 hr and blocks the NMDAR mediated unlearning after retraining. I further showed that the downregulation of NMDAR is mediated by the phosphatase calcineurin. Unlearning is prevented when calcineurin in the piriform cortex is blocked before the first training. But still, the question remains with respect to how the downregulated NMDARs cause

unlearning during the second training. Hypothetically, downregulation of NMDARs could lead to low Ca2+ concentrations, which would further lead to activation of the same protein, calcineurin. The activation of calcineurin produces dephosphorylation of the NMDAR and its subsequent downregulation in first place and its stronger activation by lower calcium levels (fewer NMDA receptors now) the second time would dephosphorylate AMPAR during retraining via activation of the phosphotase. Dephosphorylation of the AMPAR at aPC-LOT synapse could cause internalization of AMPAR and result in unlearning. The dephosphorylation of NMDARs and AMPARs needs to be checked to substantiate this hypothesis. It is also possible that due dephosphorylation, the AMPARs and NMDARs trafficked from synaptic sites to extrasynaptic sites. To understand the complete mechanism, more investigation is necessary. We do not know the entire molecular pathway yet but we show in our behavioral paradigm that timing and the repetition of training are very important for unlearning. In our study, we were able to capture the vulnerable period, or the state of the synapse where protein synthesis or mRNA synthesis is crucial to maintaining the long-term memory consolidated in our behavioral paradigm. We suggest we altered the consolidation state during retraining.

Other questions that need to be addressed is whether or not there are changes in the level of expression of the NMDAR-GluN1 after retraining. Is there another timed reduction of GluN1 subunit or does it remain the same. This needs assessment at different time point especially 3 hr and 24 hr following the retraining. As mentioned earlier Ca2+ plays a crucial role in signalling pathways and LTCC may also have a role in this

paradigm. LTCC can lead to calcineurin activation and could be manipulated after training to assess its contribution to the metaplastic effects we have discovered.

Another interest for future studies is the role of intracellular signaling molecules like PKA, CaMKII, and CaMKIV. The subcellular localization of these proteins suggests that PKA is mostly present in dendritic shafts when compare to somatic localization ⁵⁶⁸. On the other hand, CaMKII is localized at the synaptic site and in the cytoplasm ⁵⁶⁹ but CaMKIV is localized mostly in the nucleus but can translocate to cytoplasm ⁵⁷⁰. CaMKIV appears to plays a crucial role in transcription and it is associated with cAMP pathways ⁵⁷¹. Whether there is any translocation of CaMKIV due to retraining is of? What would be the effect of CaMKIV translocation? What are the other interacting molecules? These questions can be addressed rapidly in this model.

I have already discussed the effects of phosphorylation and dephosphorylation on AMPARs. In the early odor preference learning model, the phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of AMPARs not been well-described. We would like to investigate the phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of AMPARs at different time points and relate these phosphorylation changes to behaviour. A key question is AMPAR changes relate to membrane/cytosol trafficking or to synaptic to extra-synaptic trafficking.

In another project, I focused on delineating the relationship between memory strength and metaplastic changes. One trial of 10 min odor/stroking conditioning leads to a 24 hr memory, whereas other manipulations such as described below can generate memories more than 24 hrs. Does this stronger training, which generates longer-lasting memories, have the same metaplastic effects on the synapse and on behaviour as normal single trial training? In my next section, I discuss my research related to this issue.

6.2.5 Memory Strength and Metaplasticity

In my last project, I have characterized the relationship between the strength of the initial learning and its metaplastic effect on subsequent training. Previously, my research showed that 3 hr following a single early odor preference training trial, there is a downregulation of the NMDAR-GluN1 subunit in the aPC. This downregulation is responsible for unlearning when the pups are retrained with the same parameters at 3 hr following initial training. As mentioned earlier this 10 min stroking with a paintbrush in presence of odor leads to a 24 hr stable memory. But this memory does not last beyond 24 hr. Previously, two protocols have been established that induce prolonged odor preference memories using the same single odor+stroking training protocol. Blocking calcineurin ³⁸¹ or histone deacetylation to prior training ²¹⁶ in the olfactory bulb (OB) extends a one-trial odor preference memory for days. Bhattacharya et al. (2017) established a model where they showed the same early odor preference memory can be extended to 9 days by blocking OB histone deacetylation. They also reported that the extended memory is correlated with extended increased AMPAR expression in the OB. The key question I asked here was whether a stronger induction protocol that produces prolonged memory has the same metaplastic effect on 3 hr re-training. We have established that both the OB and aPC are plastic sites that are critical for early odor preference learning. NMDAR

blockade in either site prevents odor preference memory formation ^{316 373}. The downregulation of NMDAR is also observed in the OB at 3 hr after early odor preference training ³¹⁶. We, therefore, investigated the modulation by the odor preference training of subsequent learning and subsequent NMDAR plasticity using OB blockade of histone deacetylation at the time of initial training to create stronger memory.

In this study, first, we observed that there was no NMDAR downregulation in the OB at 3hr following odor preference training when the pups were infused HDAC inhibitor prior to training. In parallel, we also observed that retraining of HDAC infused pups has no effect on the already formed memory.

A well-established fact is that histone acetylation loosens DNA-histone interactions to enhance the transcription of target genes ⁵³⁷. It is also the case that in various studies histone acetylation leads to stronger memory ^{572 216 573 574}. Numerous studies have shown that inhibition of HDAC resulted in enhanced histone acetylation specifically at the NMDAR subunit promoters in hippocampal CA1neurons ⁵³⁹, primary neocortical cell cultures ⁵³⁸, frontal cortex ⁵⁷⁵, and striatum ⁵²⁵. All these data suggest that histone acetylation results in more NMDAR synthesis and incorporation in the membrane. Beside NMDAR insertion there is another mechanism by which NMDARs either get trafficked from synaptic to extra-synaptic sites or internalized for degradation. The downregulation of NMDAR is mediated by calcineurin via clathrin-dependent endocytosis of NMDARs ⁵¹⁴. This previous report also suggests that H3 and H4 phosphorylation and acetylation are interconnected and responsible for gene regulation ⁵⁴³

⁵⁴². According to the Chwang et al., 2006 report, contextual fear conditioning leads to an increase in both H3 phosphorylation and acetylation ⁵³⁴. The phosphorylation of H3 is mediated by the ERK/MAPK pathway ⁵³⁴ and ERK/MAPK mediated phosphorylation can be reversed by calcineurin ⁵⁷⁶. However, my data suggest that there is no difference in total H3 expression levels in FK-506 treated OBs compared to vehicle-infused ones. We have noticed a significant increase in H3 phosphorylation at 3 hr following odor preference conditioning. These data suggest that natural associative learning has to activate histones, which is consistent with other models ⁵³⁴.

6.2.6 The Functionality of NMDAR Metaplasticity

Metaplasticity can be manifested in various forms of behavior. Research on stress showed that it induces acute or chronic synaptic changes that can alter learning capacity. Many studies have shown that NMDAR-mediated LTP is impaired in stressed rodents ⁵⁷⁷ ⁵⁰¹. Sensory deprivation has been shown to change LTP and/or LTD induction in both olfactory ⁵⁷⁸ and visual ^{579 480} cortices. In PTSD and stress research, metaplastic manipulations may be used for therapeutic purposes. Metaplasticity can be used not only in stress research but also in Alzheimer's disease (AD). A recent study has shown that metaplastic activation of ryanodine receptors restores long-term LTP and its associated synaptic properties in an APP/PS1 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease ⁵⁴⁴.

In my research, I showed that the metaplastic effects have the ability to alter future learning and that this is dependent on the strength of the initial learning. My data

suggests that only weak training down-regulates NMDARs. On the other hand, strong learning prevents NMDAR down-regulation and its associated negative metaplastic effect.



Figure 6.0. Olfactory Circuitry

Here In the schematic representation olfactory nerve layer referred to as ONL (Green lines on top). ORN projects their axons to the Glomerular layer (GL-Red circle) of the olfactory bulb. Then they make synapses with Mitral and Tufted cell (MC/MT) dendrites in the GL. Granule cells (GC-Green cells near MC/MT cells) are present in the granule cell layer (GCL). The MC/MT projects their axons to the piriform cortex (PC) by lateral olfactory tract (LOT). The PC cells make synapses with LOT to receive the olfactory information for further processing.

7. References

- Press, I. Review Reviewed Work (s): Attention and Arousal by M. W. Eysenck Review by : Mary Jean Lynch Source : The American Journal of Psychology, Vol . 96, No. 1 (Spring, 1983), pp. 137-140 Published by : University of Illinois Press Stable URL : http: 96, 137–140 (2018).
- Sternberg, R. J. Intelligence as Developing Expertise. *Contemp. Educ. Psychol.* (1999). doi:10.1006/ceps.1998.0998
- Gross, R. Psychology: The Science of Mind and Behaviour 6th Edition. Zhurnal Eksperimental'noi i Teoreticheskoi Fiziki (2012). doi:10.1037/027051
- Miltenberger, R. G. Behavior Modification: Principles and Procedures. (2012). doi:10.1177/1069072715621532
- Mondesire, S. & Wiegand, R. Forgetting Classification and Measurement for Decomposition-based Reinforcement Learning. *Weblidi.Info.Unlp.Edu.Ar*
- Pinker, S. & Ullman, M. T. Beyond one model per phenomenon. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* (2003). doi:10.1016/S1364-6613(03)00021-4
- Nissen, M. J., Willingham, D. & Hartman, M. Explicit and implicit remembering: When is learning preserved in amnesia? *Neuropsychologia* (1989). doi:10.1016/0028-3932(89)90023-7

- 8. Ashby, F. G. & Maddox, W. T. Human category learning 2.0. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* (2011). doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05874.x
- Silva, B. A., Gross, C. T. & Gräff, J. The neural circuits of innate fear: Detection, integration, action, and memorization. *Learning and Memory* (2016). doi:10.1101/lm.042812.116
- Foerde, K. & Shohamy, D. The role of the basal ganglia in learning and memory: Insight from Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory* (2011). doi:10.1016/j.nlm.2011.08.006
- Jarrard, L. E. On the role of the hippocampus in learning and memory in the rat. Behavioral and Neural Biology (1993). doi:10.1016/0163-1047(93)90664-4
- Price, J. L. Olfactory Higher Centers Anatomy. in *Encyclopedia of Neuroscience* (2010). doi:10.1016/B978-008045046-9.01692-2
- Feher, J. Quantitative Human Physiology. *Quant. Hum. Physiol.* (2012). doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-382163-8.00030-X
- van Hartevelt, T. J. & Kringelbach, M. L. The Olfactory System. in *The Human* Nervous System (2012). doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-374236-0.10034-3
- McGaugh, J. L. & Izquierdo, I. The contribution of pharmacology to research on the mechanisms of memory formation. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* (2000). doi:10.1016/S0165-6147(00)01473-5
- Rosenzweig, M. R., Bennett, E. L., Colombo, P. J., Lee, D. W. & Serrano, P. A.
 Short-term, intermediate-term, and long-term memories. *Behav. Brain Res.* (1993).

doi:10.1016/0166-4328(93)90135-D

- Davis, H. P. & Squire, L. R. Protein synthesis and memory: A review. *Psychol. Bull.* (1984). doi:10.1037/0033-2909.96.3.518
- Sutton, M. A., Ide, J., Masters, S. E. & Carew, T. J. Interaction between amount and pattern of training in the induction of intermediate- and long-term memory for sensitization in Aplysia. *Learn. Mem.* (2002). doi:10.1101/lm.44802
- Grimes, M. T. *et al.* Mammalian intermediate-term memory: New findings in neonate rat. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 95, 385–391 (2011).
- Atkinson, R. C. & Shiffrin, R. M. Human Memory: A Proposed System and its Control Processes. *Psychol. Learn. Motiv. - Adv. Res. Theory* (1968). doi:10.1016/S0079-7421(08)60422-3
- 21. Corkin, S. What's new with the amnesic patient H.M.? *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* **3**, 153–160 (2002).
- Scoville, W. B. & Milner, B. LOSS OF RECENT MEMORY AFTER
 BILATERAL HIPPOCAMPAL LESIONS. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 20, 11–21 (1957).
- 23. Shallice, T. & Warrington, E. K. Independent functioning of verbal memory stores: a neuropsychological study. *Q. J. Exp. Psychol.* **22**, 261–273 (1970).
- Verde, M. F. & Rotello, C. M. Memory strength and the decision process in recognition memory. *Mem. Cogn.* 35, 254–262 (2007).
- 25. Davis, H. P. & Squire, L. R. Protein synthesis and memory: A review. Psychol.

Bull. 96, 518–559 (1984).

- Castellucci, V. F., Blumenfeld, H., Goelet, P. & Kandel, E. R. Inhibitor of protein synthesis blocks longterm behavioral sensitization in the isolated gill-withdrawal reflex of Aplysia. *J. Neurobiol.* 20, 1–9 (1989).
- McGaugh, J. L. Memory A century of consolidation. *Science* 287, 248–251 (2000).
- Montarolo, P. G., Kandel, E. R. & Schacher, S. Long-term heterosynaptic inhibition in Aplysia. *Nature* 333, 171–174 (1988).
- Sutton, M. A. & Carew, T. J. Parallel molecular pathways mediate expression of distinct forms of intermediate-term facilitation at tail sensory-motor synapses in Aplysia. *Neuron* 26, 219–231 (2000).
- Rosenzweig, M. R., Bennett, E. L., Colombo, P. J., Lee, D. W. & Serrano, P. A. Short-term, intermediate-term, and long-term memories. *Behav. Brain Res.* 57, 193–198 (1993).
- Sutton, M. A., Masters, S. E., Bagnall, M. W. & Carew, T. J. Molecular mechanisms underlying a unique intermediate phase of memory in Aplysia. *Neuron* 31, 143–154 (2001).
- Martin, K. C. Synaptic tagging during synapse-specific long-term facilitation of Aplysia sensory-motor neurons. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory* 78, 489– 497 (2002).
- 33. Mayford, M., Siegelbaum, S. A. & Kandel, E. R. Synapses and memory storage.

Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 4, 1–18 (2012).

- Erickson, M. A., Maramara, L. A. & Lisman, J. A single brief burst induces
 GluR1-dependent associative short-term potentiation: A potential mechanism for short-term memory. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 22, 2530–2540 (2010).
- Martin, K. C. & Kosik, K. S. Synaptic tagging who's it? *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 3, 813–820 (2002).
- Frey, U. & Morris, R. G. M. Synaptic tagging and long-term potentiation. *Nature* 385, 533–536 (1997).
- Hell, J. W. CaMKII: Claiming center stage in postsynaptic function and organization. *Neuron* (2014). doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2013.12.024
- Smolen, P., Baxter, D. A. & Byrne, J. H. Molecular Constraints on Synaptic Tagging and Maintenance of Long-Term Potentiation: A Predictive Model. *PLoS Comput. Biol.* (2012). doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002620
- Krug, M., Lössner, B. & Ott, T. Anisomycin blocks the late phase of long-term potentiation in the dentate gyrus of freely moving rats. *Brain Res. Bull.* 13, 39–42 (1984).
- Stanton, P. K. & Sarvey, J. M. Blockade of long-term potentiation in rat hippocampal CA1 region by inhibitors of protein synthesis. *J. Neurosci.* 4, 3080– 3088 (1984).
- 41. Frey, U., Krug, M., Reymann, K. G. & Matthies, H. Anisomycin, an inhibitor of protein synthesis, blocks late phases of LTP phenomena in the hippocampal CA1

region in vitro. Brain Res. 452, 57–65 (1988).

- 42. Nguyen, P. V., Abel, T. & Kandel, E. R. Requirement of a critical period of transcription for induction of a late phase of LTP. *Science (80-.).* 265, 1104–1107 (1994).
- Sossin, W. S. Mechanisms for the generation of synapse specificity in long-term memory: The implications of a requirement for transcription. *Trends in Neurosciences* 19, 215–218 (1996).
- Kang, H. & Schuman, E. M. A Requirement for Local Protein Synthesis in Neurotrophin-Induced Hippocampal Synaptic Plasticity. *Science (80-.).* 273, 1402–1406 (1996).
- 45. Frey, U. & Morris, R. G. M. Synaptic tagging: Implications for late maintenance of hippocampal long- term potentiation. *Trends in Neurosciences* **21**, 181–188 (1998).
- 46. Malenka, R. C. *et al.* An essential role for postsynaptic calmodulin and protein kinase activity in long-term potentiation. *Nature* **340**, 554–557 (1989).
- Silva, A. J., Stevens, C. F., Tonegawa, S. & Wang, Y. Deficient hippocampal long-term potentiation in alpha-calcium-calmodulin kinase II mutant mice. *Science* 257, 201–206 (1992).
- 48. Silva, a J., Paylor, R., Wehner, J. M. & Tonegawa, S. Impaired spatial learning in alpha-calcium-calmodulin kinase II mutant mice. *Science* **257**, 206–211 (1992).
- 49. Vaynman, S., Ying, Z. & Gomez-Pinilla, F. The select action of hippocampal calcium calmodulin protein kinase II in mediating exercise-enhanced cognitive

function. Neuroscience 144, 825–833 (2007).

- Modarresi, S., Mukherjee, B., McLean, J. H., Harley, C. W. & Yuan, Q. CaMKII mediates stimulus specificity in early odor preference learning in rats. *J. Neurophysiol.* 116, 404 LP-410 (2016).
- Cingolani, L. A. & Goda, Y. Actin in action: The interplay between the actin cytoskeleton and synaptic efficacy. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 9, 344–356 (2008).
- Lopez-Salon, M. *et al.* The ubiquitin-proteasome cascade is required for mammalian long-term memory formation. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 14, 1820–1826 (2001).
- Fonseca, R., Vabulas, R. M., Hartl, F. U., Bonhoeffer, T. & Nägerl, U. V. A Balance of Protein Synthesis and Proteasome-Dependent Degradation Determines the Maintenance of LTP. *Neuron* 52, 239–245 (2006).
- 54. Cai, F., Frey, J. U., Sanna, P. P. & Behnisch, T. Protein degradation by the proteasome is required for synaptic tagging and the heterosynaptic stabilization of hippocampal late-phase long-term potentiation. *Neuroscience* 169, 1520–1526 (2010).
- Cepeda, N. J., Pashler, H., Vul, E., Wixted, J. T. & Rohrer, D. Distributed practice in verbal recall tasks: A review and quantitative synthesis. *Psychol. Bull.* 132, 354– 380 (2006).
- 56. Dempster, F. N. Distributing and managing the conditions of encoding and practice. *Memory* 317–344 (1996). doi:10.1016/b978-012102570-0/50011-2

- 57. Glenberg, A. M. Component-levels theory of the effects of spacing of repetitions on recall and recognition. *Mem. Cognit.* **7**, 95–112 (1979).
- 58. Hintzman, D. L. Theoretical Implications of the Spacing Effect. Theories in Cognitive Psychology: The Loyola Symposium (1974).
- 59. Melton, A. W. The situation with respect to the spacing of repetitions and memory.*J. Verbal Learning Verbal Behav.* 9, 596–606 (1970).
- 60. Morris, R. G. M. Long-term potentiation and memory. *Philosophical Transactions* of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences **358**, 643–647 (2003).
- 61. Scharf, M. T. *et al.* Protein synthesis is required for the enhancement of long-term potentiation and long-term memory by spaced training. *J. Neurophysiol.* **87**, 2770–2777 (2002).
- Hernandez, P. J. & Abel, T. The role of protein synthesis in memory consolidation: Progress amid decades of debate. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 89, 293–311 (2008).
- 63. Barco, A., Lopez de Armentia, M. & Alarcon, J. M. Synapse-specific stabilization of plasticity processes: The synaptic tagging and capture hypothesis revisited 10 years later. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews* **32**, 831–851 (2008).
- 64. Moncada, D., Ballarini, F., Martinez, M. C., Frey, J. U. & Viola, H. Identification of transmitter systems and learning tag molecules involved in behavioral tagging during memory formation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **108**, 12931–12936 (2011).
- 65. Menzel, R., Manz, G., Menzel, R. & Greggers, U. Massed and spaced learning in honeybees: The role of CS, US, the intertrial interval, and the test interval. *Learn*.

Mem. **8**, 198–208 (2001).

- Bahrick, H. P., Bahrick, L. E., Bahrick, A. S. & Bahrick, P. E. Maintenance of Foreign Language Vocabulary and the Spacing Effect. *Psychol. Sci.* 4, 316–321 (1993).
- 67. Ebbinghaus, H. Memory: A Contribution to Experimental Psychology. *Ann. Neurosci.* **20**, (2013).
- Carew, T. J., Pinsker, H. M. & Kandel, E. R. Long-Term Habituation of a Defensive Withdrawal Reflex in Aplysia. *Science (80-.).* 175, 451–454 (1972).
- 69. Bjork, R. A. Information-processing analysis of college teaching. *Educ. Psychol.*14, 15–23 (1979).
- 70. Dempster, F. N. The Spacing Effect: A Case Study in the Failure to Apply the Results of Psychological Research. *Am. Psychol.* **43**, 627–634 (1988).
- Shea, J. B. & Morgan, R. L. Contextual Interference Effects on the Acquisition, Retention, and Transfer of a Motor Skill. *J. Exp. Psychol.* 5, 179–187 (1979).
- 72. Kornell, N. & Bjork, R. A. Learning concepts and categories: Is spacing the 'enemy of induction'? *Psychol. Sci.* **19**, 585–592 (2008).
- Hebb, D. O. The Organization of Behaviour. *Organization* 62 (1949).doi:citeulike-article-id:1282862
- 74. Pavlov, I. P. Conditioned reflexes: An investigation of the physiological activity of the cerebral cortex. *Annals of neurosciences* **17**, 136–141 (1927).
- 75. Bliss, T. V & Gardner-Medwin, a R. Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic

transmission in the dentate area of the unanaestetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path. *J. Physiol.* **232**, 357–374 (1973).

- 76. Bliss, T. V. P. & Lømo, T. Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the anaesthetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path. J. Physiol. 232, 331–356 (1973).
- Zachariassen, L. G. *et al.* Structural rearrangement of the intracellular domains during AMPA receptor activation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* (2016). doi:10.1073/pnas.1601747113
- 78. Bortolotto, Z. a *et al.* Kainate receptors are involved in synaptic plasticity. *Nature*402, 297–301 (1999).
- 79. O'Hara, P. J. *et al.* The ligand-binding domain in metabotropic glutamate receptors is related to bacterial periplasmic binding proteins. *Neuron* **11**, 41–52 (1993).
- Paas, Y., Eisenstein, M., Medevielle, F., Teichberg, V. I. & Devillersthiery, A. Identification of the Amino Acid Subsets Accounting For the Ligand Binding Specificity of a Glutamate Receptor. *Neuron* 17, 979–990 (1996).
- Masuko, T. *et al.* A Regulatory Domain (R1–R2) in the Amino Terminus of theN-Methyl-d-Aspartate Receptor: Effects of Spermine, Protons, and Ifenprodil, and Structural Similarity to Bacterial Leucine/Isoleucine/Valine Binding Protein. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 55, 957–969 (1999).
- Paoletti, P. *et al.* Molecular organization of a zinc binding N-terminal modulatory domain in a NMDA receptor subunit. *Neuron* 28, 911–925 (2000).

- Clayton, D. F., Balakrishnan, C. N. & London, S. E. Integrating Genomes, Brain and Behavior in the Study of Songbirds. *Current Biology* 19, (2009).
- Jin, R. *et al.* Crystal structure and association behaviour of the GluR2 aminoterminal domain. *EMBO J.* 28, 1812–1823 (2009).
- Karakas, E., Simorowski, N. & Furukawa, H. Structure of the zinc-bound aminoterminal domain of the NMDA receptor GLUN2B subunit. *EMBO J.* 28, 3910– 3920 (2009).
- Kumar, J., Schuck, P., Jin, R. & Mayer, M. L. The N-terminal domain of GluR6subtype glutamate receptor ion channels. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 16, 631–638 (2009).
- Wenthold, R. J., Petralia, R. S., Blahos J, I. I. & Niedzielski, a S. Evidence for multiple AMPA receptor complexes in hippocampal CA1/CA2 neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 16, 1982–1989 (1996).
- Dingledine, R., Borges, K., Bowie, D. & Traynelis, S. F. The glutamate receptor ion channels. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 51, 7–61 (1999).
- Palmer, C. L., Cotton, L. & Henley, J. M. The molecular pharmacology and cell biology of alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 57, 253–77 (2005).
- Borges, K. & Dingledine, R. Chapter 11 AMPA receptors: Molecular and functional diversity. *Prog. Brain Res.* 116, 153–170 (1998).
- 91. Monyer, H., Seeburg, P. H. & Wisden, W. Glutamate-operated channels:

Developmentally early and mature forms arise by alternative splicing. *Neuron* **6**, 799–810 (1991).

- Wisden, W. & Seeburg, P. H. Mammalian ionotropic glutamate receptors. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* 3, 291–298 (1993).
- Greger, I. H., Watson, J. F. & Cull-Candy, S. G. Structural and Functional Architecture of AMPA-Type Glutamate Receptors and Their Auxiliary Proteins. *Neuron* 94, 713–730 (2017).
- Shepherd, J. D. & Huganir, R. L. The Cell Biology of Synaptic Plasticity: AMPA Receptor Trafficking. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 23, 613–643 (2007).
- Boehm, J. *et al.* Synaptic Incorporation of AMPA Receptors during LTP Is
 Controlled by a PKC Phosphorylation Site on GluR1. *Neuron* 51, 213–225 (2006).
- Granger, A. J., Shi, Y., Lu, W., Cerpas, M. & Nicoll, R. A. LTP requires a reserve pool of glutamate receptors independent of subunit type. *Nature* 493, 495–500 (2013).
- Hosokawa, T., Mitsushima, D., Kaneko, R. & Hayashi, Y. Stoichiometry and Phosphoisotypes of Hippocampal AMPA-Type Glutamate Receptor Phosphorylation. *Neuron* 85, 60–68 (2015).
- Myung, J. K., Dunah, A. W., Yu, T. W. & Sheng, M. Differential roles of GLUN2A- and GLUN2B-containing NMDA receptors in Ras-ERK signaling and AMPA receptor trafficking. *Neuron* 46, 745–760 (2005).
- 99. Derkach, V. A., Oh, M. C., Guire, E. S. & Soderling, T. R. Regulatory mechanisms

of AMPA receptors in synaptic plasticity. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* **8**, 101–113 (2007).

- Alsaloum, M., Kazi, R., Gan, Q., Amin, J. & Wollmuth, L. P. A Molecular Determinant of Subtype-Specific Desensitization in Ionotropic Glutamate Receptors. *J. Neurosci.* 36, 2617–2622 (2016).
- 101. Chen, L. *et al.* Stargazin regulates synaptic targeting of AMPA receptors by two distinct mechanisms. *Nature* **408**, 936–943 (2000).
- 102. Nicoll, R. A., Tomita, S. & Bredt, D. S. Auxiliary subunits assist AMPA-type glutamate receptors. *Science* **311**, 1253–1256 (2006).
- Rouach, N. *et al.* TARP gamma-8 controls hippocampal AMPA receptor number, distribution and synaptic plasticity. *Nat. Neurosci.* 8, 1525–33 (2005).
- 104. Tomita, S. *et al.* Functional studies and distribution define a family of transmembrane AMPA receptor regulatory proteins. *J. Cell Biol.* 161, 805–816 (2003).
- 105. Tomita, S., Shenoy, A., Fukata, Y., Nicoll, R. A. & Bredt, D. S. Stargazin interacts functionally with the AMPA receptor glutamate-binding module. *Neuropharmacology* 52, 87–91 (2007).
- 106. Ziff, E. B. TARPs and the AMPA Receptor Trafficking Paradox. *Neuron* 53, 627–633 (2007).
- Huganir, R. L. & Nicoll, R. A. AMPARs and synaptic plasticity: The last 25 years.
 Neuron 80, 704–717 (2013).

- Roche, K. W., O'Brien, R. J., Mammen, A. L., Bernhardt, J. & Huganir, R. L. Characterization of multiple phosphorylation sites on the AMPA receptor GluR1 subunit. *Neuron* 16, 1179–1188 (1996).
- Mammen, a. L., Kameyama, K., Roche, K. W. & Huganir, R. L. Phosphorylation of the alpha -Amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole4-propionic Acid Receptor GluR1 Subunit by Calcium/ Calmodulin-dependent Kinase II. *J. Biol. Chem.* 272, 32528–32533 (1997).
- Barria, A., Muller, D., Derkach, V., Griffith, L. C. & Soderling, T. R. Regulatory phosphorylation of AMPA-type glutamate receptors by CaM-KII during long-term potentiation. *Science* (80-.). 276, 2042–2045 (1997).
- 111. Lee, H. K. *et al.* Phosphorylation of the AMPA receptor GluR1 subunit is required for synaptic plasticity and retention of spatial memory. *Cell* **112**, 631–643 (2003).
- 112. Man, H.-Y., Sekine-Aizawa, Y. & Huganir, R. L. Regulation of {alpha}-amino-3hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor trafficking through PKA phosphorylation of the Glu receptor 1 subunit. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 104, 3579–3584 (2007).
- 113. Goel, A. *et al.* Phosphorylation of ampa receptors is required for sensory deprivation-induced homeostatic synaptic plasticity. *PLoS One* **6**, (2011).
- 114. Barria, A., Muller, D., Derkach, V., Griffith, L. C. & Soderling, T. R. Regulatory phosphorylation of AMPA-type glutamate receptors by CaM-KII during long-term potentiation. *Science* (80-.). (1997). doi:10.1126/science.276.5321.2042

- 115. Lee, H. K., Barbarosie, M., Kameyama, K., Bear, M. F. & Huganir, R. L. Regulation of distinct AMPA receptor phosphorylation sites during bidirectional synaptic plasticity. *Nature* (2000). doi:10.1038/35016089
- Moriyoshi, K. *et al.* Molecular cloning and characterization of the rat NMDA receptor. *Nature* 354, 31–37 (1991).
- 117. Sugihara, H., Moriyoshi, K., Ishii, T., Masu, M. & Nakanishi, S. Structures and properties of seven isoforms of the NMDA receptor generated by alternative splicing. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **185**, 826–832 (1992).
- Zukin, R. S. & Bennett, M. V. L. Alternatively spliced isoforms of the NMDARI receptor subunit. *Trends in Neurosciences* 18, 306–313 (1995).
- Monyer, H. *et al.* Heteromeric NMDA receptors: Molecular and functional distinction of subtypes. *Science (80-.).* 256, 1217–1221 (1992).
- Ulbrich, M. H. & Isacoff, E. Y. Rules of engagement for NMDA receptor subunits.
 Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105, 14163–8 (2008).
- Johnson, J. W. & Ascher, P. Glycine potentiates the NMDA response in cultured mouse brain neurons. *Nature* 325, 529–531 (1987).
- 122. Kleckner, N. W. & Dingledine, R. Requirement for glycine in activation of NMDA receptors expressed in xenopus oocytes. *Science (80-.).* 241, 835–837 (1988).
- Watkins, J. C. & Evans, R. H. Excitatory Amino Acid Transmitters. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 21, 165–204 (1981).
- 124. Clements, J. D. & Westbrook, G. L. Activation kinetics reveal the number of

glutamate and glycine binding sites on the N-methyl-d-aspartate receptor. *Neuron* **7**, 605–613 (1991).

- 125. Patneau, D. K. & Mayer, M. L. Structure-activity relationships for amino acid transmitter candidates acting at N-methyl-D-aspartate and quisqualate receptors. J. *Neurosci.* 10, 2385–99 (1990).
- Chatterton, J. E. *et al.* Excitatory glycine receptors containing the NR3 family of NMDA receptor subunits. *Nature* 415, 793–798 (2002).
- Pachernegg, S., Strutz-Seebohm, N. & Hollmann, M. GluN3 subunit-containing NMDA receptors: Not just one-trick ponies. *Trends in Neurosciences* 35, 240–249 (2012).
- Paoletti, P., Bellone, C. & Zhou, Q. NMDA receptor subunit diversity: Impact on receptor properties, synaptic plasticity and disease. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* (2013). doi:10.1038/nrn3504
- 129. Lee, H. K. Synaptic plasticity and phosphorylation. *Pharmacology and Therapeutics* **112**, 810–832 (2006).
- Raman, I. M., Tong, G. & Jahr, C. E. Beta-adrenergic regulation of synaptic
 NMDA receptors by cAMP-dependent protein kinase. *Neuron* 16, 415–421 (1996).
- Crump, F. T., Dillman, K. S. & Craig, A. M. cAMP-dependent protein kinase mediates activity-regulated synaptic targeting of NMDA receptors. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 5079–88 (2001).
- 132. Skeberdis, V. A. et al. Protein kinase A regulates calcium permeability of NMDA
receptors. Nat. Neurosci. 9, 501–510 (2006).

- 133. Scott, D. B., Blanpied, T. A., Swanson, G. T., Zhang, C. & Ehlers, M. D. An NMDA receptor ER retention signal regulated by phosphorylation and alternative splicing. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 3063–3072 (2001).
- 134. Scott, D. B., Blanpied, T. A. & Ehlers, M. D. Coordinated PKA and PKC phosphorylation suppresses RXR-mediated ER retention and regulates the surface delivery of NMDA receptors. *Neuropharmacology* 45, 755–767 (2003).
- 135. Gardoni, F. *et al.* Hippocampal synaptic plasticity involves competition between Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II and postsynaptic density 95 for binding to the GLUN2A subunit of the NMDA receptor. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 1501–9 (2001).
- 136. Strack, S., McNeill, R. B. & Colbran, R. J. Mechanism and regulation of calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II targeting to the GLUN2B subunit of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 23798–23806 (2000).
- Kornau, H. C., Schenker, L. T., Kennedy, M. B. & Seeburg, P. H. Domain interaction between NMDA receptor subunits and the postsynaptic density protein PSD-95. *Science (80-.).* (1995). doi:10.1126/science.7569905
- Roche, K. W. *et al.* Molecular determinants of NMDA receptor internalization. *Nat. Neurosci.* (2001). doi:10.1038/90498
- Ribeiro, F. M., Vieira, L. B., Pires, R. G. W., Olmo, R. P. & Ferguson, S. S. G. Metabotropic glutamate receptors and neurodegenerative diseases.

Pharmacological Research (2017). doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2016.11.013

- Mannaioni, G., Marino, M. J., Valenti, O., Traynelis, S. F. & Conn, P. J.
 Metabotropic glutamate receptors 1 and 5 differentially regulate CA1 pyramidal cell function. *J. Neurosci.* (2001). doi:10.1002/emmm.201000082
- 141. Manuscript, A. Activity. **31**, 1219–1232 (2011).
- 142. Chen, H. H., Liao, P. F. & Chan, M. H. MGluR5 positive modulators both potentiate activation and restore inhibition in NMDA receptors by PKC dependent pathway. J. Biomed. Sci. (2011). doi:10.1186/1423-0127-18-19
- 143. Niswender, C. M. *et al.* Context-dependent pharmacology exhibited by negative allosteric modulators of metabotropic glutamate receptor 7. *Mol. Pharmacol.* (2010). doi:10.1124/mol.109.058768
- 144. Manuscript, A., Calcineurin, L., Ca, C. & Ca, N. L. NIH Public Access. 32, 15328–15337 (2013).
- 145. Malenka, R. C. & Bear, M. F. LTP and LTD: An embarrassment of riches. *Neuron* (2004). doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2004.09.012
- 146. Malenka, R. C. & Nicoll, R. A. Silent synapses speak up. *Neuron* (1997).doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80362-1
- Malenka, R. C. & Nicoll, R. A. Long-Term Potentiation A Decade of Progress?
 Science 285, 1870–1874 (1999).
- 148. Malenka, R. *et al.* An essential role for postsynaptic calmodulin and protein kinase activity in long-term potentiation. *Nature* (1989). doi:10.1038/340554a0

- Citri, A. & Malenka, R. C. Synaptic plasticity: multiple forms, functions, and mechanisms. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2008). doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1301559
- 150. Kauer, J. A., Malenka, R. C. & Nicoll, R. A. NMDA application potentiates synaptic transmission in the hippocampus. *Nature* (1988). doi:10.1038/334250a0
- 151. Malenka, R. C. & Bear, M. F. LTP and LTD: An embarrassment of riches. *Neuron*44, 5–21 (2004).
- 152. Nowak, L., Bregestovski, P., Ascher, P., Herbet, A. & Prochiantz, A. Magnesium gates glutamate-activated channels in mouse central neurones. *Nature* (1984).
 doi:10.1038/307462a0
- Sanes, J. R. & Lichtman, J. W. Development of the Vertebrate Neuromuscular Junction. 1–55 (2011).
- 154. Mayford, M., Wang, J., Kandel, E. R. & O'Dell, T. J. CaMKII regulates the frequency-response function of hippocampal synapses for the production of both LTD and LTP. *Cell* (1995). doi:10.1016/0092-8674(95)90009-8
- Giese, K. P., Fedorov, N. B., Filipkowski, R. K. & Silva, A. J.
 Autophosphorylation at Thr286 of the α calcium-calmodulin kinase II in LTP and learning. *Science (80-.).* (1998). doi:10.1126/science.279.5352.870
- 156. Lledo, P. M. *et al.* Calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase II and long-term potentiation enhance synaptic transmission by the same mechanism. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **92**, 11175–9 (1995).
- 157. Pettit, D. L., Perlman, S. & Malinow, R. Potentiated transmission and prevention

of further LTP by increased CaMKII activity in postsynaptic hippocampal slice neurons. *Science (80-.).* (1994). doi:10.1126/science.7997883

- Bredt, D. & Nicholl, R. A. AMPA receptor trafficking at excitatory synapses. *Neuron* 40, 361–379 (2003).
- Song, I. & Huganir, R. L. Regulation of AMPA receptors during synaptic plasticity. *Trends in Neurosciences* (2002). doi:10.1016/S0166-2236(02)02270-1
- Malinow, R. & Malenka, R. C. AMPA Receptor Trafficking and Synaptic Plasticity. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* (2002).
 doi:10.1146/annurev.neuro.25.112701.142758
- Aizenman, C. D. & Linden, D. J. Rapid, synaptically driven increases in the intrinsic excitability of cerebellar deep nuclear neurons. *Nat. Neurosci.* (2000). doi:10.1038/72049
- 162. Tsumoto, T. Long-term depression in cerebral cortex: a possible substrate of
 'forgetting' that should not be forgotten. *Neurosci. Res.* (1993). doi:10.1016/0168-0102(93)90036-P
- Lisman, J. A mechanism for the Hebb and the anti-Hebb processes underlying learning and memory. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 86, 9574–9578 (1989).
- 164. Kirkwood, A. & Bear, M. F. F. Hebbian synapses in visual cortex. J. Neurosci. 14, 3404 (1994).
- 165. Mulkey, R. M., Endo, S., Shenolikar, S. & Malenka, R. C. Involvement of a calcineurin/ inhibitor-1 phosphatase cascade in hippocampal long-term depression.

Nature **369**, 486–488 (1994).

- 166. Mulkey, R. M. R., Herron, C. E. C. & Malenka, R. R. C. An Essential Role for Protein Phosphatases in Hippocampal Long-Term Depression. *Science (80-.).* (1993).
- Morishita, W. *et al.* Regulation of synaptic strength by protein phosphatase 1.
 Neuron 32, 1133–48 (2001).
- Babiec, W. E., Jami, S. A., Guglietta, R., Chen, P. B. & O'Dell, T. J. Differential Regulation of NMDA Receptor-Mediated Transmission by SK Channels Underlies Dorsal-Ventral Differences in Dynamics of Schaffer Collateral Synaptic Function. *J. Neurosci.* 37, 1950–1964 (2017).
- 169. Lee, H. K., Kameyama, K., Huganir, R. L. & Bear, M. F. NMDA induces longterm synaptic depression and dephosphorylation of the GluR1 subunit of AMPA receptors in hippocampus. *Neuron* 21, 1151–1162 (1998).
- 170. Banke, T. G. *et al.* Control of GluR1 AMPA receptor function by cAMPdependent protein kinase. *J. Neurosci.* **20**, 89–102 (2000).
- 171. Collingridge, G. L., Isaac, J. T. R. & Wang, Y. T. Receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. *Nat Rev Neurosci* (2004). doi:10.1038/nrn1556
- 172. Beattie, E. C. *et al.* Regulation of AMPA receptor endocytosis by a signaling mechanism shared with LTD. *Nat. Neurosci.* (2000). doi:10.1038/81823
- 173. Carroll, R. C., Beattie, E. C., von Zastrow, M. & Malenka, R. C. Role of AMPA receptor endocytosis in synaptic plasticity. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **2**, 315–324 (2001).

- 174. Ehlers, M. D. Reinsertion or degradation of AMPA receptors determined by activity-dependent endocytic sorting. *Neuron* **28**, 511–525 (2000).
- Nägerl, U. V., Eberhorn, N., Cambridge, S. B. & Bonhoeffer, T. Bidirectional activity-dependent morphological plasticity in hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* (2004). doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2004.11.016
- 176. Zhou, Q., Homma, K. J. & Poo, M. M. Shrinkage of dendritic spines associated with long-term depression of hippocampal synapses. TL 44. *Neuron* (2004). doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2004.11.011
- Hsieh, H. *et al.* AMPAR Removal Underlies Aβ-Induced Synaptic Depression and Dendritic Spine Loss. *Neuron* (2006). doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2006.10.035
- Takeuchi, T., Duszkiewicz, A. J. & Morris, R. G. M. The synaptic plasticity and memory hypothesis: Encoding, storage and persistence. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* (2014). doi:10.1098/rstb.2013.0288
- Martin, S. J., Grimwood, P. D. & Morris, R. G. M. Synaptic Plasticity and Memory: An Evaluation of the Hypothesis. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* (2000). doi:10.1146/annurev.neuro.23.1.649
- Danysz, W., Wroblewski, J. T. & Costa, E. Learning impairment in rats by Nmethyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonists. *Neuropharmacology* (1988). doi:10.1016/0028-3908(88)90189-X
- 181. Tonkiss, J. & Rawlins, J. N. P. The competitive NMDA antagonist AP5, but not

the non-competitive antagonist MK801, induces a delay-related impairment in spatial working memory in rats. *Exp. Brain Res.* (1991). doi:10.1007/BF00229412

- 182. Staubli, U., Vanderklish, P. & Lynch, G. An inhibitor of integrin receptors blocks long-term potentiation. *Behav. Neural Biol.* (1990). doi:10.1016/0163-1047(90)90712-F
- Moser, E. I., Krobert, K. a, Moser, M. B. & Morris, R. G. Impaired spatial learning after saturation of long-term potentiation. *Science* (1998).
 doi:10.1126/science.281.5385.2038
- 184. Thiels, E., Kanterewicz, B. I., Norman, E. D., Trzaskos, J. M. & Klann, E. Longterm depression in the adult hippocampus in vivo involves activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase and phosphorylation of Elk-1. *J. Neurosci.* (2002). doi:22/6/2054 [pii]
- 185. Morris, R. G. M., Anderson, E., Lynch, G. S. & Baudry, M. Selective impairment of learning and blockade of long-term potentiation by an N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist, AP5. *Nature* (1986). doi:10.1038/319774a0
- 186. Fanselow, M. S. Neural organization of the defensive behavior system responsible for fear. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* (1994). doi:10.3758/BF03210947
- Shapiro, M. L. & O'Connor, C. N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptor Antagonist MK-801 and Spatial Memory Representation: Working Memory Is Impaired in an Unfamiliar Environment but Not in a Familiar Environment. *Behav. Neurosci.* (1992). doi:10.1037/0735-7044.106.4.604

- 188. Caramanos, Z. & Shapiro, M. L. Spatial memory and N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonists APV and MK- 801: Memory impairments depend on familiarity with the environment, drug dose, and training duration. *Behav. Neurosci.* (1994). doi:10.1037/0735-7044.108.1.30
- Zhao, M. G. *et al.* Roles of NMDA GLUN2B subtype receptor in prefrontal longterm potentiation and contextual fear memory. *Neuron* (2005). doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2005.08.014
- 190. Cole, B. J., Klewer, M., Jones, G. H. & Stephens, D. N. Contrasting effects of the competitive NMDA antagonist CPP and the non-competitive NMDA antagonist MK 801 on performance of an operant delayed matching to position task in rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*. (1993). doi:10.1007/BF02253537
- 191. Bolhuis, J. J. & Reid, I. C. Effects of intraventricular infusion of the N-methyl-daspartate (NMDA) receptor antagonist AP5 on spatial memory of rats in a radial arm maze. *Behav. Brain Res.* (1992). doi:10.1016/S0166-4328(05)80121-4
- 192. Chen, M., Ren, W. & Wang, X. Depotentiation from Potentiated Synaptic Strength in a Tristable System of Coupled Phosphatase and Kinase. *Front. Comput. Neurosci.* (2016). doi:10.3389/fncom.2016.00104
- Barrionuevo, G., Schottler, F. & Lynch, G. The effects of repetitive low frequency stimulation on control and 'potentiated' synaptic responses in the hippocampus.
 Life Sci. (1980). doi:10.1016/0024-3205(80)90509-3
- 194. Bashir, Z. I. & Collingridge, G. L. An investigation of depotentiation of long-term

potentiation in the CA1 region of the hippocampus. *Exp. Brain Res.* (1994). doi:10.1007/BF00229183

- Abraham, W. C. & Bear, M. F. Metaplasticity: The plasticity of synaptic plasticity.
 Trends in Neurosciences (1996). doi:10.1016/S0166-2236(96)80018-X
- 196. Hunt, D. L., Puente, N., Grandes, P. & Castillo, P. E. Bidirectional NMDA receptor plasticity controls CA3 output and heterosynaptic metaplasticity. *Nat. Neurosci.* (2013). doi:10.1038/nn.3461
- 197. Murphy, K. P. *et al.* Abnormal synaptic plasticity and impaired spatial cognition in mice transgenic for exon 1 of the human Huntington's disease mutation. *J. Neurosci.* (2000). doi:20/13/5115 [pii]
- 198. Kato, K., Clifford, D. B. & Zorumski, C. F. Long-term potentiation during wholecell recording in rat hippocampal slices. *Neuroscience* (1993). doi:10.1016/0306-4522(93)90282-K
- 199. 561c1d0142378c09153157499794e25d18148387.pdf.
- 200. Groc, L. *et al.* NMDA Receptor Surface Trafficking and Synaptic Subunit Composition Are Developmentally Regulated by the Extracellular Matrix Protein Reelin. *J. Neurosci.* (2007). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1772-07.2007
- 201. McNaughton, B. L., Douglas, R. M. & Goddard, G. V. Synaptic enhancement in fascia dentata: Cooperativity among coactive afferents. *Brain Res.* (1978).
 doi:10.1016/0006-8993(78)90030-6
- 202. Moody, T. D., Carlisle, H. J. & O'Dell, T. J. A nitric oxide-independent and β-

adrenergic receptor-sensitive form of metaplasticity limits θ -frequency stimulationinduced LTP in the hippocampal CA1 region. *Learn. Mem.* (1999). doi:10.1101/lm.6.6.619

- 203. Bear, M. F. Mechanism for a sliding synaptic modification threshold. *Neuron* (1995). doi:10.1016/0896-6273(95)90056-X
- 204. Deisseroth, K., Heist, E. K. & Tsien, R. W. Translocation of calmodulin to the nucleus supports CREB phosphorylation in hippocampal neurons. *Nature* (1998). doi:10.1038/32448
- 205. bc7655e9a29d09bed1006ec81823c136347509fc.pdf.
- 206. Krucker, T. *et al.* Targeted disruption of RC3 reveals a calmodulin-based mechanism for regulating metaplasticity in the hippocampus. *J. Neurosci.* (2002). doi:20026569
- 207. Cooke, S. F. & Bliss, T. V. P. Plasticity in the human central nervous system.*Brain* (2006). doi:10.1093/brain/awl082
- 208. Abraham, W. C. Metaplasticity: Tuning synapses and networks for plasticity. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* (2008). doi:10.1038/nrn2356
- 209. Moyer, J. R., Thompson, L. T. & Disterhoft, J. F. Trace eyeblink conditioning increases CA1 excitability in a transient and learning-specific manner. *J. Neurosci.* (1996).
- Saar, D., Grossman, Y. & Barkai, E. Long-lasting cholinergic modulation underlies rule learning in rats. *J. Neurosci.* (2001). doi:21/4/1385 [pii]

- 211. Cohen-Matsliah, S. I., Brosh, I., Rosenblum, K. & Barkai, E. A novel role for extracellular signal-regulated kinase in maintaining long-term memory-relevant excitability changes. *J. Neurosci.* (2007). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3728-07.2007
- 212. Oh, M. M., Kuo, A. G., Wu, W. W., Sametsky, E. A. & Disterhoft, J. F.
 Watermaze Learning Enhances Excitability of CA1 Pyramidal Neurons. *J. Neurophysiol.* (2003). doi:10.1152/jn.01177.2002
- Quinlan, E. M., Lebel, D., Brosh, I. & Barkai, E. A Molecular Mechanism for Stabilization of Learning-Induced Synaptic Modifications. *Neuron* (2004). doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(03)00874-2
- Disterhoft, J. F. & Oh, M. M. Learning, aging and intrinsic neuronal plasticity. *Trends in Neurosciences* (2006). doi:10.1016/j.tins.2006.08.005
- 215. Zelcer, I. *et al.* A cellular correlate of learning-induced metaplasticity in the hippocampus. *Cereb. Cortex* **16**, 460–8 (2006).
- 216. Bhattacharya, S. *et al.* Histone deacetylase inhibition induces odor preference memory extension and maintains enhanced AMPA receptor expression in the rat pup model. *Learn. Mem.* (2017). doi:10.1101/lm.045799.117
- 217. Levenson, J. M. *et al.* Regulation of histone acetylation during memory formation in the hippocampus. *J. Biol. Chem.* **279**, 40545–40559 (2004).
- 218. Levenson, J. M. *et al.* Evidence that DNA (cytosine-5) methyltransferase regulates synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus. *J. Biol. Chem.* (2006).
 doi:10.1074/jbc.M511767200

- Miller, C. A. & Sweatt, J. D. Covalent Modification of DNA Regulates Memory Formation. *Neuron* (2007). doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2007.02.022
- 220. Mombaerts, P. *et al.* Visualizing an olfactory sensory map. *Cell* 87, 675–686 (1996).
- 221. Smith, T. D. & Bhatnagar, K. P. Microsmatic primates: Reconsidering how and when size matters. *Anatomical Record Part B New Anatomist* (2004).
 doi:10.1002/ar.b.20026
- Brennan, P. A., Schellinck, H. M., De La Riva, C., Kendrick, K. M. & Keverne, E.
 B. Changes in neurotransmitter release in the main olfactory bulb following an olfactory conditioning procedure in mice. *Neuroscience* (1998).
 doi:10.1016/S0306-4522(98)00182-1
- 223. Litaudon, P., Mouly, A. M., Sullivan, R., Gervais, R. & Cattarelli, M. Learninginduced changes in rat piriform cortex activity mapped using multisite recording with voltage sensitive dye. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* (1997). doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.1997.tb01517.x
- 224. Araneda, R. C., Kini, A. D. & Firestein, S. The molecular receptive range of an odorant receptor. *Nat. Neurosci.* (2000). doi:10.1038/81774
- 225. Bozza, T., McGann, J. P., Mombaerts, P. & Wachowiak, M. In vivo imaging of neuronal activity by targeted expression of a genetically encoded probe in the mouse. *Neuron* (2004). doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(04)00144-8
- 226. Kajiya, K. et al. Molecular bases of odor discrimination: Reconstitution of

olfactory receptors that recognize overlapping sets of odorants. *J. Neurosci.* (2001). doi:21/16/6018 [pii]

- 227. Duchamp-Viret, P., Duchamp, A. & Chaput, M. A. Single olfactory sensory neurons simultaneously integrate the components of an odour mixture. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* (2003). doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2003.03001.x
- 228. Sicard, G. & Holley, A. Receptor cell responses to odorants: Similarities and differences among odorants. *Brain Res.* (1984). doi:10.1016/0006-8993(84)90764-9
- 229. Leon, M. & Johnson, B. A. Olfactory coding in the mammalian olfactory bulb. *Brain Research Reviews* (2003). doi:10.1016/S0165-0173(03)00142-5
- 230. Stewart, W. B., Kauer, J. S. & Shepherd, G. M. Functional organization of rat olfactory bulb analysed by the 2-deoxyglucose method. *J. Comp. Neurol.* (1979). doi:10.1002/cne.901850407
- 231. Spors, H. & Grinvald, A. Spatio-temporal dynamics of odor representations in the mammalian olfactory bulb. *Neuron* (2002). doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(02)00644-X
- 232. Uchida, N., Takahashi, Y. K., Tanifuji, M. & Mori, K. Odor maps in the mammalian olfactory bulb: Domain organization and odorant structural features. *Nat. Neurosci.* (2000). doi:10.1038/79857
- 233. Sakamoto, M. *et al.* Continuous Postnatal Neurogenesis Contributes to Formation of the Olfactory Bulb Neural Circuits and Flexible Olfactory Associative Learning.
 J. Neurosci. (2014). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0674-14.2014

- 234. Aroniadou-Anderjaska, V., Zhou, F. M., Priest, C. a, Ennis, M. & Shipley, M. T. Tonic and synaptically evoked presynaptic inhibition of sensory input to the rat olfactory bulb via GABA(B) heteroreceptors. *J. Neurophysiol.* (2000). doi:10.1152/jn.2000.84.3.1194
- 235. Aungst, J. L. *et al.* Centre-surround inhibition among olfactory bulb glomeruli. *Nature* **426**, 623–629 (2003).
- Ennis, M. *et al.* Dopamine D2 receptor-mediated presynaptic inhibition of olfactory nerve terminals. *J. Neurophysiol.* (2001). doi:10.1152/jn.2001.86.6.2986
- 237. Hayar, A. Olfactory Bulb Glomeruli: External Tufted Cells Intrinsically Burst at Theta Frequency and Are Entrained by Patterned Olfactory Input. *J. Neurosci.* (2004). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4714-03.2004
- Kiyokage, E. *et al.* Molecular Identity of Periglomerular and Short Axon Cells. J. Neurosci. (2010). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3497-09.2010
- 239. Kosaka, T. & Kosaka, K. Tyrosine hydroxylase-positive GABAergic juxtaglomerular neurons are the main source of the interglomerular connections in the mouse main olfactory bulb. *Neurosci. Res.* (2008). doi:10.1016/j.neures.2007.11.012
- 240. Wachowiak, M. *et al.* Inhibition [corrected] of olfactory receptor neuron input to olfactory bulb glomeruli mediated by suppression of presynaptic calcium influx. *J. Neurophysiol.* (2005). doi:10.1152/jn.00286.2005
- 241. Murphy, G. J., Darcy, D. P. & Isaacson, J. S. Intraglomerular inhibition: Signaling

mechanisms of an olfactory microcircuit. *Nat. Neurosci.* (2005). doi:10.1038/nn1403

- 242. Parrish-Aungst, S., Shipley, M. T., Erdelyi, F., Szabo, G. & Puche, A. C.
 Quantitative analysis of neuronal diversity in the mouse olfactory bulb. *J. Comp. Neurol.* (2007). doi:10.1002/cne.21205
- 243. Shao, X. M. & Feldman, J. L. Respiratory rhythm generation and synaptic inhibition of expiratory neurons in pre-Bötzinger complex: differential roles of glycinergic and GABAergic neural transmission. J. Neurophysiol. (1997). doi:10.1152/jn.1997.77.4.1853
- 244. Fletcher, M. L. & Chen, W. R. Neural correlates of olfactory learning: Critical role of centrifugal neuromodulation. *Learn. Mem.* **17**, 561–570 (2010).
- 245. Rennaker, R. L., Chen, C.-F. F., Ruyle, A. M., Sloan, A. M. & Wilson, D. A. Spatial and Temporal Distribution of Odorant-Evoked Activity in the Piriform Cortex. *J. Neurosci.* (2007). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4072-06.2007
- Shipley, M. T. & Ennis, M. Functional organization of olfactory system. J. Neurobiol. 30, 123–176 (1996).
- 247. Nagayama, S., Homma, R. & Imamura, F. Neuronal organization of olfactory bulb circuits. *Front. Neural Circuits* (2014). doi:10.3389/fncir.2014.00098
- 248. Figueres-Oñate, M., García-Marqués, J., Pedraza, M., De Carlos, J. A. & López-Mascaraque, L. Spatiotemporal analyses of neural lineages after embryonic and postnatal progenitor targeting combining different reporters. *Front. Neurosci.*

(2015). doi:10.3389/fnins.2015.00087

- 249. Pressler, R. T. & Strowbridge, B. W. Blanes cells mediate persistent feedforward inhibition onto granule cells in the olfactory bulb. *Neuron* (2006).
 doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2006.02.019
- 250. Figueres-Oñate, M., Gutiérrez, Y. & LÃ³pez-Mascaraque, L. Unraveling Cajal's view of the olfactory system. *Front. Neuroanat.* (2014).
 doi:10.3389/fnana.2014.00055
- 251. Price, J. L. & Powell, T. P. An electron-microscopic study of the termination of the afferent fibres to the olfactory bulb from the cerebral hemisphere. *J. Cell Sci.* (1970).
- 252. Pinching, A. J. & Powell, T. P. The neuron types of the glomerular layer of the olfactory bulb. *J. Cell Sci.* **9**, 305–345 (1971).
- 253. Pinching, A. J. & Powell, T. P. The neuropil of the glomeruli of the olfactory bulb.*J. Cell Sci.* 9, 347–377 (1971).
- 254. Price, J. L. & Powell, T. P. An experimental study of the origin and the course of the centrifugal fibres to the olfactory bulb in the rat. *J. Anat.* (1970).
- 255. Mori, K. Maps of Odorant Molecular Features in the Mammalian Olfactory Bulb. *Physiol. Rev.* (2006). doi:10.1152/physrev.00021.2005
- 256. Ke, M. T., Fujimoto, S. & Imai, T. SeeDB: A simple and morphology-preserving optical clearing agent for neuronal circuit reconstruction. *Nat. Neurosci.* (2013). doi:10.1038/nn.3447

- Sosulski, D. L., Bloom, M. L., Cutforth, T., Axel, R. & Datta, S. R. Distinct representations of olfactory information in different cortical centres. *Nature* 472, 213–216 (2011).
- 258. Allison, A. C. THE MORPHOLOGY OF THE OLFACTORY SYSTEM IN THE VERTEBRATES. *Biol. Rev.* (1953). doi:10.1111/j.1469-185X.1953.tb01376.x
- 259. Shepherd, G. M. Synaptic organization of the mammalian olfactory bulb. *Physiol. Rev.* (1972).
- Woolf, T. B., Shepherd, G. M. & Greer, C. A. Serial reconstructions of granule cell spines in the mammalian olfactory bulb. *Synapse* (1991).
 doi:10.1002/syn.890070303
- Price, J. L. & Sprich, W. W. Observation on the lateral olfactory tract of the rat. J. *Comp. Neurol.* (1975). doi:10.1002/cne.901620304
- 262. Miyamichi, K. *et al.* Cortical representations of olfactory input by trans-synaptic tracing. *Nature* (2011). doi:10.1038/nature09714
- 263. Igarashi, K. M. *et al.* Parallel Mitral and Tufted Cell Pathways Route Distinct Odor Information to Different Targets in the Olfactory Cortex. *J. Neurosci.* (2012). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0154-12.2012
- 264. Haberly, L. B. & Price, J. L. The axonal projection patterns of the mitral and tufted cells of the olfactory bulb in the rat. *Brain Res.* (1977). doi:10.1016/0006-8993(77)90978-7
- 265. Haberly, L. B. Neuronal circuitry in olfactory cortex: Anatomy and functional

implications. Chem. Senses (1985). doi:10.1093/chemse/10.2.219

- 266. Bartolomei, J. C. & Greer, C. A. The organization of piriform cortex and the lateral olfactory tract following the loss of mitral cells in PCD mice. *Exp. Neurol.* (1998). doi:10.1006/exnr.1998.6947
- Isaacson, J. S. Odor representations in mammalian cortical circuits. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* (2010). doi:10.1016/j.conb.2010.02.004
- Wilson, D. A. & Sullivan, R. M. Cortical processing of odor objects. *Neuron* (2011). doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2011.10.027
- Wilson, D. A., Kadohisa, M. & Fletcher, M. L. Cortical contributions to olfaction:
 Plasticity and perception. *Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology* (2006).
 doi:10.1016/j.semcdb.2006.04.008
- 270. Haberly, L. B. & Bower, J. M. Olfactory cortex: model circuit for study of associative memory? *Trends in Neurosciences* (1989). doi:10.1016/0166-2236(89)90025-8
- Wilson, D. A. & Sullivan, R. M. Neurobiology of associative learning in the neonate: Early olfactory learning. *Behavioral and Neural Biology* (1994). doi:10.1016/S0163-1047(05)80039-1
- de Olmos, J. S. An improved HRP method for the study of central nervous connections. *Exp. Brain Res.* (1977). doi:10.1007/BF00236191
- 273. Haberly, L. B. Parallel-distributed Processing in Olfactory Cortex: New Insights from Morphological and Physiological Analysis of Neuronal Circuitry. *Chem.*

Senses (2001). doi:10.1093/chemse/26.5.551

- 274. Chen, A. *et al.* Inducible enhancement of memory storage and synaptic plasticity in transgenic mice expressing an inhibitor of ATF4 (CREB-2) and C/EBP proteins. *Neuron* **39**, 655–669 (2003).
- 275. Carmichael, S. T., Clugnet, M. -C & Price, J. L. Central olfactory connections in the macaque monkey. *J. Comp. Neurol.* (1994). doi:10.1002/cne.903460306
- 276. Cleland, T. A. & Linster, C. Computation in the olfactory system. *Chem. Senses* (2005). doi:10.1093/chemse/bji072
- 277. Hagiwara, A., Pal, S. K., Sato, T. F., Wienisch, M. & Murthy, V. N.
 Optophysiological analysis of associational circuits in the olfactory cortex. *Front. Neural Circuits* 6, 18 (2012).
- 278. Neville, K. R. & Haberly, L. B. Olfactory Cortex. in *The Synaptic Organization of the Brain (5th edn) (Shepherd, G.M., ed)* (2004). doi:10.1093/acprof
- 279. de Olmos, J., Hardy, H. & Heimer, L. The afferent connections of the main and the accessory olfactory bulb formations in the rat: An experimental HRP-study. *J. Comp. Neurol.* (1978). doi:10.1002/cne.901810202
- Freeman, D. & Johnson, K. E. Reconceptualizing the Knowledge-Base of Language Teacher Education. *TESOL Q*. (1998). doi:10.2307/3588114
- Boyd, A. M., Sturgill, J. F., Poo, C. & Isaacson, J. S. Cortical feedback control of olfactory bulb circuits. *Neuron* 76, 1161–74 (2012).
- 282. Boyd, J. G. et al. Proteomic evaluation reveals that olfactory ensheathing cells but

not schwann cells express calponin. Glia (2006). doi:10.1002/glia.20299

- 283. Boyd, J. G. Defining the role of olfactory ensheathing cells in facilitating axon remyelination following damage to the spinal cord. *FASEB J.* (2005).
 doi:10.1096/fj.04-2833rev
- 284. Boyd, A. M., Kato, H. K., Komiyama, T. & Isaacson, J. S. Broadcasting of Cortical Activity to the Olfactory Bulb. *Cell Rep.* (2015). doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2015.01.047
- Amunts, K. & Zilles, K. Architectonic Mapping of the Human Brain beyond Brodmann. *Neuron* (2015). doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2015.12.001
- 286. Calu, D. J., Roesch, M. R., Stalnaker, T. A. & Schoenbaum, G. Associative encoding in posterior piriform cortex during odor discrimination and reversal learning. *Cereb. Cortex* (2007). doi:10.1093/cercor/bhl045
- 287. Roesch, M. R., Calu, D. J. & Schoenbaum, G. Dopamine neurons encode the better option in rats deciding between differently delayed or sized rewards. *Nat. Neurosci.* (2007). doi:10.1038/nn2013
- 288. Luskin, M. B. & Price, J. L. The topographic organization of associational fibers of the olfactory system in the rat, including centrifugal fibers to the olfactory bulb. J. *Comp. Neurol.* (1983). doi:10.1002/cne.902160305
- 289. Cajal, S. R. Histologie du système nerveux de l'homme et des vertébrés. Vol. 2.
 Paris Maloine (1911). doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.48637
- 290. Mouly, A. M., Fort, A., Ben-Boutayab, N. & Gervais, R. Olfactory learning

induces differential long-lasting changes in rat central olfactory pathways. *Neuroscience* (2001). doi:10.1016/S0306-4522(00)00476-0

- Gottfried, J. A., Smith, A. P. R., Rugg, M. D. & Dolan, R. J. Remembrance of odors past: Human olfactory cortex in cross-modal recognition memory. *Neuron* (2004). doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(04)00270-3
- 292. Litaudon, P., Amat, C., Bertrand, B., Vigouroux, M. & Buonviso, N. Piriform cortex functional heterogeneity revealed by cellular responses to odours. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* (2003). doi:10.1046/j.1460-9568.2003.02654.x
- 293. Chabaud, P. *et al.* Exposure to behaviourally relevant odour reveals differential characteristics in rat central olfactory pathways as studied through oscillatory activities. *Chem. Senses* (2000). doi:10.1093/chemse/25.5.561
- 294. Martin, I. M. C., Ison, C. A., Aanensen, D. M., Fenton, K. A. & Spratt, B. G. Rapid Sequence-Based Identification of Gonococcal Transmission Clusters in a Large Metropolitan Area. J. Infect. Dis. (2004). doi:10.1086/383047
- Zelano, C., Mohanty, A. & Gottfried, J. A. Olfactory Predictive Codes and Stimulus Templates in Piriform Cortex. *Neuron* (2011). doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2011.08.010
- Barkai, E. & Hasselmo, M. H. Acetylcholine and associative memory in the piriform cortex. *Mol. Neurobiol.* (1997). doi:10.1007/BF02740613
- 297. Barkai, E. Reduced after-hyperpolarization in rat piriform cortex pyramidal neurons is associated with increased learning capability during operant

conditioning. Eur. J. Neurosci. (1998). doi:10.1046/j.1460-9568.1998.00149.x

- 298. Johnson, B. A. & Leon, M. Odorant molecular length: One aspect of the olfactory code. *J. Comp. Neurol.* (2000). doi:10.1002/1096-9861(20001016)426:2<330::AID-CNE12>3.0.CO;2-5
- 299. Kadohisa, M. & Wilson, D. A. Separate encoding of identity and similarity of complex familiar odors in piriform cortex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* (2006). doi:10.1073/pnas.0604313103
- 300. Barnes, D. C. & Wilson, D. A. Slow-Wave Sleep-Imposed Replay Modulates Both Strength and Precision of Memory. *J. Neurosci.* (2014). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5274-13.2014
- Gottfried, J. A. Central mechanisms of odour object perception. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* (2010). doi:10.1038/nrn2883
- 302. Nagayama, S. Differential Axonal Projection of Mitral and Tufted Cells in the Mouse Main Olfactory System. *Front. Neural Circuits* (2010). doi:10.3389/fncir.2010.00120
- 303. Chapuis, J. & Wilson, D. A. Bidirectional plasticity of cortical pattern recognition and behavioral sensory acuity. *Nat. Neurosci.* (2012). doi:10.1038/nn.2966
- Luna, V. M. & Morozov, A. Input-specific excitation of olfactory cortex microcircuits. *Front. Neural Circuits* (2012). doi:10.3389/fncir.2012.00069
- 305. Kauer, J. S., Senseman, D. M. & Cohen, L. B. Odor-elicited activity monitored simultaneously from 124 regions of the salamander olfactory bulb using a voltage-

sensitive dye. Brain Res. (1987). doi:10.1016/0006-8993(87)90093-X

- 306. Kauer, J. S. Contributions of topography and parallel processing to odor coding in the vertebrate olfactory pathway. *Trends in Neurosciences* (1991).
 doi:10.1016/0166-2236(91)90025-P
- 307. McKenna, M. P., Hekmat-Scafe, D. S., Gaines, P. & Carlson, J. R. Putative drosophila pheromone-binding proteins expressed in a subregion of the olfactory system. *J. Biol. Chem.* (1994).
- 308. Vosshall, L. B., Wong, A. M. & Axel, R. An olfactory sensory map in the fly brain. *Cell* (2000). doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)00021-0
- 309. Wachowiak, M. & Ache, B. W. Morphology and physiology of multiglomerular olfactory projection neurons in the spiny lobster. J. Comp. Physiol. A (1994). doi:10.1007/BF00217435
- Vogt, R. G. & Riddiford, L. M. Pheromone binding and inactivation by moth antennae. *Nature* (1981). doi:10.1038/293161a0
- Brennan, P. a & Keverne, E. B. Neural mechanisms of mammalian olfactory learning. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 51, 457–81 (1997).
- Doucette, W. *et al.* Associative cortex features in the first olfactory brain relay station. *Neuron* (2011). doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2011.02.024
- 313. Ben-Arie, N. *et al.* Olfactory receptor gene cluster on human chromosome 17: possible duplication of an ancestral receptor repertoire. *Hum Mol Genet* (1994).
- 314. Gottfried, E. et al. Tumor-derived lactic acid modulates dendritic cell activation

and antigen expression. Blood (2006). doi:10.1182/blood-2005-05-1795

- 315. McLean, J. H. & Shipley, M. T. Serotonergic afferents to the rat olfactory bulb: II. Changes in fiber distribution during development. *J. Neurosci.* 7, 3029–3039 (1987).
- 316. Lethbridge, R., Hou, Q., Harley, C. W. & Yuan, Q. Olfactory bulb glomerular nmda receptors mediate olfactory nerve potentiation and odor preference learning in the neonate rat. *PLoS One* **7**, (2012).
- 317. Yuan, T. F. & Slotnick, B. M. Roles of olfactory system dysfunction in depression.
 Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry (2014).
 doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2014.05.013
- 318. Grimes, M. T. *et al.* Epac activation initiates associative odor preference memories in the rat pup. 74–83 (2015).
- Braubach, O. R., Wood, H. D., Gadbois, S., Fine, A. & Croll, R. P. Olfactory conditioning in the zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Behav. Brain Res.* (2009). doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2008.10.044
- 320. Charra, R., Datiche, F., Gigot, V., Schaal, B. & Coureaud, G. Pheromone-induced odor learning modifies Fos expression in the newborn rabbit brain. *Behav. Brain Res.* (2013). doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2012.09.017
- 321. Burger, B. V. *et al.* Olfactory Cue Mediated Neonatal Recognition in Sheep, Ovis aries. *J. Chem. Ecol.* (2011). doi:10.1007/s10886-011-0020-7
- 322. Sullivan, R. M. & Wilson, D. A. The locus coeruleus, norepinephrine, and memory

in newborns. Brain Res. Bull. (1994). doi:10.1016/0361-9230(94)90160-0

- 323. Sullivan, R. M., Stackenwalt, G., Nasr, F., Lemon, C. & Wilson, D. A. Association of an odor with activation of olfactory bulb noradrenergic beta-receptors or locus coeruleus stimulation is sufficient to produce learned approach responses to that odor in neonatal rats. *Behav. Neurosci.* **114**, 957–962 (2000).
- 324. Wilson, D. A. & Stevenson, R. J. The fundamental role of memory in olfactory perception. *Trends in Neurosciences* (2003). doi:10.1016/S0166-2236(03)00076-6
- 325. Mandairon, N., Sacquet, J., Jourdan, F. & Didier, A. Long-term fate and distribution of newborn cells in the adult mouse olfactory bulb: Influences of olfactory deprivation. *Neuroscience* (2006). doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2006.03.066
- Wilson, R. I. & Mainen, Z. F. EARLY EVENTS IN OLFACTORY PROCESSING. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. (2006). doi:10.1146/annurev.neuro.29.051605.112950
- Wilson, R. S. *et al.* Olfactory impairment in presymptomatic Alzheimer's disease.
 in *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* (2009). doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04013.x
- 328. Yuan, Q. & Harley, C. W. Learning modulation of odor representations: new findings from Arc-indexed networks. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* (2014). doi:10.3389/fncel.2014.00423
- 329. Yuan, Q., Shakhawat, A. M. D. & Harley, C. W. Mechanisms underlying early

odor preference learning in rats. *Prog. Brain Res.* (2014). doi:10.1016/B978-0-444-63350-7.00005-X

- 330. Shakhawat, A. M. *et al.* Arc-Expressing Neuronal Ensembles Supporting Pattern Separation Require Adrenergic Activity in Anterior Piriform Cortex: An Exploration of Neural Constraints on Learning. *J. Neurosci.* (2015). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2690-15.2015
- Berkowicz, D. A. & Trombley, P. Q. Dopaminergic modulation at the olfactory nerve synapse. *Brain Res.* (2000). doi:10.1016/S0006-8993(99)02342-2
- 332. Viviers, M. Z., Burger, B. V., Le Roux, N. J., Morris, J. & Le Roux, M. Temporal changes in the neonatal recognition cue of dohne merino lambs (ovis aries). *Chem. Senses* (2014). doi:10.1093/chemse/bjt075
- 333. Laing, D. G., Eddy, A., Francis, G. W. & Stephens, L. Evidence for the temporal processing of odor mixtures in humans. *Brain Res.* (1994). doi:10.1016/0006-8993(94)90712-9
- 334. Youngentob, S. L., Mozell, M. M., Sheehe, P. R. & Hornung, D. E. A quantitative analysis of sniffing strategies in rats performing odor detection tasks. *Physiol. Behav.* (1987). doi:10.1016/0031-9384(87)90131-4
- 335. Brown, R. E., Schellinck, H. M. I. & West, A. M. The influence of dietary and genetic cues on the ability of rats to discriminate between the urinary odors of MHC-congenic mice. *Physiol. Behav.* (1996). doi:10.1016/0031-9384(96)00030-3
- 336. Bodyak, N. Performance of Mice in an Automated Olfactometer: Odor Detection,

Discrimination and Odor Memory. *Chem. Senses* (1999). doi:10.1093/chemse/24.6.637

- 337. Larson, J. & Sieprawska, D. Automated study of simultaneous-cue olfactory discrimination learning in adult mice. *Behav Neurosci* (2002). doi:10.1037//0735-7044.116.4.588
- 338. Shakhawat, A. M. *et al.* Visualizing the Engram: Learning Stabilizes Odor Representations in the Olfactory Network. *J. Neurosci.* (2014). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3396-14.2014
- 339. Fuster, J. M. The prefrontal cortex An update: Time is of the essence. *Neuron* (2001). doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(01)00285-9
- Wallenstein, G. V., Eichenbaum, H. & Hasselmo, M. E. The hippocampus as an associator of discontiguous events. *Trends in Neurosciences* (1998).
 doi:10.1016/S0166-2236(97)01220-4
- Rescorla, R. A. Pavlovian Conditioning: It's Not What You Think It Is. Am. Psychol. (1988). doi:10.1037/0003-066X.43.3.151
- 342. Leon, M., Galef, B. G. & Behse, J. H. Establishment of pheromonal bonds and diet choice in young rats by odor pre-exposure. *Physiol. Behav.* (1977). doi:10.1016/0031-9384(77)90248-7
- 343. CROWLEY, D. E. & HEPP-REYMOND, M. C. DEVELOPMENT OF COCHLEAR FUNCTION IN THE EAR OF THE INFANT RAT. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. (1966). doi:10.1037/h0023953

- 344. Gregory, E. H. & Bishop, A. Development of olfactory-guided behavior in the golden hamster. *Physiol. Behav.* (1975). doi:10.1016/0031-9384(75)90106-7
- 345. Hill, D. L. & Almli, C. R. Parabrachial nuclei damage in infant rats produces residual deficits in gustatory preferences/aversions and sodium appetite. *Dev. Psychobiol.* (1983). doi:10.1002/dev.420160608
- 346. Johanson, I. B. & Teicher, M. H. Classical conditioning of an odor preference in 3day-old rats. *Behav. Neural Biol.* (1980). doi:10.1016/S0163-1047(80)92596-0
- 347. Johanson, I. B. & Hall, W. G. Appetitive learning in 1-day-old rat pups. *Science* 205, 419–421 (1979).
- 348. Hall, W. G. & Williams, C. L. Suckling Isn't Feeding, or Is It? A Search for Developmental Continuities. *Adv. Study Behav.* (1983). doi:10.1016/S0065-3454(08)60290-9
- 349. Sullivan, R. M., Hofer, M. A. & Brake, S. C. Olfactory-guided orientation in neonatal rats is enhanced by a conditioned change in behavioral state. *Dev. Psychobiol.* (1986). doi:10.1002/dev.420190612
- 350. Sullivan, R. M., Wilson, D. A. & Leon, M. Associative processes in early olfactory preference acquisition: Neural and behavioral consequences. *Psychobiology* (1989). doi:10.3758/BF03337814
- 351. McLean, J. H., Darby-King, A., Sullivan, R. M. & King, S. R. Serotonergic influence on olfactory learning in the neonate rat. *Behav. Neural Biol.* (1993). doi:10.1016/0163-1047(93)90257-I

- 352. Sullivan, R. M. & Leon, M. Early olfactory learning induces an enhanced olfactory bulb response in young rats. *Brain Res.* **392**, 278–282 (1986).
- 353. Pedersen, P. E., Williams, C. L. & Blass, E. M. Activation and odor conditioning of suckling behavior in 3-day-old albino rats. *J. Exp. Psychol. Anim. Behav. Process.* 8, 329–341 (1982).
- 354. Moore, C. L. & Power, K. L. Variation in maternal care and individual differences in play, exploration, and grooming of juvenile Norway rat offspring. *Dev. Psychobiol.* 25, 165–182 (1992).
- Weldon, D. A., Travis, M. L. & Kennedy, D. A. Posttraining D1 Receptor Blockade Impairs Odor Conditioning in Neonatal Rats. *Behav. Neurosci.* (1991). doi:10.1037/0735-7044.105.3.450
- 356. Sullivan, R. M. Developing a Sense of Safety: The Neurobiology of Neonatal Attachment. in *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1008, 122–131 (2003).
- 357. Roth, T. L. & Sullivan, R. M. Endogenous opioids and their role in odor preference acquisition and consolidation following odor-shock conditioning in infant rats. *Dev. Psychobiol.* **39**, 188–198 (2001).
- Camp, L. L. & Rudy, J. W. Changes in the categorization of appetitive and aversive events during postnatal development of the rat. *Dev. Psychobiol.* 21, 25– 42 (1988).
- 359. Moriceau, S., Wilson, D. A., Levine, S. & Sullivan, R. M. Dual circuitry for odor-

shock conditioning during infancy: corticosterone switches between fear and attraction via amygdala. *J. Neurosci.* **26**, 6737–6748 (2006).

- 360. Wilson, D. A. & Sullivan, R. M. Neurobiology of associative learning in the neonate: early olfactory learning. *Behav. Neural Biol.* 61, 1–18 (1994).
- 361. Galef, B. G. Development of olfactory control of feeding-site selection in rat pups.*J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol.* (1981). doi:10.1037/h0077792
- Alberts, J. R. & May, B. Nonnutritive, thermotactile induction of filial huddling in rat pups. *Dev. Psychobiol.* (1984). doi:10.1002/dev.420170207
- Sullivan, R. M. & Hall, W. G. Reinforcers in infancy: classical conditioning using stroking or intra-oral infusions of milk as UCS. *Dev. Psychobiol.* 21, 215–223 (1988).
- 364. Johanson, I. B. & Hall, W. G. Appetitive conditioning in neonatal rats: conditioned orientation to a novel odor. *Dev. Psychobiol.* **15**, 379–397 (1982).
- 365. Leon, M., Galef, B. G. & Behse, J. H. Establishment of pheromonal bonds and diet choice in young rats by odor pre exposure. *Physiology and Behavior* 18, 387–391 (1977).
- Coopersmith, R. & Leon, M. Enhanced neural response to familiar olfactory cues. *Science* 225, 849–851 (1984).
- Sullivan, R. M., Wilson, D. A. & Leon, M. Norepinephrine and learning-induced plasticity in infant rat olfactory system. *J. Neurosci.* 9, 3998–4006 (1989).
- 368. Sullivan, R. M., McGaugh, J. L. & Leon, M. Norepinephrine-induced plasticity

and one-trial olfactory learning in neonatal rats. *Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res.* **60**, 219–228 (1991).

- 369. Woo, C. C. & Leon, M. Sensitive period for neural and behavioral response development to learned odors. *Brain Res.* 433, 309–313 (1987).
- Nakamura, S., Kimura, F. & Sakaguchi, T. Postnatal development of electrical activity in the locus ceruleus. *J. Neurophysiol.* 58, 510–524 (1987).
- 371. Yuan, Q., Harley, C. W., Bruce, J. C., Darby-Kingjohn, A. & McLean, J. H. Isoproterenol increases CREB phosphorylation and olfactory nerve-evoked potentials in normal and 5-HT-depleted olfactory bulbs in rat pups only at doses that produce odor preference learning. *Learn. Mem.* (2000). doi:10.1101/lm.35900
- McLean, J. H., Darby-King, A. & Hodge, E. 5-HT2 receptor involvement in conditioned olfactory learning in the neonate rat pup. *Behav. Neurosci.* 110, 1426– 1434 (1996).
- 373. Morrison, G. L., Fontaine, C. J., Harley, C. W. & Yuan, Q. A role for the anterior piriform cortex in early odor preference learning: evidence for multiple olfactory learning structures in the rat pup. *J. Neurophysiol.* (2013). doi:10.1152/jn.00072.2013
- 374. Harley, C. W., Darby-king, A., Mccann, J. & Mclean, J. H. initiates early odor preference learning in rat pups : Support for the mitral cell / cAMP model of odor preference learning. *Learn. Mem.* 8–13 (2006). doi:10.1101/lm.62006.enol
- 375. Jerome, D., Hou, Q. & Yuan, Q. Interaction of NMDA receptors and L-type

calcium channels during early odor preference learning in rats. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* (2012). doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2012.08210.x

- 376. Rumsey, J. D., Darby-King, A., Harley, C. W. & McLean, J. H. Infusion of the metabotropic receptor agonist, DCG-IV, into the main olfactory bulb induces olfactory preference learning in rat pups. *Dev. Brain Res.* (2001). doi:10.1016/S0165-3806(01)00156-0
- Sullivan, R. M., Zyzak, D. R., Skierkowski, P. & Wilson, D. A. The Role of Olfactory-Bulb Norepinephrine in Early Olfactory Learning. *Dev. Brain Res.* 70, 279–282 (1992).
- 378. Sullivan, R. M. *et al.* Olfactory classical conditioning in neonates. *Pediatrics* 87, 511–518 (1991).
- 379. Grimes, M. T. *et al.* Mammalian intermediate-term memory: New findings in neonate rat. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* (2011). doi:10.1016/j.nlm.2011.01.012
- 380. Fontaine, C. J., Harley, C. W. & Yuan, Q. Lateralized odor preference training in rat pups reveals an enhanced network response in anterior piriform cortex to olfactory input that parallels extended memory. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 15126–15131 (2013).
- 381. Christie-Fougere, M. M., Darby-King, A., Harley, C. W. & McLean, J. H. Calcineurin inhibition eliminates the normal inverted U curve, enhances acquisition and prolongs memory in a mammalian 3'-5'-cyclic AMP-dependent learning paradigm. *Neuroscience* (2009). doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.11.004

- 382. McLean, J. H., Darby-King, A. & Harley, C. W. Potentiation and prolongation of long-term odor memory in neonate rats using a phosphodiesterase inhibitor. *Neuroscience* 135, 329–334 (2005).
- 383. Kucharski, D. & Hall, W. G. New routes to early memories. *Science (80-.)*.(1987). doi:10.1126/science.3672125
- 384. Schwob, J. E. & Price, J. L. The development of axonal connections in the central olfactory system of rats. J. Comp. Neurol. (1984). doi:10.1002/cne.902230204
- 385. Teitelbaum, H. Lateralization of olfactory memory in the split-brain rat. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. (1971). doi:10.1037/h0031043
- 386. Shipley, M. T., Halloran, F. J. & de la Torre, J. Surprisingly rich projection from locus coeruleus to the olfactory bulb in the rat. *Brain Res.* 329, 294–299 (1985).
- 387. Nakamura, S. & Sakaguchi, T. Development and plasticity of the locus coeruleus: A review of recent physiological and pharmacological experimentation. *Progress in Neurobiology* (1990). doi:10.1016/0301-0082(90)90018-C
- Rangel, S. & Leon, M. Early odor preference training increases olfactory bulb norepinephrine. *Dev. Brain Res.* 85, 187–191 (1995).
- 389. Nakamura, S., Kimura, F. & Sakaguchi, T. Postnatal development of electrical activity in the locus ceruleus. *J. Neurophysiol.* (1987). doi:3655880
- Moriceau, S. Unique Neural Circuitry for Neonatal Olfactory Learning. J. Neurosci. (2004). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4578-03.2004
- 391. Landers, M. S. & Sullivan, R. M. The development and neurobiology of infant

attachment and fear. Dev. Neurosci. (2012). doi:10.1159/000336732

- 392. Langdon, P. E., Harley, C. W. & McLean, J. H. Increased ?? adrenoceptor activation overcomes conditioned olfactory learning deficits induced by serotonin depletion. *Dev. Brain Res.* **102**, 291–293 (1997).
- 393. Yuan, Q., Harley, C. W. & McLean, J. H. Mitral Cell β1 and 5-HT2A Receptor Colocalization and cAMP Coregulation: A New Model of Norepinephrine-Induced Learning in the Olfactory Bulb. *Learn. Mem.* **10**, 5–15 (2003).
- 394. Shakhawat, A. M. D., Harley, C. W. & Yuan, Q. Olfactory bulb α2-adrenoceptor activation promotes rat pup odor-preference learning via a cAMP-independent mechanism. *Learn. Mem.* (2012). doi:10.1101/lm.027359.112
- 395. McLean, J. H., Darby-King, A., Sullivan, R. M. & King, S. R. Serotonergic influence on olfactory learning in the neonate rat. *Behav. Neural Biol.* 60, 152–162 (1993).
- 396. Price, T. L., Darby-King, A., Harley, C. W. & McLean, J. H. Serotonin plays a permissive role in conditioned olfactory learning induced by norepinephrine in the neonate rat. *Behav. Neurosci.* (1998). doi:10.1037/0735-7044.112.6.1430
- 397. Byers, D., Davis, R. L. & Kiger, J. A. Defect in cyclic AMP phosphodiesterase due to the dunce mutation of learning in Drosophila melanogaster. *Nature* (1981). doi:10.1038/289079a0
- Shotwell, S. L. Cyclic adenosine 3':5'-monophosphate phosphodiesterase and its role in learning in Drosophila. *J. Neurosci.* (1983).

- 399. Yin, J. C. P. & Tully, T. CREB and the formation of long-term memory. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* (1996). doi:10.1016/S0959-4388(96)80082-1
- 400. Brunelli, M., Garcia-Gil, M., Mozzachiodi, R., Scuri, R. & Zaccardi, M. L.
 Neurobiological principles of learning and memory. *Arch. Ital. Biol.* 135, 15–36 (1997).
- 401. Pittenger, C. & Kandel, E. R. In search of general mechanisms for long-lasting plasticity: Aplysia and the hippocampus. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* (2003). doi:10.1098/rstb.2002.1247
- 402. Bourtchuladze, R. *et al.* Deficient long-term memory in mice with a targeted mutation of the cAMP-responsive element-binding protein. *Cell* (1994).
 doi:10.1016/0092-8674(94)90400-6
- 403. Cui, W., Smith, A., Darby-King, A., Harley, C. W. & McLean, J. H. A temporalspecific and transient cAMP increase characterizes odorant classical conditioning. *Learn. Mem.* (2007). doi:10.1101/lm.496007
- 404. McLean, J. H., Darby-King, a. & Harley, C. W. Potentiation and prolongation of long-term odor memory in neonate rats using a phosphodiesterase inhibitor. *Neuroscience* 135, 329–334 (2005).
- 405. McLean, J. H. *et al.* A phosphodiesterase inhibitor, cilomilast, enhances cAMP activity to restore conditioned odor preference memory after serotonergic depletion in the neonate rat. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* (2009). doi:10.1016/j.nlm.2009.02.003
- 406. Gerisch, G. & Wick, U. Intracellular oscillations and release of cyclic AMP from

Dictyostelium cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* (1975). doi:10.1016/S0006-291X(75)80102-1

- 407. Gerisch, G., Hülser, D., Malchow, D. & Wick, U. Cell communication by periodic cyclic-AMP pulses. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci.* (1975).
 doi:10.1098/rstb.1975.0080
- 408. Abel, T. & Nguyen, P. V. Regulation of hippocampus-dependent memory by cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase. *Prog. Brain Res.* (2008). doi:10.1016/S0079-6123(07)00006-4
- 409. Barco, A., Bailey, C. H. & Kandel, E. R. Common molecular mechanisms in explicit and implicit memory. *Journal of Neurochemistry* (2006). doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.03870.x
- 410. Ahn, S. M. & Choe, E. S. Activation of group I metabotropic glutamate receptors increases serine phosphorylation of GluR1 alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5- methylisoxazole-4-propionic acid receptors in the rat dorsal striatum. *The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics* (2009). doi:10.1124/jpet.108.149542
- 411. Delghandi, M. P., Johannessen, M. & Moens, U. The cAMP signalling pathway activates CREB through PKA, p38 and MSK1 in NIH 3T3 cells. *Cell. Signal.* (2005). doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2005.02.003
- 412. Banke, T. G. *et al.* Control of GluR1 AMPA receptor function by cAMPdependent protein kinase. *J. Neurosci.* (2000). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.20-01-
00089.2000

- 413. Grimes, M. T., Harley, C. W., Darby-King, a. & McLean, J. H. PKA increases in the olfactory bulb act as unconditioned stimuli and provide evidence for parallel memory systems: Pairing odor with increased PKA creates intermediate- and longterm, but not short-term, memories. *Learn. Mem.* **19**, 107–115 (2012).
- 414. Yuan, Q., Harley, C. W. & McLean, J. H. Mitral cell ??1 and 5-HT2A receptor colocalization and camp coregulation: A new model of norepinephrine-induced learning in the olfactory bulb. *Learn. Mem.* (2003). doi:10.1101/lm.54803
- 415. Jones, S. & Yakel, J. L. Functional nicotinic ACh receptors on interneurones in the rat hippocampus. *J. Physiol.* (1997). doi:10.1111/j.1469-7793.1997.603bd.x
- 416. Coghlan, V. M. *et al.* Association of protein kinase A and protein phosphatase 2B with a common anchoring protein. *Science (80-.).* (1995).
 doi:10.1126/science.7528941
- Lin, C.-H. *et al.* Identification of calcineurin as a key signal in the extinction of fear memory. *J. Neurosci.* (2003). doi:23/5/1574 [pii]
- 418. Lin, C.-H., Yeh, S.-H., Lu, H.-Y. & Gean, P.-W. The similarities and diversities of signal pathways leading to consolidation of conditioning and consolidation of extinction of fear memory. *J. Neurosci.* (2003). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-23-08310.2003
- 419. Silva, A. J., Kogan, J. H., Frankland, P. W. & Kida, S. CREB AND MEMORY.
 Annu. Rev. Neurosci. (1998). doi:10.1146/annurev.neuro.21.1.127

- 420. Bading, H., Ginty, D. D. & Greenberg, M. E. Regulation of gene expression in hippocampal neurons by distinct calcium signaling pathways. *Science (80-.).* (1993). doi:10.1126/science.8097060
- 421. Butler, L. S. NMDA and Non-NMDA Receptor-mediated Increase of c-fos mRNA in Dentate Gyrus Neurons Involves Calcium Influx via Different Routes. *J. Neurosci.* (1992).
- 422. Cavuş, I. & Teyler, T. Two forms of long-term potentiation in area CA1 activate different signal transduction cascades. *J. Neurophysiol.* (1996).
 doi:10.1152/jn.1996.76.5.3038
- 423. Mermelstein, P. G., Bito, H., Deisseroth, K. & Tsien, R. W. Critical dependence of cAMP response element-binding protein phosphorylation on L-type calcium channels supports a selective response to EPSPs in preference to action potentials. *J. Neurosci.* (2000).
- 424. Niikura, Y., Abe, K. & Misawa, M. Involvement of L-type Ca2+ channels in the induction of long-term potentiation in the basolateral amygdala-dentate gyrus pathway of anesthetized rats. *Brain Res.* (2004).
 doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2004.04.064
- 425. Verhoog, M. B. *et al.* Mechanisms Underlying the Rules for Associative Plasticity at Adult Human Neocortical Synapses. *J. Neurosci.* (2013).
 doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3158-13.2013
- 426. Morris, R. G. & Frey, U. Hippocampal synaptic plasticity: role in spatial learning

or the automatic recording of attended experience? *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci.* (1997). doi:10.1098/rstb.1997.0136

- 427. Regehr, W. G., Connor, J. a & Tank, D. W. Optical imaging of calcium accumulation in hippocampal pyramidal cells during synaptic activation. *Nature* (1989). doi:10.1038/341533a0
- 428. Schild, D., Geiling, H. & Bischofberger, J. Imaging of L-type Ca2+ channels in olfactory bulb neurones using fluorescent dihydropyridine and a styryl dye. J. *Neurosci. Methods* (1995). doi:10.1016/0165-0270(94)00181-F
- 429. Westenbroek, R. E., Ahlijanian, M. K. & Catterall, W. A. Clustering of L-type Ca2+channels at the base of major dendrites in hippocampal pyramidal neurons. *Nature* (1990). doi:10.1038/347281a0
- 430. Rose, J., Jin, S. X. & Craig, A. M. Heterosynaptic Molecular Dynamics: Locally Induced Propagating Synaptic Accumulation of CaM Kinase II. *Neuron* (2009). doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2008.12.030
- 431. Ma, H. *et al.* γCaMKII Shuttles Ca2+/CaM to the Nucleus to Trigger CREB
 Phosphorylation and Gene Expression. *Cell* 159, 281–294 (2014).
- 432. Impey, S. *et al.* Induction of CRE-mediated gene expression by stimuli that generate long-lasting ltp in area ca1 of the hippocampus. *Neuron* (1996).
 doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80120-8
- 433. Grover, L. M. Evidence for postsynaptic induction and expression of NMDA receptor independent LTP. *J. Neurophysiol.* (1998). doi:10.1152/jn.1998.79.3.1167

- 434. Raymond, C. R. & Redman, S. J. Spatial segregation of neuronal calcium signals encodes different forms of LTP in rat hippocampus. *J. Physiol.* (2006). doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2005.098947
- 435. Bauer, E. P., Schafe, G. E. & LeDoux, J. E. NMDA receptors and L-type voltagegated calcium channels contribute to long-term potentiation and different components of fear memory formation in the lateral amygdala. *J. Neurosci.* (2002). doi:22/12/5239 [pii]
- 436. Weisskopf, M. G., Bauer, E. P. & LeDoux, J. E. L-type voltage-gated calcium channels mediate NMDA-independent associative long-term potentiation at thalamic input synapses to the amygdala. *J. Neurosci.* (1999). doi:20026516
- 437. Liauw, J. Calcium-Stimulated Adenylyl Cyclases Required for Long-Term Potentiation in the Anterior Cingulate Cortex. J. Neurophysiol. (2005). doi:10.1152/jn.01205.2004
- 438. Liu, M. *et al.* Long-term potentiation of synaptic transmission in the adult mouse insular cortex: multielectrode array recordings. *J. Neurophysiol.* (2013). doi:10.1152/jn.01104.2012
- 439. Zhao, J.-P. P., Phillips, M. A. & Martha, C.-P. Long-term potentiation in the juvenile superior colliculus requires simultaneous activation of {NMDA} receptors and L-type Ca2+ channels and reflects addition of newly functional synapses. *J. Neurosci.* (2006). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3678-06.2006
- 440. Zhang, J. J. et al. Common properties between synaptic plasticity in the main

olfactory bulb and olfactory learning in young rats. *Neuroscience* (2010). doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.06.002

- 441. Moosmang, S. Role of Hippocampal Cav1.2 Ca2+ Channels in NMDA Receptor-Independent Synaptic Plasticity and Spatial Memory. *J. Neurosci.* (2005).
 doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1531-05.2005
- 442. Sullivan, R. M. & Leon, M. Early olfactory learning induces an enhanced olfactory bulb response in young rats. *Dev. Brain Res.* (1986). doi:10.1016/0165-3806(86)90256-7
- 443. McLean, J. H., Harley, C. W., Darby-King, A. & Yuan, Q. pCREB in the neonate rat olfactory bulb is selectively and transiently increased by odor preferenceconditioned training. *Learn. Mem.* (1999). doi:10.1101/lm.6.6.608
- 444. Ghosh, A., Purchase, N. C., Chen, X. & Yuan, Q. Norepinephrine Modulates
 Pyramidal Cell Synaptic Properties in the Anterior Piriform Cortex of Mice: AgeDependent Effects of β-adrenoceptors. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* (2015).
 doi:10.3389/fncel.2015.00450
- 445. Roth, T. L. *et al.* Neurobiology of secure infant attachment and attachment despite adversity: A mouse model. *Genes, Brain Behav.* (2013). doi:10.1111/gbb.12067
- 446. Mukherjee, B., Harley, C. W. & Yuan, Q. Learning-Induced Metaplasticity? Associative Training for Early Odor Preference Learning Down-Regulates Synapse-Specific NMDA Receptors via mGluR and Calcineurin Activation. *Cereb. Cortex* (2017). doi:10.1093/cercor/bhv256

- 447. Modarresi, S., Mukherjee, B., McLean, J. H., Harley, C. W. & Yuan, Q. CaMKII mediates stimulus specificity in early odor preference learning in rats. *J. Neurophysiol.* (2016). doi:10.1152/jn.00176.2016
- 448. Rao, A., Kim, E., Sheng, M. & Craig, A. M. Heterogeneity in the molecular composition of excitatory postsynaptic sites during development of hippocampal neurons in culture. *J. Neurosci.* (1998). doi:1998/03/14 00:01
- Mangan, P. S. Factors Underlying Bursting Behavior in a Network of Cultured Hippocampal Neurons Exposed to Zero Magnesium. J. Neurophysiol. (2003). doi:10.1152/jn.00547.2003
- 450. Apicella, A., Yuan, Q., Scanziani, M. & Isaacson, J. S. Pyramidal Cells in Piriform Cortex Receive Convergent Input from Distinct Olfactory Bulb Glomeruli. J. *Neurosci.* (2010). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2747-10.2010
- 451. Fontaine, C. J., Harley, C. W. & Yuan, Q. Lateralized Odor Preference Training in Rat Pups Reveals an Enhanced Network Response in Anterior Piriform Cortex to Olfactory Input That Parallels Extended Memory. *J. Neurosci.* (2013). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2503-13.2013
- 452. Grimes, M. T., Harley, C. W., Darby-King, A. & McLean, J. H. PKA increases in the olfactory bulb act as unconditioned stimuli and provide evidence for parallel memory systems: Pairing odor with increased PKA creates intermediate- and longterm, but not short-term, memories. *Learn. Mem.* (2012). doi:10.1101/lm.024489.111

- 453. Cui, W. *et al.* Odor preference learning and memory modify GluA1
 phosphorylation and GluA1 distribution in the neonate rat olfactory bulb: Testing
 the AMPA receptor hypothesis in an appetitive learning model. *Learn. Mem.*(2011). doi:10.1101/lm.1987711
- 454. Okutani, F., Zhang, J. J., Yagi, F. & Kaba, H. Non-specific olfactory aversion induced by intrabulbar infusion of the GABAAreceptor antagonist bicuculline in young rats. *Neuroscience* (2002). doi:10.1016/S0306-4522(02)00117-3
- 455. Wei, F. *et al.* Calcium-calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV is required for fear memory. *Nat. Neurosci.* (2002). doi:10.1038/nn0602-855
- 456. Yuan, Q., Harley, C. W., Darby-King, A., Neve, R. L. & McLean, J. H. Early odor preference learning in the rat: bidirectional effects of cAMP response elementbinding protein (CREB) and mutant CREB support a causal role for phosphorylated CREB. *J. Neurosci.* (2003). doi:23/11/4760 [pii]
- 457. Rajadhyaksha, a *et al.* L-Type Ca(2+) channels are essential for glutamatemediated CREB phosphorylation and c-fos gene expression in striatal neurons. *J. Neurosci.* (1999).
- 458. Deisseroth, K., Mermelstein, P. G., Xia, H. & Tsien, R. W. Signaling from synapse to nucleus: The logic behind the mechanisms. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* (2003). doi:10.1016/S0959-4388(03)00076-X
- 459. Dolmetsch, R. E. Signaling to the Nucleus by an L-type Calcium Channel-Calmodulin Complex Through the MAP Kinase Pathway. *Science (80-.).* (2001).

doi:10.1126/science.1063395

- 460. Bito, H., Deisseroth, K. & Tsien, R. W. CREB phosphorylation and dephosphorylation: A Ca2+- and stimulus duration-dependent switch for hippocampal gene expression. *Cell* (1996). doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81816-4
- 461. Eadie, B. D., Cushman, J., Kannangara, T. S., Fanselow, M. S. & Christie, B. R. NMDA receptor hypofunction in the dentate gyrus and impaired context discrimination in adult Fmr1 knockout mice. *Hippocampus* (2012). doi:10.1002/hipo.20890
- 462. Campbell, L. W., Hao, S.-Y. Y., Thibault, O., Blalock, E. M. & Landfield, P. W. Aging changes in voltage-gated calcium currents in hippocampal CA1 neurons. *J. Neurosci.* (1996). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.16-19-06286.1996
- 463. Foster, T. C. & Kumar, A. Calcium dysregulation in the aging brain. *Neuroscientist* (2002). doi:10.1177/107385840200800404
- 464. Thibault, O. & Landfield, P. W. Increase in single L-type calcium channels in hippocampal neurons during aging. *Science (80-.).* (1996).
 doi:10.1126/science.272.5264.1017
- 465. Boric, K., Munoz, P., Gallagher, M. & Kirkwood, A. Potential Adaptive Function for Altered Long-Term Potentiation Mechanisms in Aging Hippocampus. J. *Neurosci.* (2008). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2036-08.2008
- 466. Shankar, S., Teyler, T. J. & Robbins, N. Aging differentially alters forms of longterm potentiation in rat hippocampal area CA1. *J. Neurophysiol.* (1998).

doi:10.1152/jn.1998.79.1.334

- 467. Yassa, M. A. *et al.* Pattern separation deficits associated with increased hippocampal CA3 and dentate gyrus activity in nondemented older adults. *Hippocampus* (2011). doi:10.1002/hipo.20808
- Wilson, I. A. Age-Associated Alterations of Hippocampal Place Cells Are
 Subregion Specific. J. Neurosci. (2005). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1744-05.2005
- 469. Vyhnalek, M. *et al.* Olfactory identification in amnestic and non-amnestic mild cognitive impairment and its neuropsychological correlates. *J. Neurol. Sci.* (2015). doi:10.1016/j.jns.2015.01.014
- 470. Daulatzai, M. A. Olfactory dysfunction: its early temporal relationship and neural correlates in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neural Transmission* (2015). doi:10.1007/s00702-015-1404-6
- Gregory, E. H. & Pfaff, D. W. Development of olfactory-guided behavior in infant rats. *Physiol. Behav.* 6, 573–576 (1971).
- 472. Varendi, H., Porter, R. H. & Winberg, J. Attractiveness of amniotic fluid odor: evidence of prenatal olfactory learning? *Acta Paediatr.* (1996). doi:8922088
- 473. Sullivan, R. M. & Toubas, P. Clinical usefulness of maternal odor in newborns: Soothing and feeding preparatory responses. *Biol. Neonate* (1998). doi:10.1159/000014061
- 474. Sullivan, R. M. & Wilson, D. A. Molecular biology of early olfactory memory.
 Learning and Memory (2003). doi:10.1101/lm.58203

- 475. Yuan, Q. & Harley, C. W. What a nostril knows: Olfactory nerve-evoked AMPA responses increase while NMDA responses decrease at 24-h post-training for lateralized odor preference memory in neonate rat. *Learn. Mem.* (2012). doi:10.1101/lm.024844.111
- 476. Lethbridge, R., Hou, Q., Harley, C. W. & Yuan, Q. Olfactory bulb glomerular nmda receptors mediate olfactory nerve potentiation and odor preference learning in the neonate rat. *PLoS One* (2012). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0035024
- 477. Bellone, C. & Nicoll, R. A. Rapid Bidirectional Switching of Synaptic NMDA Receptors. *Neuron* (2007). doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2007.07.035
- 478. Hunt, D. L. & Castillo, P. E. Synaptic plasticity of NMDA receptors: Mechanisms and functional implications. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* (2012).
 doi:10.1016/j.conb.2012.01.007
- 479. Carmignoto, G. & Vicini, S. Activity-dependent decrease in NMDA receptor responses during development of the visual cortex. *Science (80-.).* (1992). doi:10.1126/science.1279803
- 480. Philpot, B. D., Sekhar, A. K., Shouval, H. Z. & Bear, M. F. Visual experience and deprivation bidirectionally modify the composition and function of NMDA receptors in visual cortex. *Neuron* (2001). doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(01)00187-8
- 481. Franks, K. M. & Isaacson, J. S. Synapse-specific downregulation of NMDA receptors by early experience: A critical period for plasticity of sensory input to olfactory cortex. *Neuron* (2005). doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2005.05.024

- 482. Sullivan, R. M. & Leon, M. One-trial olfactory learning enhances olfactory bulb responses to an appetitive conditioned odor in 7-day-old rats. *Dev. Brain Res.* (1987). doi:10.1016/0165-3806(87)90056-3
- Cummings, D. M., Henning, H. E. & Brunjes, P. C. Olfactory bulb recovery after early sensory deprivation. *J. Neurosci.* (1997). doi:177433-08
- 484. Lebel, D., Grossman, Y. & Barkai, E. Olfactory learning modifies predisposition for long-term potentiation and long-term depression induction in the rat piriform (olfactory) cortex. *Cereb. Cortex* (2001). doi:10.1093/cercor/11.6.485
- 485. Lüscher, C. & Malenka, R. C. NMDA receptor-dependent long-term potentiation and long-term depression (LTP/LTD). *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* (2012). doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a005710
- 486. Kombian, S. B. & Malenka, R. C. Simultaneous LTP of non-NMDA- and LTD of NMDA-receptor-mediated responses in the nucleus accumbens. *Nature* (1994). doi:10.1038/368242a0
- 487. Harnett, M. T., Bernier, B. E., Ahn, K. C. & Morikawa, H. Burst-Timing-Dependent Plasticity of NMDA Receptor-Mediated Transmission in Midbrain Dopamine Neurons. *Neuron* (2009). doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2009.05.011
- 488. Harney, S. C., Jane, D. E. & Anwyl, R. Extrasynaptic NR2D-Containing NMDARs Are Recruited to the Synapse during LTP of NMDAR-EPSCs. J. Neurosci. (2008). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3035-08.2008
- 489. Grosshans, D. R., Clayton, D. A., Coultrap, S. J. & Browning, M. D. LTP leads to

rapid surface expression of NMDA but not AMPA receptors in adult rat CA1. *Nat. Neurosci.* (2002). doi:10.1038/nn779

- 490. Morishita, W. & Malenka, R. C. Mechanisms underlying dedepression of synaptic NMDA receptors in the hippocampus. *J Neurophysiol* (2008). doi:10.1152/jn.01011.2007
- 491. Peng, Y. *et al.* Distinct trafficking and expression mechanisms underlie LTP and LTD of NMDA receptor-mediated synaptic responses. *Hippocampus* (2010). doi:10.1002/hipo.20654
- Montgomery, J. M., Selcher, J. C., Hanson, J. E. & Madison, D. V. Dynamindependent NMDAR endocytosis during LTD and its dependence on synaptic state.
 BMC Neurosci. (2005). doi:10.1186/1471-2202-6-48
- 493. Kwon, H. B. & Castillo, P. E. Long-Term Potentiation Selectively Expressed by NMDA Receptors at Hippocampal Mossy Fiber Synapses. *Neuron* (2008). doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2007.11.024
- 494. Harney, S. C. & Anwyl, R. Plasticity of NMDA receptor-mediated excitatory postsynaptic currents at perforant path inputs to dendrite-targeting interneurons. *J. Physiol.* (2012). doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2012.234740
- 495. Watt, A. J., Sjöström, P. J., Häusser, M., Nelson, S. B. & Turrigiano, G. G. A proportional but slower NMDA potentiation follows AMPA potentiation in LTP. *Nat. Neurosci.* (2004). doi:10.1038/nn1220
- 496. Schmidt, M. V., Abraham, W. C., Maroun, M., Stork, O. & Richter-Levin, G.

Stress-induced metaplasticity: From synapses to behavior. *Neuroscience* (2013). doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.06.059

- 497. Izumi, Y., Clifford, D. B. & Zorumski, C. F. Inhibition of long-term potentiation by NMDA-mediated nitric oxide release. *Science (80-.).* (1992). doi:10.1126/science.1519065
- 498. O'Dell, T. J. & Kandel, E. R. Low-frequency stimulation erases LTP through an NMDA receptor-mediated activation of protein phosphatases. *Learn. Mem.* (1994). doi:10.1101/lm.1.2.129
- 499. Fujii, S. *et al.* The long-term suppressive effect of prior activation of synaptic inputs by low-frequency stimulation on induction of long-term potentiation in CA1 neurons of guinea pig hippocampal slices. *Exp Brain Res* (1996).
- 500. Hulme, S. R., Jones, O. D. & Abraham, W. C. Emerging roles of metaplasticity in behaviour and disease. *Trends in Neurosciences* (2013). doi:10.1016/j.tins.2013.03.007
- 501. Kim, J. J. & Diamond, D. M. The stressed hippocampus, synaptic plasticity and lost memories. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* (2002). doi:10.1038/nrn849
- 502. Parsons, R. G. & Davis, M. A Metaplasticity-Like Mechanism Supports the Selection of Fear Memories: Role of Protein Kinase A in the Amygdala. J. *Neurosci.* (2012). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0939-12.2012
- 503. Galef, B. G. Acquisition and waning of exposure???induced attraction to a nonnatural odor in rat pups. *Dev. Psychobiol.* (1982). doi:10.1002/dev.420150510

- 504. Woo, C. C. & Leon, M. Sensitive period for neural and behavioral response development to learned odors. *Brain Res* (1987).
- 505. Mukherjee, B. *et al.* Unlearning: NMDA receptor-mediated metaplasticity in the anterior piriform cortex following early odor preference training in rats. *J. Neurosci.* (2014). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0128-14.2014
- 506. Ahmadi, H., Nasehi, M., Rostami, P. & Zarrindast, M. R. Involvement of the nucleus accumbens shell dopaminergic system in prelimbic NMDA-induced anxiolytic-like behaviors. *Neuropharmacology* (2013). doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2013.03.017
- 507. Ohno, M. & Watanabe, S. Enhanced N-methyl-D-aspartate function reverses working memory failure induced by blockade of group I metabotropic glutamate receptors in the rat hippocampus. *Neurosci. Lett.* (1998). doi:10.1016/S0304-3940(97)00922-1
- 508. Goebel-Goody, S. M., Davies, K. D., Alvestad Linger, R. M., Freund, R. K. & Browning, M. D. Phospho-regulation of synaptic and extrasynaptic N-methyl-daspartate receptors in adult hippocampal slices. *Neuroscience* (2009). doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.11.006
- 509. Titulaer M.N.G., G. W. E. J. M. Synaptoneurosomes.
- 510. Matus, A. I. & Taff-Jones, D. H. Morphology and molecular composition of isolated postsynaptic junctional structures. *Proc. R. Soc. London - Biol. Sci.* (1978). doi:10.1098/rspb.1978.0097

- 511. Pérez-Otaño, I. & Ehlers, M. D. Homeostatic plasticity and NMDA receptor trafficking. *Trends in Neurosciences* (2005). doi:10.1016/j.tins.2005.03.004
- 512. Lau, C. G. & Zukin, R. S. NMDA receptor trafficking in synaptic plasticity and neuropsychiatric disorders. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* (2007). doi:10.1038/nrn2153
- 513. López-Bendito, G., Shigemoto, R., Fairén, a & Luján, R. Differential distribution of group I metabotropic glutamate receptors during rat cortical development. *Cereb. Cortex* (2002). doi:10.1093/cercor/12.6.625
- 514. Snyder, E. M. *et al.* Regulation of NMDA receptor trafficking by amyloid-beta.*Nat. Neurosci.* (2005). doi:10.1038/nn1503
- 515. Woo, N. H. & Nguyen, P. V. Protein synthesis is required for synaptic immunity to depotentiation. *J. Neurosci.* (2003). doi:23/4/1125 [pii]
- 516. Sanderson, T. M. Molecular Mechanisms Involved in Depotentiation and Their Relevance to Schizophrenia. *Chonnam Med. J.* (2012). doi:10.4068/cmj.2012.48.1.1
- 517. Snyder, E. M. *et al.* Internalization of ionotropic glutamate receptors in response to mGluR activation. *Nat. Neurosci.* (2001). doi:10.1038/nn746
- 518. Zhuo, M. *et al.* A selective role of calcineurin A in synaptic depotentiation in hippocampus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* (1999). doi:10.1073/pnas.96.8.4650
- Solomonia, R. O. & McCabe, B. J. Molecular mechanisms of memory in imprinting. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 50, 56–69 (2015).

- 520. McCabe, B. J. & Horn, G. Learning and memory: regional changes in N-methyl-Daspartate receptors in the chick brain after imprinting. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S.* A. (1988). doi:10.1073/pnas.85.8.2849
- 521. Hellier, J. L. *et al.* NMDA receptor trafficking at recurrent synapses stabilizes the state of the CA3 network. *J. Neurophysiol.* (2007). doi:10.1152/jn.00346.2007
- 522. Wiegert, J. S. & Oertner, T. G. Long-term depression triggers the selective elimination of weakly integrated synapses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* (2013). doi:10.1073/pnas.1315926110
- 523. Le Be, J.-V. & Markram, H. Spontaneous and evoked synaptic rewiring in the neonatal neocortex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* (2006). doi:10.1073/pnas.0604691103
- 524. Jakkamstti, V. *et al.* Experience-induced Arc/Arg3.1 primes CA1 pyramidal neurons for mGluR-dependent long-term synaptic depression. *Neuron* 80, 72–79 (2013).
- 525. Jayanthi, S. *et al.* Methamphetamine downregulates striatal glutamate receptors via diverse epigenetic mechanisms. *Biol. Psychiatry* (2014).
 doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.09.034
- 526. Dittmer, A. & Dittmer, J. β-Actin is not a reliable loading control in Western blot analysis. *Electrophoresis* (2006). doi:10.1002/elps.200500785
- 527. Lieberman, D. N. & Mody, I. Regulation of NMDA channel function by endogenous Ca2+-dependent phosphatase. *Nature* **369**, 235–239 (1994).
- 528. Raman, I. M., Tong, G. & Jahr, C. E. Beta-adrenergic regulation of synaptic

NMDA receptors by cAMP-dependent protein kinase. *Neuron* (1996). doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80059-8

- 529. Guan, J. S. *et al.* HDAC2 negatively regulates memory formation and synaptic plasticity. *Nature* (2009). doi:10.1038/nature07925
- 530. Matsumoto, Y. *et al.* Vorinostat ameliorates impaired fear extinction possibly via the hippocampal NMDA-CaMKII pathway in an animal model of posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychopharmacology (Berl).* (2013). doi:10.1007/s00213-013-3078-9
- 531. Klee, C. B., Crouch, T. H. & Krinks, M. H. Calcineurin: a calcium- and calmodulin-binding protein of the nervous system. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* (1979). doi:10.1073/pnas.76.12.6270
- 532. Morioka, M. *et al.* Regional and Temporal Alterations in Ca2+/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase II and Calcineurin in the Hippocampus of Rat Brain After Transient Forebrain Ischemia. *J. Neurochem.* 58, 1798–1809 (1992).
- 533. Levenson, J. M. *et al.* Regulation of histone acetylation during memory formation in the hippocampus. *J. Biol. Chem.* (2004). doi:10.1074/jbc.M402229200
- 534. Chwang, W. B., O'Riordan, K. J., Levenson, J. M. & Sweatt, J. D. ERK/MAPK regulates hippocampal histone phosphorylation following contextual fear conditioning. *Learn. Mem.* 13, 322–328 (2006).
- 535. Sharma, S. K., Bagnall, M. W., Sutton, M. A. & Carew, T. J. Inhibition of

calcineurin facilitates the induction of memory for sensitization in Aplysia: Requirement of mitogen-activated protein kinase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **100,** 4861–4866 (2003).

- 536. Lebel, D., Sidhu, N., Barkai, E. & Quinlan, E. M. Learning in the absence of experience-dependent regulation of NMDAR composition. *Learn. Mem.* (2006). doi:10.1101/lm.276606
- 537. Jenuwein, T. & Allis, C. D. Translating the histone code. *Science* (2001).doi:10.1126/science.1063127
- 538. Nghia, N. A. *et al.* Long-term imipramine treatment increases N-methyl-daspartate receptor activity and expression via epigenetic mechanisms. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* (2015). doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2015.02.010
- 539. Chen, T., Zhang, B., Li, G., Chen, L. & Chen, L. Simvastatin enhances NMDA receptor GluN2B expression and phosphorylation of GluN2B and GluN2A through increased histone acetylation and Src signaling in hippocampal CA1 neurons. *Neuropharmacology* (2016). doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2016.03.028
- 540. Park, H. G. *et al.* Repeated treatment with electroconvulsive seizures induces HDAC2 expression and down-regulation of NMDA receptor-related genes through histone deacetylation in the rat frontal cortex. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2014). doi:10.1017/S1461145714000248
- 541. Nowak, S. J. & Corces, V. G. Phosphorylation of histone H3: A balancing act between chromosome condensation and transcriptional activation. *Trends in*

Genetics (2004). doi:10.1016/j.tig.2004.02.007

- 542. Lo, W. S. *et al.* Phosphorylation of serine 10 in histone H3 is functionally linked in vitro and in vivo to Gcn5-mediated acetylation at lysine 14. *Mol. Cell* (2000). doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80257-9
- 543. Cheung, P. *et al.* Synergistic coupling of histone H3 phosphorylation and acetylation in response to epidermal growth factor stimulation. *Mol. Cell* (2000). doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80256-7
- 544. Li, Q. *et al.* Metaplasticity mechanisms restore plasticity and associativity in an animal model of Alzheimer's disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* (2017). doi:10.1073/pnas.1613700114
- 545. Köhr, G., De Koninck, Y. & Mody, I. Properties of NMDA receptor channels in neurons acutely isolated from epileptic (kindled) rats. *J. Neurosci.* (1993).
- 546. Striessnig, J., Ortner, N. J. & Pinggera, A. Pharmacology of L-type Calcium Channels: Novel Drugs for Old Targets? *Curr. Mol. Pharmacol.* (2015). doi:10.2174/1874467208666150507105845
- 547. Kapur, A., Yeckel, M. F., Gray, R. & Johnston, D. L-Type calcium channels are required for one form of hippocampal mossy fiber LTP. *J. Neurophysiol.* (1998). doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3000702
- 548. Da Silva, W. C., Cardoso, G., Bonini, J. S., Benetti, F. & Izquierdo, I. Memory reconsolidation and its maintenance depend on L-voltage-dependent calcium channels and CaMKII functions regulating protein turnover in the hippocampus.

Pnas (2013). doi:10.1073/pnas.1302356110

- 549. Yuan, Q., Mutoh, H., Debarbieux, F. & Knöpfel, T. Calcium signaling in mitral cell dendrites of olfactory bulbs of neonatal rats and mice during olfactory nerve stimulation and β-adrenoceptor activation. *Learn. Mem.* (2004).
 doi:10.1101/lm.75204
- 550. Yuan, Q., Mutoh, H., Debarbieux, F. & Knöpfel, T. Calcium signaling in mitral cell dendrites of olfactory bulbs of neonatal rats and mice during olfactory nerve Stimulation and beta-adrenoceptor activation. *Learn. Mem.* (2004). doi:10.1101/lm.75204
- 551. Berg, L. K., Larsson, M., Morland, C. & Gundersen, V. Pre-and postsynaptic localization of NMDA receptor subunits at hippocampal mossy fibre synapses. *Neuroscience* (2013). doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.10.061
- 552. Rajadhyaksha, M., González, S., Zavislan, J. M., Anderson, R. R. & Webb, R. H. In vivo confocal scanning laser microscopy of human skin II: advances in instrumentation and comparison with histology. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* (1999). doi:10.1046/j.1523-1747.1999.00690.x
- 553. bc7655e9a29d09bed1006ec81823c136347509fc.pdf.
- 554. Blanke, M. L. & VanDongen, A. M. J. Activation Mechanisms of the NMDA Receptor. *Biol. NMDA Recept.* (2009). doi:10.1201/9781420044157.ch13
- 555. Rogerson, T. et al. Synaptic tagging during memory allocation. Nature Reviews Neuroscience (2014). doi:10.1038/nrn3667

- 556. Mori, K., Nagao, H. & Yoshihara, Y. The olfactory bulb: Coding and processing of odor molecule information. *Science* (1999). doi:10.1126/science.286.5440.711
- 557. McKay, B. M., Matthews, E. A., Oliveira, F. A. & Disterhoft, J. F. Intrinsic Neuronal Excitability Is Reversibly Altered by a Single Experience in Fear Conditioning. J. Neurophysiol. (2009). doi:10.1152/jn.00347.2009
- 558. Sehgal, M., Ehlers, V. L. & Moyer, J. R. Learning enhances intrinsic excitability in a subset of lateral amygdala neurons. *Learn. Mem.* (2014). doi:10.1101/lm.032730.113
- 559. Zhang, W. & Linden, D. J. The other side of the engram: Experience-driven changes in neuronal intrinsic excitability. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* (2003). doi:10.1038/nrn1248
- 560. Sehgal, M., Song, C., Ehlers, V. L. & Moyer, J. R. Learning to learn Intrinsic plasticity as a metaplasticity mechanism for memory formation. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* (2013). doi:10.1016/j.nlm.2013.07.008
- 561. McEchron, M. D. & Disterhoft, J. F. Sequence of single neuron changes in CA1 hippocampus of rabbits during acquisition of trace eyeblink conditioned responses. *J. Neurophysiol.* (1997). doi:10.1152/jn.1997.78.2.1030
- 562. Motanis, H., Maroun, M. & Barkai, E. Learning-induced bidirectional plasticity of intrinsic neuronal excitability reflects the valence of the outcome. *Cereb. Cortex* (2014). doi:10.1093/cercor/bhs394
- 563. Zelcer, I. et al. A cellular correlate of learning-induced metaplasticity in the

hippocampus. Cereb. Cortex (2006). doi:10.1093/cercor/bhi125

- 564. Clem, R. L., Celike, T. & Barth, A. L. Ongoing in vivo experience triggers synaptic metaplasticity in the neocortex. *Science (80-.).* (2008).
 doi:10.1126/science.1143808
- 565. Niswender, C. M. & Conn, P. J. Metabotropic Glutamate Receptors: Physiology, Pharmacology, and Disease. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* (2010). doi:10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.011008.145533
- 566. Gee, C. E., Benquet, P. & Gerber, U. Group I metabotropic glutamate receptors activate a calcium-sensitive transient receptor potential-like conductance in rat hippocampus. *Journal of Physiology* (2003). doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2002.032961
- 567. Ben-Mabrouk, F., Amos, L. B. & Tryba, A. K. Metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluR5) activate transient receptor potential canonical channels to improve the regularity of the respiratory rhythm generated by the pre-B??tzinger complex in mice. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* (2012). doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2012.08091.x
- Zhong, H. *et al.* Subcellular Dynamics of Type II PKA in Neurons. *Neuron* (2009). doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2009.03.013
- 569. Tsui, J. & Malenka, R. C. Substrate localization creates specificity in calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II signaling at synapses. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 13794–13804 (2006).
- 570. Kotera, I. *et al.* Importin α transports CaMKIV to the nucleus without utilizing importin β. *EMBO J.* (2005). doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7600587

- 571. Spencer, T. K., Mellado, W. & Filbin, M. T. BDNF activates CaMKIV and PKA in parallel to block MAG-mediated inhibition of neurite outgrowth. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* (2008). doi:10.1016/j.mcn.2008.02.005
- 572. Peixoto, L. & Abel, T. The role of histone acetylation in memory formation and cognitive impairments. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2013).
 doi:10.1038/npp.2012.86
- 573. Gupta, S. *et al.* Histone Methylation Regulates Memory Formation. *J. Neurosci.*(2010). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3732-09.2010
- 574. Federman, N., Fustiñana, M. S. & Romano, A. Histone acetylation is recruited in consolidation as a molecular feature of stronger memories. *Learn. Mem.* (2009). doi:10.1101/lm.1537009
- 575. Park, J., Wood, J., Bondi, C., Del Arco, A. & Moghaddam, B. Anxiety Evokes Hypofrontality and Disrupts Rule-Relevant Encoding by Dorsomedial Prefrontal Cortex Neurons. J. Neurosci. (2016). doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4250-15.2016
- 576. Sharma, S. K., Sherff, C. M., Stough, S., Hsuan, V. & Carew, T. J. A tropomyosinrelated kinase B ligand is required for ERK activation, long-term synaptic facilitation, and long-term memory in aplysia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* (2006). doi:10.1073/pnas.0603412103
- 577. Aleisa, A. M., Alzoubi, K. H., Gerges, N. Z. & Alkadhi, K. A. Chronic psychosocial stress-induced impairment of hippocampal LTP: Possible role of BDNF. *Neurobiol. Dis.* (2006). doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2005.12.005

- 578. Franks, K. M. & Isaacson, J. S. Synapse-specific downregulation of NMDA receptors by early experience: a critical period for plasticity of sensory input to olfactory cortex. *Neuron* **47**, 101–114 (2005).
- 579. Holtmaat, A. & Svoboda, K. Experience-dependent structural synaptic plasticity in the mammalian brain. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* (2009). doi:10.1038/nrn2699